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Accelerating Sustainable Building Trends

The Hunt Oil Building in Dallas gains high energy efficiency
from TREMCO glazing sysfems. It was named one of the “best
of the best” in construction and design excellence for 2008 by
Engineering News Record. The building also received o LEFD
Silver certification by meeting stringent criteria for sustainability,
energy efficiency, water efficiency and air quality, among others.
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But even RPM's resiliency was no maich for the current recession.
s speed, depth and severity have not been seen in generations
and it is still affecting nearly every business in America. As o
result, we did not achieve our 62nd vear of record growth for
our fiscal year ended May 31, 2009,

We began our 2009 fiscal year with record results in our
industrial businesses and slight deferioration in our consumer
businesses, resuliing in overall sales and net income records

or the first quarter. During the second half of the Hscal year,
three important drivers of our growth changed dramatically. As
nationwide unemployment rates pushed 10 percent and the
housing market remained depressed, consumer spending ground
io a halt. Moreover, the recession, coupled with a virtual lending
paralysis in the banking industry, created o precipitous deciine in
commercial construction activity. The related 38 percent drop in
U.S. norrresidential investment in the first quarter of calendar
2009 was a poskWorld War 1l record.

This rapid decline in economic conditions prompted decisive
action o reduce expenses and enhance cash generation as we
neared the end of calendar 2008. In the process, we eliminated
a significant amount of discrefionary spending, cut work shifts
from many manufacturing faciliies and reduced cur worldwide

worklorce by approximately 10 percent.

Despite this challenging economic environment and the difficult
actions foken in response, there were some major bright spofs in

fiscal 2009:

» By moving swiltly to adjust the business to existing market
conditions, we reduced our costs by some $50 million on an
annualized basis, effectively lowering the breakeven point of

every RPM business unit;
# We enhanced our srong liquidity and capital siructure;

#» Cash from operafions was af record levels and easily covered

our cash dividend and capital expenditure commitments; and

a W > oureel italize full otk N ;
¢ e prepared ourselves 1o capitalize tully on fhe economic

recovery when it begins.

To the Associates, Customers and Shareholders of RPM

For 61 years after RPM's founding by my grandfather in 1947, the company proved its
resilience by producing record growth every year. With a business model that focused
on a balance between consumer and industrial businesses, between internal growth

and acquisition growth, and, more recently, between domestic and international markets,

RPM weathered just about every economic storm imaginable during this time.

To this final point, we have chosen “Capturing Market
Oppertunities” as the theme of this year's annual report, We've
identified five major macroeconomic market frends that we

think create encrmous growth opportunities for RPM operating
companies once overall economic recovery begins. This viewpoint
is somewha different from how we have presented the RPAM

story fo investors in the pasi. We hope this approach provides
additional clority regarding how certain market forces influence
our businesses.

More delails about these market opporiunities and our sirategies

to capitalize on them are included in the pages following this letier,

Operating Results Relleet Worldwide Economic Decline
Sales for fiscal 2009 declined 7.6 percent to $3.4 billion

from $3.6 billion a vear ago. Fiscal 2009 net income was
$119.6 million, or $0.93 per diluted share, compared to net
income of $47 7 million, or $0.39 per diluted share in fiscal
2008. Fiscal 2008 net income included a $288 1 million
predax charge fo increase our fotal accrual for asbestos liabilities,
while fiscal 2009 net income included a onetime charge of
$15.5 million for goodwill and other intangible asset impairments.
Excluding the onetime charges in both years, RPM’s fiscal 2009
net income fell 42.7 percent to $134.9 million, or $1.05 per
difuted share, from the $232.8 million, or $1.81 per diluted

share, earned a year ago.

The strengthening dollar versus other world currencies, particularly
the Euro and British Pound, resulted in a negative foreign
exchange translation of $123.6 million, eroding 3.4 percent

of rotal sales. Net income was negatively impacted by onetime
severance and restructuring costs of $20.3 million, along with
$15.1 million in “markdomarket” write downs in the portolio of
our caplive insurance companies, as a result of depressed siock
market condifions in the first three quarters of fiscal 2009

The compony’s industrial segment sales declined 4.3 percent
io $2.3 billion from $2.4 billion in fiscal 2008 Acquisitions
represented an increase of 5.2 percent, while organic sales
declined 9.5 percent, including foreign exchange translation
losses of 4.1 percent. Industrial segment FBIT [earnings before
inferest and taxes) decreased 32.5 percent, o $176.8 million
from $261.8 million in fiscal 2008,
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decreased 33.7 percent million

in fiscal 2008.

Liquidity, Capital Position, Cash Flow Remain Healthy
Despite the difficult economy and its impact on our operating
e healthy:

resulis, our financial metrics remain quit

d $267 million, o
13.8 percent increase over the $235

= Cash from operations was a record
million generated in
fiscal 2008. We funded an increase in the cash dividend

shareholders for the 35th consecutive year and covered
$55 million in capital spending. Following those expenditures,
had $110 million in free cash flow for fiscal 2009, up
2.5 percent over fiscal 2008 levels;
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37.2 pexcem an improvement over
scal 2008, whi

10rms,

» The nef sh} debtiodotal capital ratio ot yearend was
the 42.6 percent ratio
the end o ch was already af the low end

of our hisioric r

Available liguidity at yearend was an extraordinarily high
$622 million, consisting of (:osh and longterm credit facilities
{* and

T"]O( are committ ‘“d bu? nused

= We mainiained our invesiment grade rafings by Standard &

Poor's and by Moody's Investor Services, both of which were

upgraded in January 2008.

We have $164 million of unsecured senior notes due
October 1

refinance these notes through

5, 2009, that are approaching maturity, and will
the bond market if conditions are
favorable. If not, we will refire the senior notes with cash and

existing credit facilities.
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RPAAS
in fiscal 2009 to $69 million, compared to $83 million in fiscal

total asbestosrelated indemnity and defense costs declined

2008. Our siralegy is to pursue an aggressive defense posiure
related 1o these cases. RPM's accrued asbestos liability balance
balance stood at $490 million as of May 31, 2009

During the year, our lawsuit against insurance companies seeking
recovery of both past and future asbestos costs was dismissed,

and we are currently in the process of appealing this decision.
More infor

the Consalidated Financial Statements beginning on page 54

mation on the asbestos issue is contained in Note | o

and elsewhere in the financial section of this annual report.
Dividend Increase Bucks Trend

The board of directors increased the quarterly cash dividend
on October 10, 2008, to

RPM remains in an elite

io shareholders by 5.3 percent
$0.20 from $0.19 per
group of only 68 companies that have increased their dividend

share. As a result,

for 35 consecutive years or more, according to the 2009 edition
of America’s Finest Companies.

While many companies have been forced by current economic
condifions 1o reduce or eliminate their dividends, we are pleased

that RPMs sirong cash flow allows us to confinue delivering RPM

shareholders a positive cash return on their investment throughout

this d Hicult economic climate and the declining stock market

prevalent through most of cur 2009 fiscal vear.

We expect to mainiain the current dividend rate in the upcoming

fiscal year. I our expectations of a recovery hold true, we will

e this rate modestly in the second half of fisc

most likely incre
2010, resulting in 3(’) consecutive years of higher cash dividends.
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Acquisition Growth Continues

RPM subsidiaries continued fo build their businesses
geographically and odd product and service lines through
acquisiions during fiscal 2009

= On February @, 2009, Tremco illbruck International Gmbi
acquired Karochemie AG, a leading supplier of sealants
o the construction markets in Switzerland and Lichtenstein.
With annual sales of more than $13 million, Karochemie's
distribution network and sealants expertise is expected to
complement Tremco illbruck's strengths in other parts of Furope
1t

and fo be accrelive 1o eamings in the current fiscal year

= On February 13, 2009, Carboline Company purchased a
49 percent interest in its Chinese licensee, Carboline Dalian
Paint Production Co., lid. The remaining 51 percent of the
joint venture is owned by UniChemical Company, a long-
slanding Carbeline partner in another joint venture, Carboline

Korea lid. Carboline Dalian has annual sales of approximately
$10 million, and manufactures corrosion control coatings and
linings for @ variety of industries, including offshore drilling,

oil and gas, pefrochemical, general manufacturing and

electrical generation.

& On April 1, 2009, Tremco Incorporated acquired Canam
Building Envelope Specialists Inc., including its Zerodraft
weatherprooling division. With annual sales of approximately
$6 million, and based in Mississauga, Ontario, Canam is
one of the leading building envelope consulting firms in North
America. If now operates as part of Tremco’s Weatherproofing
Technologies Inc. subsidiary. Its Zerodraft division, which
provides specialized retrofit weatherstripping and distributes
a variely of related insulation and sealant products, is
operafing as part of Tremco's Commercial Sealants and
Waterproofing Division.
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The Canam acquisition fits nicely with our existing aggressive
promotion of building envelope solutions, which can dramatically
reduce building energy consumption, and, therefore, greenhouse
gas emissions, and offer rapid payback to building owners in
terms of energy savings. This High Performance Building Solutions
effort, involving multiple RPM subsidiaries is covered in more defall
in the "Capturing Market Opportunities” section of this annual

report and on the back cover

Industrial Group Names Changed to Reflect End Markets
We have changed the nomes of two of our industrial segment
operating groups 1o beiter reflect the nature of their businesses and
end-matkel customers, and fo better define their platform for further

growth, both organically and through acquisifions. They are:

# RPM Building Solutions Group, formerly the Tremco Group, and
consisting of Tremco Roofing, Tremco Sealants, Tremco illbruck,
Tremco Barrier Solutions, Weatherproofing Technologies Inc
Euclid Chemical Company, Productos Cave, Prosyiec, Increte

and Compact Technologies; and

# RPM Performance Coatings Group, formerly the StonCor
Group, and consisting of Stonhard, Carbeline, Fibergrate,
Plasite, Flowcrete, Star Maling and StonCor operations i
Alrica, Asia, Canada, Europe, Latin America and the
Middle East.

Kenneth Korach Recognized for Euclid Chemical’s Growth
Kenneth Korach, president of Euclid Chemical Company since
1997, retired af the end of fiscal 2009. Under Ken's leadership,
Euclid broadened its geographical footprint from its eastern

U.S. roofs to include all of North America, Latin America and
South America. In the process, Euclid's sales grew to more than

$210 million from $40 million.




RPM: is known as the best home for enfrepreneurial companies

in our field, and Euclid Chemical is o great case-in-point. The
company, run by Ken's father, Lawrence, since 1951, was
acquired by RPM in 1984 when iis sales were approximately
$10 million. Ken's brother, Jeff, ran the business until 1997, when
he became president of Tremco Incorporated, which we had just
acquired from The BFGoodrich Company. Ken picked up the
reins at Euclid, where he had been vice president of operations,
and pursued a very deliberate and highly successful sirategy

of geographic expansion coupled with selected product line
acquisitions to broaden Euclid’s capabilities. We thank Ken for
his decades of service to Fuclid and o RPM,

Fiscal 2010 OQutlook Anticipates Second-Half Recovery
This past fiscal year tested the mettle of RPM's @,700 associates
like no other period in our history. We began the fiscal year
with continued record high raw material costs, coupled with
further escalation in record high fuel costs, before the worldwide
recession fook hold. By the middle of the fiscal year, business
activity was dramatically declining in nearly every market

we serve,

I am proud of the extraordinary actions of RPM employees
worldwide fo respond fo the unprecedented economic
challenges of the past year. A significant part of that response
was the generation of record aftertax cash from operations,

allowing us to:

* mainiain our employee refirement, health care and benefit

plans with no change; and

« mainfain our cash dividend o shareholders, unlike so many

other companies impacted by this severe recession.

As we begin our 2010 fiscal year, we are encouraged by an
improving outlook. Our consumer businesses have turned the

comner in this difficult economy. With housing turnover, the sale of
foreclosed homes and new home construction beginning to show
improvement in various regions of the country, we are seeing

an uptick in the sale of our maintenance- and repairoriented
consumer products. With a modest recovery in consumer segment
soles, we should realize consistent earnings growth from our
consumer businesses as a result of the aggressive expense

reductions taken duting the past fiscal year.

While our industrial businesses will confinue to face economic
challenges as a result of weak commercial construction and
industrial capital spending activily, our prioryear actions to reduce
the breakeven points af these businesses will allow our induslrial
operations to improve performance compared to the final six
months of fiscal 2009. We expect a recovery in our indusirial
markels sometime in the spring of 2010. Depending on the
fiming of the industrial market turnaround, we expect earnings per
share for RPM to grow in the range of 5 percent to 25 percent on
a consolidated basis in fiscal 2010, from the adjusied $1.05 per
diluted share earned in fiscal 2009,

longterm, we are excited about the major global trends
outlined in this annual report, coupled with the proven srength
of our balanced business model. Taken together, they bode well
for RPM's refurn fo substantial sales and earnings growth in the

coming years.

In addition to recognizing the exceptional efforts of RPM
associates in weathering this very difficult storm, we appreciate
the loyalty of our customers, whose business challenges in this
severe recession are every bit as daunting as our own. To our
shareholders, we appreciate your continued allegiance as the

overall stock market decline, in advance of the recession, took

its foll on RPM's share price. Qur ability to maintain and grow the
cash dividend in these fough times is one reward for your loyalty.
We look forward 1o reporting to you our improving performance

throughout the year chead.

To our associates, customers and shareholders, thank you for your

faith, trust and commitment during this extraordinary fime.

Very fruly yours,

Frank C. Sullivan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

August 28, 2009



Gl(}bal Operation:s

RPA's family of product lines, including paints, coatings, roofing systems, sealants and adhesives serve a bioad range of markets in the
U.S. and infernationally. Globally, these markets generate approximately $170 billion in annual sales, with RPM capturing $3.4 billion

in fiscal 2009. Of this amount, approximately 63% was in the U.S. and the remaining 37% was abromd Thts iea\/es RPM with vast

growth pofentia bo’rh orgamccn!ly and through ocquismons qromd The worid

As the map below indicates, RPM is coptunng opporfunmes abrood b\/ glowwg ifs presence in estabixshed Europeon economies and in
emerging markefs such as China, India and Latin America. In serving these morkel‘s RPI\/\ has nearly 9,700 employees who operate ifs

92 manufacturing facilities in 22 countries.
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Asia/Pacific
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$87,017

$27,842
108
154,263




Capturing Market Opportunities

RPM’s businesses serve diverse markets with

products and services that often share common

technologies, chemistries and channels of distribution.

While customers of these businesses vary widely,
the macroeconomic factors that drive their revenue
growth include:

e A product orientation that is geared more o maintenance,

repair and redecoration than to new construction. As

evidenced in the cureni deep downlturn in construction, RPM

is not immune to the cyclicality of new construction, but the
maintenance focus of most RPM product lines insulates the
comnpany from all but the most severe construction declines;

¢ Growing global energy demand, which in turn will fuel
demand for RPM's myriad of products and services used in
conventionol and allernative power generation, oil and gas

produciion and ol refining;

o Escalating public infrastructure spending worldwide, driven
both by global population growth and by deterioration of
the existing infrastruciure. These factors spur demand for RPM
products used in water and wastewater freatment, highways
and bridges, rail and water transportation networks and

airports /seaports;

e The shift in emphasis fo susiainable building products and
practices, which supports RPM businesses that already offer
sustainability features to office, govemment, residential,

educational, industrial and health care markets; and

e The confinuing consolidation within the global paint
and coatings indusiry, which provides ample acquisition
opportunifies for RPM, one of the indusiry’s most experienced

consolidators.

Not every RPM business benefits from all five of these
macroeconomic factors, but most of them parficipate in varying
degrees across a fairly wide spectrum of them, as evidenced in

the table above.
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Since ifs founding in 1947, RPM has
focused on maintenance needs, as opposed
to new construction. The company’s first
product, an asphaltic aluminum roof coating
branded Alumanation, is primarily @ maintenance product that
continues to be marketed by the company’s Tremco business unit,

Some 70 percent of RPM's tofal sales today is of products
used to maintain, repair or redecorate structures that already
exist, including homes, apartment buildings, offices, schools,
hospitals, production facilities, bridges and highways, utilifies
and public works.

RPM consumer product sales are influenced by the tolal inventory
of North American housing stock, along with tumover of existing
homes, much more so than the rate of new construction. When
existing homes change hands, new owners typically want o

put their own identity in their dwelling. RPM's RustOleum small
project paints, Zinsser primersealers, DAP cauvlks and sealants
and Varathane wood finishes pariicipate fully in this process.

The total U.S. housing inventory today stands at approximately
130 million units, up from 104 million in 1988, according 1o the
U.S. Bureau of Census. Sales of existing homes over the past

10 vears have averaged 5.2 million units per year, with the long-
term trend line significantly higher than the depressed 4.6 million
unit turnover average of the past fwo years, as reported by the
National Association of Realiors. RPM sees significantly improved

demand for its consumer products as existing home turnover
returns o more normal levels and distressed properties are
rehabilitated for refurn 1o market. While the Home Improvement
Research Institute projects a 6.4 percent decline in the home
improvement products market in calendar 2009, it anficipates
annual growth of nearly 8 percent from 2010 through 2013.

Following robust growth for much of the current decade, RPM's
industrial segment sales experienced an anticipated decline in
the second half of fiscal 2009 as the worldwide recession and
constricted access to capital in the financial markets depressed
new capital spending. looking forward, The Freedonia

Group estimates a 3.2 percent annual increase in industrial
maintenance and specially coatings expenditures in the U.S.
through 2017. This business research firm is also projecting,
through 2012, annual inflation-adjusted growth in spending on
non-residential buildings of 2.7 percent for improvements and
2.9 percent for maintenance and repair,

Nearly all of RPM's industrial segment businesses will benefit from
this turnaround, which is expected o begin as capital access
improves and projects delayed by the curent deep recession

are started.

RPM will capitalize on maintenance market opportunities by
leveraging its strong brands in both consumer and industrial
products, expanding distribution and sales personnel, introducing
new products and increasing brand equity.
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U.S. Green Building Market

Dollars in billions
$350 5340

Some 40 perceni of energy is used to heat and cool homes,
office buildings and other commercial structures, more than
any other sing?e category of use. In a 2008 McKinsey Report
commissioned by the European Union, the consulting firm
determined that improved building and home insulation
were among the very top practices that could result in both
reduced greenhouse gases and a rapid economic payback
fo building owners

RPM operating companies representing more than one-hird of
the company's fotal fiscal 2009 revenue are leaders in improving
building energy efficiency, through products such as vegetated
roofs, cool roofs and photovoltaic roofs; inferior sealing and
finishing; air barrier, glazing and transition systems; air confrol

and air movement systems and exterior cladding proteciion.

Opport unities

In the industrial and commercial marketplace, RPM
operatfing companies have teamed up o ol ffer infegrated
building envelope solutions that include comprehensive
warranties, design, installation and preveniofive maintenance.

Principal business units involved In this effort are Tremco Sealants,

Tremco illbruck, Tremco Roofing

and Dryvit exterior insulation
and finish systems (FIFS], the

most energy eflicient cladding

available today.

In the consumer marketplace,
DAP caulks and sealants,
Dryvit EIFS and Tremco Barrier
ila

Solutions can achieve a sin

280

2007 - 2013

i Renovation s New Consfruction

Source: McGraw Hill Constr

building envelope solufion for

residentiol properties.

According to McGraw Hill Construction,
the green building market in the United
States alone is projected o grow from
$149 billion in 2007 to $340 billion in
2013, and RPM is poised to capitalize on
this increased demand for energy efficiency

and environmental sustainability.

CLOCKWISE FROM TOPF LEFT:

DRYVIT Qutsulation provides a sealed, insulated environment and architectural

s in Kelowna, B.C.

o

beauty to the Royal Private Resic

DAPs sealyourthome.info web sife shows homeowners commen sources of air

leaks and lefs them test the erergy efficiency of their home against others of

comparable size.

soimion that eliminated 128 costly,

Roofing experis at TREMCO reduced orugy cosfs Dy 35 percent at the U.S
/\rrr/ Reserve’s 63rd Regional Sug

CA, through o combination
of the Tremlite Coating System to reduce interior temperatures and a daylighting
k yig

heatproducing metal halide lights.
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CLOCKWISE FROM TOP:

order to achieve greater energy efficiency,
SEDOM, a special education cooperaiive in
ck, IL, wmed fo TREMCO for the instaliction

Star rated roof camplete with o

Woodst

of an Er

Ip offset 1

s that will > taciliy's
energy vsage by approximately 25 percent.

EUCHD CHEMICAL admixtures improved concrete
P

performance in this 10 megowalt hydroelectic

project in Costa Rica

TREMCO solar roofing is
installed at the Aurora, 1L
police station.

While growth in global energy demand has subsided somewhat
in the current recession, the longterm outlook is for considerable
growth in energy consumption. As developing economies
increase their level of industrializotion, their growth in energy
demand is expected to be very robust, but will also continue in
the developed European, Asian and North American economies.

The U.S. Depariment of Energy,/
Energy Information Administration
forecasts worldwide marketed
energy consumption to grow from
4772 quadrillion British thermal
units {Btu) in 2006 fo 552
quadrillion By in 2015 and

678 quadrillion Biu by 2030

To meet this demand, power
generation is projected fo
increase by 50 percent over the next 20 years. While renewable
energy sources such as solar, wind and hydroelectric will
accelerate dramatically during this period, more traditional
sources such as natural gas, coal, oil and nuclear will experience
strong growth as well.

Several RPM operating companies parficipate in energy
production, both traditional and renewable. Euco concrete
admixtures and construction products are used fo build

BERZRARI
Opportunities

Worldwide Energy Consumption

Million barrels of oifequivalent per doy
350
300

~ 9% Renewables
~~— 4% Nuclear

—- 29% Codl

f
|
|
|
i
L
!
I

—- 24% Natural Gos

- 32% 0il

i 1
1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030

k 2008 (Reference Case} -

, natural gas, and coal

Source: U.S. DOE/EIA Internationa
oil includes liquid fuels derived from |

conventional coal and nuclear power plants and hydroelectric
dams. Carbaline high-performance coatings and fireproofing
products have been used for decades to protect offshore oil
platforms, pipelines and refineries. They have found more
recent appreciation as a coating for the leading edge of
windmill blades, where manufacturers want to prevent blade
delamination. Also serving the wind furbine market is Kemrock,
RPM's Indian joint venture, which provides both blades and
nacelles for windmill manufacturers. Fibergrate reinforced
plastic grating is regularly specified for use in the corrosive
environment experienced by offshore oil platforms, and
Tremco's roofing division has emerged as a preferred installer
of solar roof systems.
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CLOCKWISE FROM TOP:

frastructure reb

DAY-GLO

widely used i

VANDEX waterproofing coat
{ )y reconstiuctic

In addition 1o ifs highly recognized consumer prc
of industrial coatings, including those being applied fo this bridge.

A ay
Capturing

Infrastru

anc anchors in

he

is the longest floating

ct alt consiruction joints, ponfo

ST

els, the vast majorty of which use

wents are also

15, RUST-OLEUM markets an extensive line

cture
Opportunities

.

Total Projected Cumulative
Infrastructure Spending 2005-2030

Global population growih, a concentration of population in
urban areas and an aging infrastructure throughout the world are
expected fo result in dramatic increases in infrastructure spending
over the next two decades.

Public infrastructure spending is expected 1o total $41 willion
globally from 2005 through 2030, with $22.6 tiillion spent on
water and sewer, $9 frillion on power generation, $7.8 trillion
on road and rail and $1.6 trillion on airports and seaports

Spending by geogrophic area is anticipated fo be highest

in Asia/Pacific at $15.8 trillion, followed by Furope at

$0.1 trillion, South America/Latin America at $7.4 trillion, the
U.S./Canada at $6.5 trillion and the Middle Fast and Africa
at $2.0 trillion.

Inthe U.S. alone, capital spending for electric utilities, water
and sewer systems, and highways and bridges exceeded
$100 billion in 2008, reported McGraw Hill Construction.
According fo the American Society of Civil Engineers, bringing
the aging U.S. infrastructure up to good repair will require an
investment of $1.6 trillion over five years. In ifs infrasfructure
report card, the ASCE gave U.S. infrastiuciure an overall grade
of D, with individual categories of aviation, dams, drinking
water, energy, hazardous waste, navigable waterways, roads,
schaols, fransit and wastewater receiving D grades and only
bridges, public parks and recreation, rail and solid waste
receiving C grades.

Geagraphic South America/Latin America $7.4

Dolfars in trillions

Furope $9.1
U.S./Canada $6.5

Aiico' 1.1

Asia/Pacific $15.8 iddle ot $0.9

By Type
Dollers in rillions

Water $22.6

lton, Global Infrastructure Pariners, Waeild Energy

Source: Booz Allen Hami
Outlock, Organization for
Bosing, Drewry Shipping Consuliants, U.S. Department of Transportation

“croperation and Development [(OECD)

Infrastructure is o major sweet spot for many RPM industrial
businesses. These include Euclid Chemical Company's
concrete admixtures and construction products, Carboline
high-performance coatings, RPM/Belgium waterproofing
coatings and traffic deck coatings, Epoplex roadway siriping,

Stonhard polymer floor coatings, RustOleum industrial coatings

and Vandex waterproofing materials.
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Fiscal 2009 Acquisitions

@ Karochemie AG (Switzerland) b
Y
!fggﬁfskgeemig Tremco illbruck International GmbH
Date acquired: February 9, 2009
Sales: $13 million

, Cdrboline Dalian Paint Production

" g3 Company {People’s Republic of China) by
(,dl‘b(ﬁm&i‘ Carboline Company (49 percent interest)
Date dequired: February 13, 2009
Sciles: $10 million

Canam Building Envelope Specialists Inc.
Carj&m {Canada) by Tremco Incorporated
Date aequired: April 1, 2009
Sales: $6 million

BUILDING ENVELOPE SPECIALISTS INE.

CLOCKWISE FROM TOP LEFT:

PROSYTEC, cequiied by Tremco in fiscal 2008, manufact
sealants ot its produciion facility adjacent 1o its headquarters office in Dilon, France
CARBOLINE DALIAN PAINT PRODUCTION COMPANY , located in Dalion City,
lianong Province, People’s Republic of China, has been a Carboline licensee since
1995 and is now a joint venture partner. Facilities there include the headquarters
office [right], factory anid loboratery {above).

sres a wide range of

The coatings, adhesives and sealants industry is highly
fragmented, with thousands of small- o medium-sized companies.
These businesses often compete in specialized niches of this vast
marketplace, building on propriefary technology. As owners

of these businesses examine exit strategies, the sale of the
business to a larger participant in the industry is usually among
the options considered. This scenario has played out over the
past several decades in North America and Europe as the
industry continues a frend towards consolidation. Now, with o
rising entrepreneurial class in developing countries, the trend
promises fo confinue in other areas of the world, particularly
China and India.

RPM has long been recognized as a leading consolidator in
the industry, completing more than 100 acquisitions over the
past three decades. Over the past five years, the company

Capturing

Industry Consolidation

Opportunities

has completed 33 acquisitions generating approximately
$600 million in-annualized sales af the time of purchase,

with o tofal investment of $450 million. RPM offers selling
owners a decentralized organizational structure that welcomes
entrepreneurs and allows them to continue running their
businesses under the RPM mantle. Mare than onethird of RPM
operating companies are managed by their enfrepreneur
founders or second- or third-generation fomily members.

In other cases, the company acquires businesses that are part
of larger organizations but not a sirategic fit with their parent,
In these situations, RPM typically will incorporate the acquired
product line info an existing RPM business, capitalizing on
greater distribution and sales capabilifies to grow the product
line. RPM also regularly examines opportunities for large,
strategic platform acquisitions, which have historically occurred
every few years.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of

RPM International Inc. and its majority-owned subsidiaries.
Preparation of our financial statements requires the use of estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of our assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

We continually evaluate these estimates, including those related to
our asbestos liability; allowances for doubtful accounts; inventories;
allowances for recoverable taxes; useful lives of property, plant and
equipment; goodwill and other intangible assets; environmental,
warranties and other contingent liabilities; income tax valuation
allowances; pension plans; and the fair value of financial instruments.
We base our estimates on historical experience, our most recent facts,
and other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. These estimates form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of our assets and liabilities. Actual results,
which are shaped by actual market conditions, including legal
setlements, may differ materially from our esfimates.

We have identified below the accounting policies and estimates that
are the most critical to our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when realized or realizable, and when
earned. In general, this is when title and risk of loss pass to the
customer. Further, revenues are realizable when we have persuasive
evidence of a sales arrangement, the product has been shipped or the
services have been provided to the cusiomer, the sales price is fixed
or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We reduce
our revenues for estimated customer returns and allowances, certain
rebates, sales incentives and promotions in the same period the
related sales are recorded.

We also record revenues generated under longerm construction
contracts, mainly in connection with the installafion of specialized
roofing and flooring systems, and related services. In general, we
account for long-term construction contracts under the percentage-
of-completion method, and therefore record contract revenues and
related costs as our contracts progress. This method recognizes the
economic results of contract performance on a timelier basis than
does the completed-contract method; however, application of this
method requires reasonably dependable estimates of progress toward
completion, as well as other dependable estimates. When reasonably
dependable estimates cannot be made, or if other factors make
estimates doubtful, the completed-contract method is applied. Under
the completed-contract method, billings and costs are accumulated

on the balance sheet as the contract progresses, but no revenue is
recognized until the contract is complete or substantially complete.

Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements and Foreign
Currency Transactions

Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. However, the functional
currency for each of our foreign subsidiaries is its local currency.
We franslate the amounts included in our Consolidated Statements
of Income from our foreign subsidiaries into U.S. dollars at weighted-
average exchange rates, which we believe are representative of the
actual exchange rates on the dates of the transactions. Our foreign
subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars

RPM International inc. ond Subsidiaries

from local currency at the actual exchange rates as of the end of

each reporting date, and we record the resulting foreign exchange
translation adjustments in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income {loss). If the
U.S. dollar continues to strengthen, we will continue to reflect the
resulting losses as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income. Conversely, if the U.S. dollar were to weaken, foreign
exchange franslation gains could result, which would favorably impact
accumulated other comprehensive income. Translation adjustments will
be included in net earnings in the event of a sale or liquidation of any
of our underlying foreign investments, or in the event that we distribute
the accumulated earnings of consolidated foreign subsidiaries. If

we determined that the functional currency of any of our foreign
subsidiaries should be the U.S. dollar, our financial statements would
be affected. Should this occur, we would adjust our reporting to
appropriately account for any such changes.

As appropriate, we use permanently invested intercompany loans as
a source of capital to reduce exposure to foreign currency fluctuations
at our foreign subsidiaries. These loans, on a consolidated basis,

are treated as being analogous to equity for accounting purposes.
Therefore, foreign exchange gains or losses on these intercompany
loans are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss). If we were to determine that the functional currency of any of
our subsidiaries should be the U.S. dollar, we would no longer record
foreign exchange gains or losses on such intercompany loans.

Goodwill

We apply the provisions of SFAS No. 141 {“SFAS No. 1417},
“Business Combinations,” which addresses the initial recognition

and measurement of goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a
business combination. We also apply the provisions of SFAS No.
142 {“SFAS No. 142"}, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
which requires that goodwill be tested at least on an annual basis,

or more frequently as impairment indicators arise, using a fair-value
approach at the reporting unit level. Our reporting units have been
identified at the component level, or one level below our operating
segments. The provisions of SFAS No. 142 require us to perform a
two-step impairment test. In the first step, we compare the fair value
of each of our reporting units to its carrying value. We have elecied
to perform our annual required impairment tests, which involve the
use of estimates related to the fair market values of the reporting units
with which goodwill is associoted, during our fourth fiscal quarter.
Calculating the fair market values of reporfing units requires our use of
estimates and assumptions.

We use significant judgment in determining the most appropriate
method to establish the fair values of each of our reporting units. We
estimate the fair values of our reporting units by employing various
valuation techniques, depending on the availability and reliability

of comparable market value indicators, and employ methods and
assumptions which include the application of third-party market value
indicators and the computation of discounted future cash flows for each
of our reporting unit's annual projected earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA"). For each of our reporting
units, we calculate a break-even multiple based on its carrying value
as of the testing date. We then compare each reporting unit's break-
even EBITDA market multiple to guideline EBITDA market multiples
applicable to our industry and peer group, the data for which we
develop internally and through third-party sources. The result of this



analysis provides us with insight and sensitivity as to which reporting
units, if any, may have a higher risk for a potential impairment.

We then supplement this analysis with an evaluation of discounted
future cash flows for each reporting unit's projected EBITDA. Under
this approach, we calculate the fair value of each reporting unit based
on the present value of estimated future cash flows. If the fair value of
the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets of the
reporting unit, goodwill is not impaired. An indication that goodwill
may be impaired results when the carrying value of the net assets of a
reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit. At that point,
the second step of the impairment test is performed, which requires a
fair value estimate of each tangible and intangible asset in order to
determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill. if the
carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value, then we record an impairment loss equal to the difference.

In applying the discounted cash flow methodology, we rely on

a number of factors, including future business plans, actual and
forecasted operating results, and market data. The significant
assumptions employed under this method include discount rates,
revenue growth rates, including assumed terminal growth rates, and
operating margins used to project future cash flows for each reporting
unit. The discount rates utilized reflect marketbased estimates

of capital costs and discount rates adjusted for management’s
assessment of a market participant’s view with respect to other risks
associated with the projected cash flows of the individual reporting
units. Our estimates are based upon assumptions we believe to be
reasonable, but which by nature are uncertain and unpredictable. We
believe we incorporate ample sensitivity ranges into our analysis of
goodwill impairment testing for each reporting unit, such that actual
experience would need to be materially out of the range of expected
assumptions in order for an impairment to remain undetected.

Our annual goodwill impairment analysis, which we performed during
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, resulted in an impairment charge
related to a reduction in the carrying value of goodwill in the amount
of $14.9 million, relating to one of our reporting units. See Note A{10)
for additional details regarding this impairment loss. The excess of fair
value over carrying value for our other reporting units as of March 1,
2009, ranged from approximately $1.3 million to $249.8 million.

In order to evaluate the sensitivity of the fair value calculations of our
goodwill impairment test, we applied a hypothetical 5% decrease to
the fair values of each reporting unit. This hypothetical 5% decrease
would result in excess fair value over carrying value ranging from
approximately $1.0 million to $231.8 million for our reporting units.
Further, we compare the sum of the fair values of our reporting units
resulting from our discounted cash flow calculations to our market
capitalization as of our valuation date. We use this comparison to
further assess the reasonableness of the assumptions employed in our
valuation calculations. As of the valuation date, the sum of the fair
values we calculated for our reporting units was approximately 15%
above our market capitalization.

Other Long-Lived Assets

We assess identifiable, non-goodwill intangibles and other long-
lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in facts and
circumstances indicate the possibility that the carrying values of these
assets may not be recoverable over their estimated remaining useful
lives. Factors considered important in our assessment, which might
trigger an impairment evaluation, include the following:

* significant under-performance relative to historical or projected
future operating results;

* significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets;

* significant changes in the strategy for our overall business; and

* significant negative industry or economic trends.

Additionally, we test all indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment at least annually during our fiscal fourth quarter.
Measuring a potential impairment of non-goodwill intangibles and
other long-lived assets requires the use of various estimates and
assumptions, including the determination of which cash flows are
directly related to the assets being evaluated, the respective useful
lives over which those cash flows will occur and potential residual
values, if any. If we determine that the carrying values of these assets
may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more
of the above-described indicators or other factors, any impairment
amounts would be measured based on the projected net cash flows
expected from these assets, including any net cash flows related to
eventual disposition activities. The determination of any impairment
losses would be based on the best information available, including
internal estimates of discounted cash flows; quoted market prices,
when available; and independent appraisals, as appropriate, to
determine fair values. Cash flow estimates would be based on our
historical experience and our infernal business plans, with appropriate
discount rates applied. Our annual impairment tests of each of our
indefinite-lived intangible assets resulted in an impairment loss of
$0.5 million related to the reduction in carrying value of one of our
tradenames. This loss was primarily the result of continued declines
in sales and projected sales in one of our business which operates
primarily in the residential housing market. Please refer to Note A{10},
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” for further information.
We also performed a recoverability test with respect to the assets

of both of our entities that incurred goodwill or other intangible
asset impairments during the current fiscal year. The tests included
the comparison of our estimation of undiscounted future cash flows
associated with these businesses to their respective book value as of
the date of our annual impairment tests. No impairment losses were
required as a result of either of these fests for recoverability.

Deferred Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes is calculated in accordance with

SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires

the recognition of deferred income taxes using the liability method.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income

tax purposes and cerfain changes in valuation allowances. We
provide valuation allowances against deferred tax assets if, based on
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

In determining the adequacy of valuation allowances, we consider
cumulative and anticipated amounts of domestic and international
earnings or losses, anticipated amounts of foreign source income, as
well as the anticipated taxable income resulting from the reversal of
future taxable temporary differences.

We intend to maintain any recorded valuation allowances until
sufficient positive evidence (for example, cumulative positive foreign
earnings or additional foreign source income} exists to support a
reversal of the tax valuation allowances.

Contingencies

We are party to claims and lawsuits arising in the normal course

of business, including the various asbestos-related suits discussed in
Note | to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Although we cannot
precisely predict the amount of any liability that may ultimately arise

RPM International inc. and Subsidiaries
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with respect to any of these matters, we record provisions when

we consider the liability probable and reasonably estimable. Our
provisions are based on historical experience and legal advice,
reviewed quarterly and adjusted according to developments.
Estimating probable losses requires the analysis of multiple forecasted
factors that often depend on judgments about potential actions

by third parties, such as regulators, courts, and state and federal
legislatures. Changes in the amounts of our loss provisions, which can
be material, affect our Consolidated Statements of Income. Due to the
inherent uncertainties in the process undertaken to estimate potential
losses, we are unable to estimate an additional range of loss in excess
of our accruals. While it is reasonably possible that such excess
liabilities, if they were to occur, could be material to operating results
in any given quarter or year of their recognition, we do not believe
that it is reasonably possible that such excess liabilities would have a
material adverse effect on our long-term results of operations, liquidity
or consolidated financial position.

Our environmental-related accruals are similarly established and/or
adjusted as more information becomes available upon which costs
can be reasonably estimated. Here again, actual costs may vary
from these estimates because of the inherent uncertainties involved,
including the identification of new sites and the development of

new information about contamination. Certain sites are still being
investigated and, therefore, we have been unable to fully evaluate
the ultimate costs for those sites. As a result, accruals have not

been estimated for certain of these sites and costs may ultimately
exceed existing estimated accruals for other sites. We have received
indemnities for potential environmental issues from purchasers of
certain of our properties and businesses and from sellers of some

of the properties or businesses we have acquired. We have also
purchased insurance fo cover potential environmental liabilities at
certain sites. If the indemnifying or insuring party fails to, or becomes
unable to, fulfill its obligations under those agreements or policies, we
may incur environmental costs in addition to any amounts accrued,
which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Several of our industrial businesses offer extended warranty terms

and related programs, and thus have established a corresponding
warranty liability. Warranty expense is impacted by variations in local
construction practices and installation conditions, including geographic
and climate differences.

Additionally, our operations are subject to various federal, state, local
and foreign tax laws and regulations which govern, among other
things, taxes on worldwide income. The calculation of our income tax
expense is based on the best information available and involves our
significant judgment. The actual income tax liability for each jurisdiction
in any year can be, in some instances, determined ultimately several
years after the financial statements have been published.

We maintain accruals for estimated income tax exposures for many
different jurisdictions. Tax exposures are settled primarily through the
resolution of audits within each fax jurisdiction or the closing of a
statute of limitation. Tax exposures can also be affected by changes in
applicable tax laws or other factors, which may cause us to believe a
revision of past estimates is appropriate. We believe that appropriate
liabilities have been established for income tax exposures; however,
actual results may differ materially from our estimates.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

An allowance for anticipated uncollectible trade receivable amounts
is established using a combination of specifically identified accounts
to be reserved and a reserve covering trends in collectibility. These

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

estimates are based on an analysis of trends in collectibility, past
experience and individual account balances identified as doubtful
based on specific facts and conditions. Receivable losses are
charged against the allowance when we confirm uncollectibility.
Actual collections of trade receivables could differ from our estimates
due to changes in future economic or industry conditions or specific
customer’s financial conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being
determined on a firstin, firstout (FIFO) basis and market being
determined on the basis of replacement cost or net realizable value.
Inventory costs include raw materials, labor and manufacturing
overhead. We review the net realizable value of our inventory in
detail on an on-going basis, with consideration given to various
factors, which include our estimated reserves for excess, obsolete,
slow moving or distressed inventories. If actual market conditions
differ from our projections, and our estimates prove to be inaccurate,
write-downs of inventory values and adjustments to cost of sales may
be required. Historically, our inventory reserves have approximated
actual experience.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities, included in other current and long-term assets,
are composed of available for sale securities and are reported

at fair value. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments

are recognized in net income on the specific identification basis.
Changes in fair values of securities that are considered temporary, are
recorded as unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, in
accumulated other comprehensive income {loss} within stockholders’
equity. Otherthantemporary declines in market value from original
cost are reflected in operating income in the period in which the
unrealized losses are deemed other than temporary. In order to
determine whether an other-than-temporary decline in market value
has occurred, the duration of the decline in value and our ability to
hold the investment fo recovery are considered in conjunction with an
evaluation of the strength of the underlying collateral and the extent to
which the investment’s amortized cost or cost, as appropriate, exceeds
its related market value.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We sponsor qualified defined benefit pension plans and various
other nonqualified postretirement plans. The qualified defined benefit
pension plans are funded with trust assets invested in a diversified
portfolio of debt and equity securities and other investments. Among
other factors, changes in interest rates, investment returns and the
market value of plan assets can (i) affect the level of plan funding;

(ii) cause volatility in the net periodic pension cost; and (iii} increase
our future contribution requirements. A significant decrease in
investment returns or the market value of plan assets or a significant
decrease in interest rates could increase our net periodic pension costs
and adversely affect our results of operations. A significant increase
in our contribution requirements with respect to our qualified defined
benefit pension plans could have an adverse impact on our cash flow.

Changes in our key plan assumptions would impact net periodic
benefit expense and the projected benefit obligation for our defined
benefit and various postretirement benefit plans. Based upon May
31, 2009 information, the following tables reflect the impact of a 1%
change in the key assumptions applied to our defined benefit pension
plans in the U.S. ond internationally:



u.s. International

1% 1% 1% 1%

{In millions) Increase Decrease increase Decrease
Discount Rate

Increase (decrease) in expense in FY 2009 $ 2.9 $ 29 $ .8 $ 20

Increase (decrease) in obligation as of May 31, 2009 $(19.5) $ 212 $(12.4) $ 158
Expected Return on Plan Assets

Increase (decrease) in expense in FY 2009 $ (1.5 $ 15 $ (1.0) $ 1.0

Increase (decrease] in obligation as of May 31, 2009 $ N/A $ N/A $ N/A $ N/A
Compensation Increase

Increase (decrease) in expense in FY 2009 $ 26 $ (2.3 $ 09 $ (0.8)

Increase (decrease) in obligation as of May 31, 2009 $ 10.1 $ (8.9 $ 33 $ (2.9

Based upon May 31, 2009 information, the following tables reflect the impact of @ 1% change in the key assumptions applied to our various

postretirement health care plans:

us. International
1% 1% 1% 1%

{In millions) Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount Rate

Increase (decrease) in expense in FY 2009 $ $ $ (0.2) $ 03

Increase {decrease] in obligation as of May 31, 2009 $ (0.7) $ o8 $ (1. $ 14
Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

Increase (decrease} in expense in FY 2009 $ $ $ 0.1 $ (0.3)

Increase (decrease) in obligation as of May 31, 2009 $ 05 $ (0.4 $ 1.4 $ (1.7

BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our business is divided into two reportable segments: the industrial
segment and the consumer segment. Within each segment, we
aggregate three operating segments that consist of individual groups
of companies and product lines, which generally address common
markets, share similar economic characteristics, utilize similar

technologies and can share manufacturing or distribution capabilities.

Our six operating segments represent components of our business for
which separate financial information is available that is utilized on

a regular basis by our chief executive officer in determining how to
allocate the assets of the Company and evaluate performance. These
six operating segments are each managed by an operating segment
manager, who is responsible for the day-to-day operating decisions
and performance evaluation of the operating segment’s underlying
businesses. We evaluate the profit performance of our segments
primarily based on gross profit, and, to a lesser extent, income {loss)
before income taxes, but also look to earnings {loss) before interest
and taxes (“EBIT”) as a performance evaluation measure because
interest expense is essentially related to corporate acquisitions, as
opposed to segment operations.

Our industrial segment products are sold throughout North America
and also account for the majority of our international sales. Our
industrial product lines are sold directly to contractors, distributors
and end-users, such as industrial manufacturing facilities, public
institutions and other commercial customers. This reportable segment
comprises three separate operating segments — our Tremco Group
{(now RPM Building Solutions Group), StonCor Group (now RPM
Performance Coatings Group), and RPM Il/industrial Group. Products
and services within this segment include construction chemicals,
roofing systems, weatherproofing and other sealants, flooring and
specialty chemicals.

Our consumer segment manufactures and markets professional use
and do-it:yourself ("DIY”) products for a variety of mainly consumer
applications, including home improvement and personal leisure
activities. Qur consumer segment’s major manufacturing and
distribution operations are located primarily in North America.
Consumer segment products are sold throughout North America
directly to mass merchants, home improvement centers, hardware
stores, paint stores, craft shops and to other smaller customers through
distributors. This reportable segment comprises three operating
segments — our DAP Group, Rust-Oleum/Zinsser Group, and

RPM Il /Consumer Group. Products within this segment include
specialty, hobby and professional paints; caulks; adhesives; silicone
sealants; wood stains and specialty confectionary coatings and films.

In addition to our two reportable segments, there is a category of
certain business activities and expenses, referred to as corporate/
other, that does not constitute an operating segment. This category
includes our corporate headquarters and related administrative
expenses, results of our captive insurance companies, gains or
losses on the sales of certain assets and other expenses not directly
associated with either reportable segment. Assets related to the
corporate/other category consist primarily of investments, prepaid
expenses, deferred pension assets, and headquarters’ property and
equipment. These corporate and other assets and expenses reconcile
reportable segment data to total consolidated income before income
taxes, interest expense and EBIT.

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiories
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The following table reflects the results of our reportable segments consistent with our management philosophy, and represents the information we
utilize, in conjunction with various strategic, operational and other financial performance criteria, in evaluating the performance of our porffolio of
product lines. For further information pertaining to our segments, refer to Note J, “Segment Information,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
{In thousands)

Year Ended May 31 2009 2008 2007
Net Sales
Industrial Segment $ 2,265,957 $ 2,367,970 $ 2,102,684
Consumer Segment 1,102,210 1,275,821 1,236,080
Consolidated $ 3,368,167 $ 3,643,791 $ 3,338,764
Gross Profit
Industrial Segment $ 942,820 $ 999,989 $ 885,999
Consumer Segment 410,269 498,548 474,453
Consolidated $ 1,353,089 $ 1,498,537 $ 1,360,452
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes®
Industrial Segment
Income Before Income Taxes' $  176,116W $ 259,630 $ 233,396
Interest (Expense), Net® (676) (2,188) {1,931)
EBIT® $ 176,792 $ 261,818 $ 235,327
Consumer Segment
Income Before Income Taxes® $ 102,311 $ 155,600 $ 151,220
Interest (Expense), Net® (4,529) (5,451) (2,901)
EBITH $ 106,840 $ 161,051 $ 154,121
Corporate/Other
(Expense) Before Income Taxesl®! $ (97,559 $ (376,176} $ (77,081)¢
interest (Expense}, Net® (55,049) {39,325) (42,201)
EBITid $ (42,510 $ (336,851) $ (34,880)
Consolidated
Income {Loss) Before Income Taxes!?! $ 180,868 $ 39,054 $ 307,535
Interest (Expense), Net® (60,254} (46,964) {47,033)
EBIT® $ 241,122 $ 86,018 $ 354,568

{a) The presentation includes a reconciliation of Income {Loss) Before Income Taxes, a measure defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles {GAAP) in the
United States, to EBIT.

{b) Interest (expense), net includes the combination of interest expense and investment expense (income), net.

{c) EBIT is defined as earnings {loss} before interest and taxes. We evaluate the profit performance of our segments primarily based on gross profit, and, to a lesser
extent, income {loss) before income taxes, but also look to EBIT as a performance evaluation measure because interest expense is essentially related fo corporate
acquisitions, as opposed to segment operations. We believe EBIT is useful to investors for this purpose as well, using EBIT as a metric in their investment decisions.
EBIT should not be considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, operating income as determined in accordance with GAAP, since EBIT omits the impact
of interest and taxes in determining operating performance, which represent items necessary to our continued operations, given our level of indebtedness and
ongoing tax obligations. Nonetheless, EBIT is a key measure expected by and useful to our fixed income investors, rating agencies and the banking community,
all of whom believe, and we concur, that this measure is crifical o the capital markets’ analysis of our segments’ core operating performance. We also evaluate
EBIT because it is clear that movements in EBIT impact our ability o attract financing. Our underwriters and bankers consistently require inclusion of this measure
in offering memoranda in conjunction with any debt underwriting or bank financing. EBIT may not be indicative of our historical operating results, nor is it meant
to be predictive of potential future results.

{d) The asbestos charges, totaling $288.1 million in fiscal 2008 and the impact of an asbestos-related insurance settlement of $15.0 million in fiscal 2007, are
reflected in Corporate/Other, and relate to our Bondex International, Inc. subsidiary (see Note ! fo the Consolidated Financial Statements}.

(e) Our industrial reportable segment results for fiscal 2009 reflect the impact of impairment losses resulting from the reduction in carrying values of goodwill and
other intangible assets, fotaling $15.5 million (see Note A{10) 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements).

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal 2009 Compared with Fiscal 2008

Net Sales On a consolidated basis, net sales of $3.4 billion for the
year ended May 31, 2009 declined 7.6%, or $275.6 million, over
net sales of $3.6 billion during the comparable period last year. The
organic decline in sales amounted to 10.2%, or $369.8 million, of the
shortfall in net sales over the prior-year result, which includes volume-
related declines of 9.9%, or $358.4 million, and the impact of net
unfavorable foreign exchange rates year-over-year, which amounted
to 3.4%, or $123.6 million, offset partially by pricing initiatives
representing 3.1% of the prior-period sales, or $112.2 million. These
pricing initiatives, including those across both of our reportable
segments, were instituted primarily during prior periods in order to
offset the rising costs of many of our raw materials. Foreign exchange
losses resulted from the strong dollar against nearly all major foreign
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currencies, with the majority of the losses resulting from the weaker
euro and Canadian dollar. Eleven small acquisitions provided 2.6% of
sales growth over last year, or $94.2 million. The current worldwide
recession impacted nearly every product line we offer in both of our
reportable segments. However, despite the downturn, many of our
businesses continue to either maintain their market share or gain
market share as competitors drop out of the marketplace.

Industrial segment net sales, which comprised 67.3% of the current
year’s consolidated net sales, totaled $2.27 billion, a decline of
4.3% from $2.37 billion last year. This segment’s net sales decline
resulted primarily from an overall decline in organic sales, which
accounted for a 9.5% decline over prior-year sales, and included
4.1% from net unfavorable foreign exchange differences and volume
declines approximating 8.2%, offset partially by 2.8% as a result

of prior-period price increases. Nine small acquisitions provided



5.2% growth over the prior year. The organic sales volume decline

in the industrial segment resulted primarily from declines in global
sealants and roofing products, as well as exterior insulation and finish
systems products. There was slow, but continued growth throughout
fiscal 2009 from ongoing industrial and commercial maintenance
and improvement activities in Canada, Latin America, South Africa
and the Middle East. Despite the impact of the continuing weak
economic environment on certain sectors of our domestic commercial
construction markets, which we expect will continue at least into the
first half of our upcoming fiscal 2010, we continue to secure new
business through strong brand offerings, new product innovations and
international expansion.

Consumer segment net sales, which comprised 32.7% of the current
year’s consolidated net sales, totaled $1.10 billion, a decline of
13.6% from $1.28 billion during fiscal 2008. The decline in this
segment was primarily organic, which accounted for 11.3% of

the decline over prior-year sales and included volume declines
approximating 13.0%. Net unfavorable foreign exchange rates
accounted for approximately 2.1% of the decline. Prior-period price
increases had a 3.8% favorable impact on this segment's sales, while
net divestitures represented 2.3% of the total decline. The organic
sales volume decline reflects the continued weakness in the economy,
including sluggish sales for retailers and distributors impacted by

the domestic housing recession. Our consumer segment continues to
increase market penetration at major retail accounts with various new
product launches combined with efforts to refocus sales of our various
repair and maintenance product lines.

Gross Profit Margin Our consolidated gross profit declined to
40.2% of net sales this year from 41.1% of net sales last year, or
approximately 0.9% of sales, or 90 basis points (“bps”). This decline
reflects our overall lower overhead absorption resulting from a 9.9%
decline in organic sales volume, as discussed above, which reduced
gross profit as a percent of sales by approximately 100 bps. Higher
year-over-year raw material costs negatively impacted the current gross
profit margin by approximately 200 bps, reflecting increases in oil
prices and energy costs, which had previously put upward pressure

on many of our raw material, packaging and transportation costs.
Higher pricing, which favorably impacted our gross profit margin

by approximately 210 bps, partially offset the combination of these
year-overyear higher raw material costs and the effect of declining
sales volumes. While many of our key raw material costs, such as
plasticizers, epoxies, various solvents and resins, were higher than they
were during the same period a year ago, we experienced some relief
in certain other raw material and transportation costs this year, as a
result of declines in certain energy prices.

Our industrial segment gross profit for fiscal 2009 fell by 60 bps, to
41.6% of net sales from last year's result of 42.2% of net sales. This
segment’s 8.2% decline in organic sales volume unfavorably impacted
this segment’s gross margin by approximately 90 bps during the
current period, in addition to higher raw material costs, which had

a negative impact of approximately 140 bps. Higher selling prices
approximating 170 bps slightly offset these costs.

Our consumer segment gross profit for the year declined to 37.2%

of net sales from 39.1% of net sales last year, or approximately

190 bps, mainly as a result of the approximate 320 bps impact of
higher raw material costs, partially offset by the impact of recent price
increases approximating 280 bps. The remaining 150 bps related

to this segment’s organic sales volume decline of 13.0% versus last
year's net sales.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”)
Our consolidated SG&A increased to 32.6% of net sales for the
current year compared with 30.8% a year ago. The 180 bps increase

in SG&A as a percent of sales primarily reflects the impact of the
9.9% decline in organic sales volume, as previously discussed. The
increase in SG&A as a percent of sales also reflects the impact of
higher warranty expense during fiscal 2009, approximating 50 bps,
and the combination of additional bad debt expense, unfavorable
environmental reserve increases, and certain higher employment-
related benefit costs. These higher expenses were offset partially by
lower stock-based compensation expense, lower distribution expense,
reductions in advertising expense and lower legal expenses, totaling
approximately 40 bps. There were also certain additional strategic
initiatives that were undertaken by certain of our businesses during
fiscal 2009 in order to reduce our fixed cost base in light of the
current worldwide recession. These initiatives included headcount
reductions, which resulted in primarily severance costs approximating
60 bps for the year. The costs of these initiatives were slightly more
than offset by the end of fiscal 2009 by the savings accumulated from
the resulting lower headcount.

Our industrial segment SG&A increased to 33.1% of net sales for
the current year from 31.1% for last year, reflecting the impact of the
8.2% decline in sales volume during fiscal 2009 versus fiscal 2008.
Also reflected in the increase is the impact of higher warranty expense
during fiscal 2009 in this segment, which began to trend higher
during the last half of the current fiscal year. While we anticipate
that this trend will continue into fiscal 2010, at this time we cannot
currently estimate the extent of additional costs that may be incurred
in connection with our extended warranty program. There was also
additional bad debt expense incurred this year, however, this was
more than offset by net favorable foreign currency adjustments.

As mentioned above, during fiscal 2009 certain of our businesses
incurred severance expense in an effort to bring costs down as a
result of the weak economic environment. This segment’s current-year
costs relating to these initiatives were slightly more than offset by the
favorable impact of the resulting headcount reductions by the end of
fiscal 2009.

Our consumer segment SG8A as a percent of net sales for the current
year increased by 100 bps to 27.5% compared with 26.5% a year
ago, reflecting the unfaverable margin impact of the 13.0% sales
volume decline in net sales in this segment, in addition fo current year
unfavorable foreign exchange adjustments, higher employment-related
benefit expense and unfavorable environmental reserve adjustments.
The strategic reductions in this segment's workforce, which resulted in
severance and other related costs during fiscal 2009, was offset by the
benefits of the reduced headcount expense by the end of fiscal 2009.

SG&A expenses in our corporate/other category decreased during
fiscal 2009 by approximately $5.8 million, to $42.7 million from
$48.5 million for fiscal 2008. The decrease reflects the combination
of lower compensation, including stock based compensation,

and lower insurance expense incurred during fiscal 2009 versus
fiscal 2008, which provided a combined benefit of approximately
$10.2 million. During fiscal 2009, we also recorded a gain on

our partial repurchase of our 4.45% bonds at a discount, totaling
approximately $0.8 million, and had lower year-over-year costs
relating fo travel, meetings, and other expenses as a result of tighter
cost controls implemented during the current year. Partially offsetting
these items was the impact of net unfavorable foreign currency
adjustments, which totaled approximately $8.0 million, and other
higher employment-related benefit expenses, including higher
hospitalization and workers compensation costs.

License fee and joint venture income of approximately $3.1 million
and $3.3 million for each of the years ended May 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively, are reflected as reductions of consolidated
SG&A expenses.

RPA International Inc. and Subsidiories
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We recorded total net periodic pension and postretirement benefit
costs of $22.7 million and $18.6 million for the years ended May 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively. This increased pension expense

of $4.1 million was the result of higher interest costs approximating
$2.8 million, net actuarial losses incurred of approximately

$0.9 million and approximately $0.6 million less in curtailment
gains than the prior year. Slightly offsetting these unfavorable items
was the impact of $0.2 million in additional gains relating to the
expected return on plan assets. A change of 1.0% in the discount
rate or expected rate of return on plan assets assumptions would
result in $4.7 million and $2.5 million higher pension expense,
respectively. The assumptions and estimates used to determine the
discount rate and expected return on plan assets are more fully
described in Note G, “Pension Plans,” and Note H, “Postretirement
Health Care Benefits,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Further discussion and analysis of the sensitivity surrounding our
most critical assumptions under our pension and postretirement plans
is discussed on page 20 of this report under, “Critical Accounting
Policies — Pension and Postrefirement Plans.” We expect that pension
expense will fluctuate on a yearto-year basis, depending primarily
upon the investment performance of plan assets and potential changes
in interest rates, but such changes are not expected to be material to
our consolidated financial results.

Asbestos Charge (Income) As described in Note |, “Contingencies
and Loss Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we
recorded pre-tax asbestos charges of $288.1 million during the fiscal
year ended May 31, 2008, in connection with the calculation of our
liability for unasserted-potential-future-asbestos-related claims by an
independent consulting firm. There was no related charge taken or
incurred during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2009. For additional
information, please refer to Note |, “Confingencies and Loss Reserves,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset Impairments As
described in Note A{10}, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Asses,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we recorded impairment
charges related to a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill and
other intangible assets totaling $15.5 million for the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2009. The results of our annual impairment testing
for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2008 did not result in any
adjustments to the carrying value of goodwill or other intangible
assets. For additional information, please refer to Note A{10] fo the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Critical Accounting
Policies discussed herein.

Interest Expense Interest expense was $54.5 million during

fiscal 2009 versus $60.5 million a year ago, or a decrease of

$6.0 million. The combination of lower interest rates, which averaged
5.19% overall for fiscal 2009 compared with 5.25% for fiscal 2008,
and lower average borrowings, net of additional borrowings for
acquisitions, reduced interest expense this year by approximately
$8.2 million versus last year. Partially offsetting this reduction was the
impact of additional bond financing-related costs approximating

$2.2 million.

Investment Expense (Income), Net Net investment expense

of $5.8 million during fiscal 2009 compares fo fiscal 2008 net
investment income of $13.5 million. Net realized gains on the sales of
investments resulted in a net gain of $1.6 million for the year ended
May 31, 2009 versus a net gain of $3.2 million for fiscal 2008.
Additionally, there were impairments recognized on securities that
management has determined are other-than-temporary declines in
value, which approximated $15.1 million and $1.4 million for fiscal
2009 and 2008, respectively. Additionally, dividend and interest
income fotaling $7.7 million during fiscal 2009 compares with
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$11.7 million of income last year. The year-over-year changes in
these items reflect the current global economic downturn and related
declines in the U.S. financial markets.

Income Before Income Taxes (“IBT”) Our consolidated IBT

for fiscal 2009 of $180.9 million compares with last year's IBT of
$39.0 million, for a margin on net sales of 5.4% versus 1.1% a

year ago. Reflected in the current-year figures was the impact of an
impairment loss of $15.5 million resulting from a reduction in the
carrying values of goodwill and other intangible assets during this
year's fourth fiscal quarter. Reflected in the prior year figures was the
impact of the $288.1 million asbestos-related charge taken during last
year’s fourth fiscal quarter, as previously discussed.

Our industrial segment had IBT of $176.1 million versus last year’s
IBT of $259.6 million, reflecting this segment's 8.2% decline in organic
sales volume during fiscal 2009, as previously discussed, in addition
to certain higher raw material costs, the goodwill and other intangible
asset impairment loss and additional warranty expense during fiscal
2009. Our consumer segment IBT declined to $102.3 million for the
year, from $155.6 million last year, primarily as a result of the 13.0%
organic sales decline combined with unfavorable foreign exchange
adjustments and certain higher raw material costs.

Income Tax Rate Our effective income tax expense rate of 33.9%
for the year ended May 31, 2009 compared to an effective income
tax benefit rate of 22.2% for the year ended May 31, 2008.

For the year ended May 31, 2009 and, to a greater extent, for

the year ended May 31, 2008, the effective tax rate differed from
the federal statutory rate due to decreases in the effective tax rate
principally as a result of the impact of certain foreign operations

on our U.S. taxes, U.S. tax benefits associated with the domestic
manufacturing deduction and lower effective tax rates in certain of our
foreign jurisdictions. In addition, for the year ended May 31, 2009,
various state taxing jurisdictions enacted new tax laws which resulted
in a onetime decrease in the state effective tax rate of $1.8 million.
The year ended May 31, 2008 was also impacted by a decrease in
the effective tax rate as a result of a reversal of valuation allowances
associated with foreign tax credits.

For the years ended May 31, 2009 and May 31, 2008, the
decreases in the effective tax rate were partially offset by valuation
allowances associated with losses incurred by certain of our foreign
businesses, state and local income taxes and other non-deductible
business operating expenses. In addition, the decreases in the
effective tax rate for the year ended May 31, 2009 were offset by
the non-deductible impairment of goodwill, which impacted the tax
provision by $5.2 million, and valuation allowances associated with
foreign tax credit carryforwards.

As of May 31, 2009, we have determined, based on the available
evidence, that it is uncertain whether we will be able to recognize
certain deferred tax assets. Therefore, in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” we
intend to maintain the tax valuation allowances recorded at May 31,
20089 for certain deferred tax assets until sufficient positive evidence
(for example, cumulative positive foreign earnings or additional
foreign source income) exists to support their reversal. These valuation
allowances relate to U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards, certain
foreign net operating losses and net foreign deferred tax assets
recorded in purchase accounting. In accordance with SFAS

No. 141, any reversal of a valuation allowance that was recorded
in purchase accounting has reduced goodwill.

Net Income Net income of $119.6 million for the year ended
May 31, 2009 compares to net income of $47.7 million for fiscal



2008, for a net margin on sales of 3.6% for fiscal 2009 compared
to a net margin on sales of 1.3% for fiscal 2008. The currentyear
net income reflects the aftertax impact of the goodwill and other
intangible asset impairment losses of $15.3 million, while the prior-
year net income reflects the after-tax impact of the asbestos-related
charge of $185.1 million. Excluding those items, the net margin on
sales for fiscal 2009 and 2008 would have been 4.0% and 6.4%,
respectively. The overall decline in the net margin on sales reflects the
impact of declining organic sales volume, which impacted sales by
9.9% during fiscal 2009, combined with higher raw material costs
and expenses related to higher warranty, bad debt, and other-than-

temporary losses on marketable securities incurred during fiscal 2009.

Diluted earnings per share of common stock of $0.93 for fiscal 2009
compares with diluted earnings per share of $0.39 a year ago.

Fiscal 2008 Compared with Fiscal 2007

Net Sales On a consolidated basis, net sales of $3.64 billion

for fiscal 2008 grew 9.1%, or $305.0 million, over net sales of
$3.34 billion during fiscal 2007. Organic sales improvements
accounted for 6.9%, or $230.8 million, of the growth in net sales in
fiscal 2008 over fiscal 2007, including pricing initiatives representing
1.6% of the sales growth, or $53.1 million, and the impact of net
favorable foreign exchange rates year-over-year, which provided
3.1%, or $102.7 million, of the sales growth. Foreign exchange
gains resulted from the weak dollar against nearly all major foreign
currencies, with the majority of the gain resulting from the stronger
euro and the Canadian dollar. Fifieen small acquisitions accounted
for 3.4% of the growth in net sales over fiscal 2007, while the loss
of the revenue related to our Bondo divestiture during fiscal 2008
represented a negative impact of 1.2% of net sales from fiscal 2007,

for a net acquisition impact of 2.2% of the growth in net sales over
fiscal 2007, or $74.2 million.

Industrial segment net sales, which comprised 64.9% of fiscal 2008
net sales, totaled $2.37 billion, growing 12.6% from $2.10 billion
during fiscal 2007. This segment’s net sales growth resulted from the
combination of 11 small acquisitions, which contributed 3.7%, plus
organic sales growth, which accounted for 8.9% of the increase,
including 2.2% from pricing and 3.9% from net favorable foreign
exchange differences. The strong organic sales improvements in

the industrial segment resulted from growth in most international
businesses, polymer flooring, protective coatings and roofing. Much
of this growth resulted from ongoing industrial and commercial
maintenance and improvement activities, primarily in Europe and
North America, but also in Latin America and other regions of the
world. There was also a slight increase in new construction in certain
of those sectors, which also contributed to increased revenues in

the period. In order to offset the weakness in the economy, which
was beginning to impact cerfain sectors of our domestic construction
markets, we continued to secure new business through our strong
brand offerings, high level of service and technical support, new
product innovations and international expansion.

Consumer segment net sales, which comprised 35.1% of fiscal 2008
net sales, increased 3.2% to $1.28 billion from $1.24 billion during
fiscal 2007. This segment's net sales growth resulted primarily from
organic sales improvements, which provided 3.4% of the net sales
growth, including 0.6% from pricing and 1.6% from net favorable
foreign exchange. Despite weakening economic conditions, this
segment was able fo grow organic sales by launching various

new product offerings, increasing market penetration at major

retail accounts, and refocusing efforts on our various repair and
maintenance products. Partially offsetting the organic growth in

net sales over the prior year in this segment was the impact of the
divestiture of our Bondo subsidiary during fiscal 2008, representing

a negative impact of 3.2% of consumer segment net sales compared
to fiscal 2007, which was partially offset by acquisitions for a 3.0%
increase in net sales over fiscal 2007, for a net negative impact of
0.2%, or $2.9 million.

Gross Profit Margin Consolidated gross profit improved to 41.1%
of net sales during fiscal 2008 from 40.8% during fiscal 2007.

While the cost of certain of our key raw materials remained higher
over the same period a year ago, such as epoxies, various solvents
and resins, we saw the costs of certain of our other key materials
stabilize versus the prior period, such as zinc and seedlac. The net

30 bps improvement in the gross profit margin during the fiscal year
primarily reflects the leverage of the 3.8% organic growth in net sales,
a favorable mix of product and operational improvements. Higher raw
material costs, which impacted the fiscal 2008 gross profit margin by
approximately 0.9% of net sales, or 90 bps, were offset by the impact
of selling price increases that were initiated throughout fiscal 2008.

Our industrial segment gross profit for the fiscal year improved to
42.2% of net sales from 42.1% of net sales fiscal 2007. This 10bps
improvement in this segment resulted from higher selling prices,
which were partially offset by certain continued higher raw material
costs during the year. In addition, productivity gains related to the
2.8% pure unit organic growth in sales and a favorable mix of sales
contributed to the improved gross profit margin in fiscal 2008.

Our consumer segment gross profit for the 2008 fiscal year improved
to 39.1% of net sales from 38.4% fiscal 2007. The leverage of the
1.2% pure unit growth in organic sales in this segment, combined
with a favorable sales mix, more than overcame certain higher raw
material costs during the year, resulting in a net improvement of

70 bps in the gross profit margin year-over-year.

SG&A Our consolidated SG&A expense levels for fiscal 2008
increased by 20 bps to 30.8% of net sales compared with 30.6%

for fiscal 2007. The increase mainly reflects additional expenditures
made to support the 3.8% organic growth in sales, including certain
employee-compensation-related expenses, in addition to certain higher
legal and auditrelated expenditures, which were partially offset by the
combination of the gain on the sale of our Bondo subsidiary during
fiscal 2008, certain favorable environmental accrual adjustments and
reductions in distribution and certain benefit-related costs.

Our industrial segment SG&A increased by 20 bps o 31.1% of net
sales in fiscal 2008 from 30.9% a year ago, reflecting principally
higher employment-related costs, legal and foreign exchange
expense, partially offset by the operating leverage related to this
segment’s 5.0% organic sales growth.

Our consumer segment SG&A as a percentage of net sales for fiscal
2008 increased by 60 bps to 26.5% compared with 25.9% for

fiscal 2007, reflecting certain higher employee-compensation costs
and additional expense related to environmental accruals. Partially
offsefting these costs was the combination of the $1.1 million gain on
the sale of our Bondo subsidiary during the second quarter of fiscal
2008, reductions in certain advertising and promotional expenditures,
and lower distribution expense year-over-year.

SG&A expenses reported in our corporate/other category decreased
during fiscal 2008 to $48.5 million from $49.8 million during fiscal
2007. This decrease is mainly the result of favorable environmental-
related accrual adjustments, foreign exchange gains, certain lower
employee compensation and pension-related benefit costs. Partially
offsetting these gains were higher legal and auditrelated costs, higher
insurance and other employment-related expenses, and additional
restricted stock activity under our Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan,
mostly related to accelerated vesting of grants for refirees.
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License fee and joint venture income of approximately $3.3 million and
$2.5 million for the years ended May 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively,
are reflecied as reductions of consolidated SG&A expenses.

We recorded total net periodic pension and postretirement benefit
cost of $18.6 million and $20.2 million for the years ended May 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively. This decreased pension expense of
$1.6 million was attributable to an improvement in the expected return
on plan assets of $3.6 million, a curtailment gain of $0.7 million
during the fiscal year, and fewer net actuarial losses recognized
during fiscal 2008 for $1.3 million. These gains were partly offset

by increased service and interest cost approximating $4.0 million.
We expect that pension expense will fluctuate on a yearto-year basis,
depending primarily upon the investment performance of plan assets
and potential changes in interest rates, but such changes are not
expected to be material to our consolidated financial results.

Asbestos Charge (Income) As described in Note |,
“Contingencies and Loss Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, we recorded pre-tax asbestos charges of $288.1 million
and $380.0 million during the fiscal years ended May 31, 2008
and 2006, respectively, in connection with the calculation of our
liability for unasserted-potential-future-asbestos-related claims by an
independent consulting firm. There was no related charge taken or
incurred during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2007; however, our
Bondex subsidiary reached a cash settflement of $15.0 million, the
terms of which are confidential by agreement of the parties, with
one of our former insurance carriers regarding asbestos-matters and
recorded the resulting settlement income during fiscal 2007. For
additional information, please refer to Note |, “Contingencies and
Loss Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Expense For the year ended May 31, 2008, interest
expense was $60.5 million versus $58.2 million during fiscal 2007,
for an increase of $2.3 million. This increase reflected the impact of
higher weighted-average net borrowings associated with acquisitions,
approximating $102.2 million during fiscal 2008, which increased
interest expense by approximately $6.5 million, along with additional
interest expense associated with increased borrowings, totaling

$1.5 million. However, lower interest rates, which averaged 5.25%
overall for fiscal 2008 compared with 5.59% for fiscal 2007,
reduced year-over-year interest expense by $4.6 million. Finally,
during fiscal 2007, we prepaid our 6.61% Senior Notes, Series B,
due November 15, 2006, and our 7.30% Senior Notes, Series C,
due November 15, 2008, which included a nonrecurring $1.1 million
make-whole payment.

Investment Expense (Income), Net Net investment income

of $13.5 million during fiscal 2008 compares to fiscal 2007 net
investment income of $11.2 million. Interest income for fiscal 2008
amounted to $9.4 million versus $5.2 million during fiscal 2007.
Additionally, dividend and interest income totaling $2.3 million during
fiscal 2008 compares with $1.8 million of income during fiscal 2007.
Net realized gains on the sales of investments totaled $3.2 million

for the year ended May 31, 2008 versus $4.2 million for fiscal
2007. Additionally, there were impairments recognized on securities
that management determined to be other-thantemporary declines

in value, which approximated $1.4 million for fiscal 2008, with no
corresponding charge incurred during fiscal 2007.

IBT Our consolidated IBT for fiscal 2008 declined by $268.5 million,
or 87.3%, to $39.0 million from $307.5 million fiscal 2007, for a
1.1% margin on net sales versus 9.2% a year ago. This decline in
margin on sales results from the $288.1 million pre-tax asbestos-
related liability increase during fiscal 2008, and the prior-year

$15.0 million pre-tax, asbestos-related insurance settlement.

RPM Intemational Inc. and Subsidiaries

Industrial segment IBT improved by $26.3 million, to $259.5 million
from fiscal 2007°s $233.1 million, as a result of the favorable
growth in organic sales, offset partially by higher foreign exchange
losses, legal expenses and compensation-related costs. Consumer
segment IBT improved by $4.3 million, to-$155.8 million from
$151.5 million in fiscal 2007, as a net result of the favorable impact
of acquisitions and the gain on the sale of Bondo, offset partially

by certain higher compensation-related costs and unfavorable
environmental-related accruals.

For a reconciliation of IBT to EBIT, see the Segment Information table
located on page 25 of this Annual Report.

Income Tax Rate The effective income tax benefit rate was 22.2%
for the year ended May 31, 2008 compared fo an effective income
tax expense rate of 32.3% for the year ended May 31, 2007.

For the year ended May 31, 2008 and, to a lesser extent, for the
year ended May 31, 2007, the effective tax rate differed from

the federal statutory rate due to decreases in the effective tax rate
principally as a result of the impact of certain foreign operations

on our U.S. taxes, U.S. tax benefits associated with the domestic
manufacturing deduction and lower effective tax rates in certain of
our foreign jurisdictions. In addition, for the year ended May 31,
2008, the effective tax rate decreased as a result of the reversal of
$2.1 million of the valuation allowances associated with foreign tax
credit carryovers. Furthermore, during the year ended May 31, 2008,
various foreign taxing jurisdictions enacted new tax laws, including
income tax rate reductions, which resulted in a onettime decrease in
the effective tax rate of $2.8 million. The year ended May 31, 2007
was impacted by a decrease in the effective tax rate as a result of a
onedime benefit relating to the resolution of prior-year’s tax liabilities.

For the years ended May 31, 2008 and May 31, 2007, the decreases
in the effective tax rates were partially offset by valuation allowances
associated with losses incurred by certain of our foreign businesses,
state and local income taxes, and other non-deductible business
operating expenses. In addition, the decreases in the effective tax rate
for the year ended May 31, 2007 were further offset by valuation
allowances associated with foreign tax credit carryforwards.

Net Income Net income of $47.7 million for the year ended May 31,
2008 compares to $208.3 million in fiscal 2007, for a net margin

on sales of 1.3% and 6.2% for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively.
The decline from the prior year reflects the $185.1 million aftertax
asbestos-related liability adjustment taken during the fourth fiscal
quarter of 2008. Also, the prior-year figures reflect the combination

of a onetime gain of $2.1 million relating to the setflement of prior-
years' tax liabilities and income of $9.7 million (aftertax) related to the
impact of an asbestos-related cash settlement received from one of the
defendant insurers during fiscal 2007, as previously discussed.

Reflected in net income for fiscal 2008 is the combination of the
operating leverage related to our 3.8% organic sales growth, the
impact of favorable acquisitions throughout the year and the net
impact of higher selling prices offsetting certain increased raw
material costs. Diluted earnings per share of common stock for fiscal
2008 declined by 76.2% to $0.39 from $1.64 for fiscal 2007.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating Activities

Operating activities provided cash flow of $267.0 million during
fiscal 2009 compared with $234.7 million of cash flow provided
during fiscal 2008, an increase of approximately 13.8%.



Net income, adjusted for non-cash expenses and income, decreased
by approximately $117.3 million versus last year, but was more than
offset by cash generated from decreases primarily in working capital.
A lower trade accounts receivable balance at the end of fiscal 2009,
resulting from additional cash collections, provided $181.6 million in
cash versus last year's $55.1 million use of cash, or approximately
$236.7 million more cash year-over-year. Inventory reductions
provided $75.0 million of cash this year compared with a use of cash
of $28.4 million last year, or $103.4 million more cash year-over-
year. With regard to accounts payable, we used $130.0 million more
during fiscal 2009 compared fo last year, as a result of a change in
the timing of certain payments. Accrued compensation and benefits
used an additional $44.8 million versus the prior year, while other
accruals, including those for other shortterm and long-term items,
used an additional $26.1 million, due to changes in the timing of
such payments.

Cash provided from operations, along with the use of available credit
lines, as required, remain our primary sources of liquidity.

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures, other than for ordinary repairs and
replacements, are made to accommodate our continued growth to
achieve production and distribution efficiencies, to expand capacity
and to enhance our administration capabilities. Capital expenditures
of $55.0 million during fiscal 2009 compare with currentyear
depreciation of $62.4 million. Capital spending is expected to decline
to a level which will trail depreciation expense at least through fiscal
2010. Due to additional capacity, which has been brought on-line
over the last several years, we believe there is adequate production
capacity to meet our needs based on anticipated growth rates. Any
additional capital expenditures made over the next few years will
likely relate primarily to new products and technology.

Our captive insurance companies invest their excess cash in
marketable securities in the ordinary course of conducting their
operations, and this activity will continue. Differences in the amounts
related to these activities on a year-over-year basis are primarily
attributable to differences in the timing and performance of their
investments balanced against amounts required to satisfy claims.

At May 31, 2009, the fair value of our investments in marketable
securities totaled $83.3 million, of which investments with a fair
value of $43.6 million were in an unrealized loss position. At

May 31, 2008, the fair value of our investments in marketable
securities totaled $110.4 million, of which investments with a fair
value of $25.8 million were in an unrealized loss position. Total
pre-fax unrealized losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income at May 31, 2009 and May 31, 2008 were $3.8 million
and $1.7 million, respectively.

We regularly review our marketable securities in unrealized loss
positions in order to determine whether or not we have the ability and
infent to hold these investments. That determination is based upon
the severity and duration of the decline, in addition to our evaluation
of the cash flow requirements of our businesses. Unrealized losses

at May 31, 2009 were generally caused by the recent decline

in valuations in the financial sector and the volatility in the global
economy, specifically over the last nine months. If general economic
conditions were to continue to deferiorate, including continued
uncertainties surrounding the volatility in financial markets and the
viability of banks and other financial institutions, and if we were to
experience continuing or significant additional unrealized losses
within our portfolio of investments in marketable securities, we may
recognize additional otherthan-temporary impairment losses in future
periods. Such potential losses could have a material impact on our

results of operations. As such, we continue to closely evaluate the
status of our investments and our ability and intent to hold these
investments until their cost can be recovered.

Financing Activities

On April 7, 2009, we replaced our existing $125.0 million

accounts receivable securitization program, under which we had

no outstanding balance at February 28, 2009, and which was set

to expire on May 7, 2009, with a new, three-year, $150.0 million
accounts receivable securitization program (the “AR program”). The
AR program, which was established with two banks for certain of
our subsidiaries {"originating subsidiaries”), contemplates that the
originating subsidiaries will sell certain of their accounts receivable
to RPM Funding Corporation, a wholly-owned special purpose

entity {"SPE”), which will then transfer undivided interests in such
receivables to the participating banks. Once transferred to the SPE,
such receivables are owned in their entirety by the SPE and are

not available to satisfy claims of our creditors or creditors of the
originating subsidiaries until the obligations owing to the participating
banks have been paid in full. The transactions contemplated by the
new program do not constitute a form of off-balance sheet financing
and will be fully reflected in our financial statements. Entry into the
new program increased our liquidity by $25.0 million, but also
increased our financing costs due fo higher market rates. The amounts
available under the program are subject to changes in the credit
ratings of our customers, customer concentration levels or certain
characteristics of the underlying accounts receivable, and therefore at
cerfain times we may not be able to fully access the $150.0 million
of funding available under the AR program. At May 31, 2009,
approximately $147.9 million was available under this AR program.

On February 20, 2008 we issued and sold $250.0 million of 6.50%
Notes due February 15, 2018. The proceeds were used to repay

our $100.0 million Senior Unsecured Notes due March 1, 2008, the
outstanding principal under our $125.0 million accounts receivable
securitization program and $19.0 million in shortterm borrowings
under our revolving credit facility. This financing strengthened our
credit profile and liquidity position, as well as lengthened the average
maturity of our outstanding debt obligations.

On December 29, 2006, we replaced our $330.0 million revolving
credit facility with a $400.0 million five-year credit facility {the
“Credit Facility”). The Credit Facility is used for working capital needs
and general corporate purposes, including acquisitions. The Credit
Facility provides for borrowings in U.S. dollars and several foreign
currencies and provides sublimits for the issuance of letters of credit
in an aggregate amount of up to $35.0 million and a swing-ine of
up to $20.0 million for shortterm borrowings of less than 15 days.
In addition, the size of the Credit Facility may be expanded, subject
to lender approval, upon our request by up to an additional
$175.0 million, thus potentially expanding the Credit Facility to
$575.0 million.

On May 29, 2009, we entered into an amendment to our Credit
Facility agreement with our lenders. Under the amendment, we are
required to comply with various customary affirmative and negative
covenants. These include financial covenants requiring us to maintain
certain leverage and interest coverage ratios. The definition of

EBITDA has been amended to add back the sum of all (i} non-cash
charges relating to the writedown or impairment of goodwill and other
intangibles during the applicable period, (i} other non-cash charges
up to an aggregate of $25.0 million during such applicable period
and {iii) one-time cash charges incurred during the period from June 1,
2008 through May 31, 2010, but only up to an aggregate of not
more than $25.0 million during such applicable period. The interest
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coverage ratio is calculated at the end of each fiscal quarter for the
four fiscal quarters then ended. The minimum required consolidated
inferest coverage ratio, EBITDA to interest expense, remains 3.50
to 1 under the amendment, but allowance of the add-backs referred
to above has the effect of making this convenant less restrictive.
Under the terms of the leverage covenant, we may not permit our
consolidated indebtedness at any date to exceed 55% of the sum
of such indebtedness and our consolidated shareholders’ equity on
such date, and may not permit the indebtedness of our domestic
subsidiaries (determined on a combined basis and excluding
indebtedness to us and indebtedness incurred pursuant to permitted
receivables securitizations) to exceed 15% of our consolidated
shareholders’ equity. This amendment also added a fixed charge
coverage covenant beginning with our fiscal quarter ending

August 31, 2009. Under the fixed charge coverage covenant, the
ratio of our consolidated EBITDA for any four-fiscal-quarter-period to
the sum of our consolidated interest expense, income toxes paid in
cash (other than taxes on non-recurring gains), capital expenditures,
scheduled principal payments on our amortizing indebtedness
{other than indebtedness scheduled to be repaid at maturity) and
dividends paid in cash {or, for testing periods ending on or before
May 31, 2010, 70% of dividends paid in cash), in each case for
such fourfiscal-quarter period, may not be less than 1.00 to 1. This
amendment also includes a temporary, one-year restriction on certain
mergers, asset dispositions and acquisitions, and contains customary
representations and warranties.

We are subject to the same leverage, interest coverage and fixed
charge coverage covenants under the AR program as those contained
in our Credit Facility. On May 29, 2009, we also entered into an
amendment fo our AR program. Included in the amendment were the
same amendments to the definition of EBITDA, an identical reduction
in the maximum consolidated leverage ratio and the same fixed
charge coverage covenants as were included in our Credit Facility
amendment, as outlined above.

Our failure to comply with these and other covenants contained in the
Credit Facility may result in an event of default under that agreement,
entitling the lenders to, among other things, declare the entire amount
outstanding under the Credit Facility to be due and payable. The
instruments governing our other outstanding indebtedness generally
include cross-default provisions that provide that under certain
circumstances, an event of default that results in acceleration of our
indebtedness under the Credit Facility will entitle the holders of such
other indebtedness to declare amounts outstanding immediately due
and payable.

As of May 31, 2009, we were in compliance with all covenants
contained in our Credit Facility, including the leverage and interest

Contractual Obligations

Total Contractual

coverage ratio covenants. At that date, our leverage ratio was
44.9% and our interest coverage ratio was 5.66:1. Additionally, in
accordance with these covenants, at May 31, 2009, our domestic
subsidiaries indebtedness did not exceed 15% of consolidated
shareholders’ equity as of that date.

Our access to funds under our Credit Facility is dependent on the
ability of the financial institutions that are parties to the facility to meet
their funding commitments. Those financial institutions may not be
able to meet their funding commitments if they experience shortages
of capital and liquidity or if they experience excessive volumes of
borrowing requests within a short period of time. Moreover, the
obligations of the financial institutions under our Credit Facility are
several and not joint and, as a result, a funding default by one or
more institutions does not need to be made up by the others.

We are exposed to market risk associated with interest rates. We
do not use financial derivative instruments for trading purposes,

nor do we engage in foreign currency, commodity or interest rate
speculation. Concurrent with the issuance of our 6.7% Senior
Unsecured Notes, RPM United Kingdom G.P. entered into a cross
currency swap, which fixed the inferest and principal payments in
euros for the life of the 6.7% Senior Unsecured Notes and resulted
in an effective euro fixed rate borrowing of 5.31%. In addition to
hedging the risk associated with our 6.7% Senior Unsecured Notes,
our only other hedged risks are associated with certain fixed debt,
whereby we have a $163.7 million notional amount interest rate
swap contract designated as a fair value hedge to pay floating rates
of interest, based on six-month LIBOR that matures in our fiscal year
ending May 31, 2010. Because critical terms of the debt and interest
rate swap match, the hedge is considered perfectly effective against
changes in fair value of debt, and therefore, there is no need to
periodically reassess the effectiveness during the term of the hedge.

Our available liquidity, including our cash and cash equivalents
and amounts available under our committed credit facilities, stood
at $620.7 million at May 31, 2009. Our debt-tocapital ratio was
44.9% at May 31, 2009, compared with 48.6% at May 31, 2008.

During fiscal 2009, we called for redemption all of our outstanding
Senior Convertible Notes due May 13, 2033. Prior to the redemption,
virtually all of the holders converted their Senior Convertible Notes
into shares of our common stock. For additional information, refer to
Note B, “Borrowings,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table summarizes our financial obligations and their
expected maturities at May 31, 2009 and the effect such obligations
are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in the periods
indicated.

Payments Due In

{In thousands) Payment Stream 2010 2011-12 2013-14 After 2014
Longterm debt obligations $ 930,842 $ 168,547 $ 160,888 $ 201,508 $ 399,899
Capital lease obligations 3,186 559 990 879 758
Operating lease obligations 166,862 38,738 49,773 25,984 52,367
Other long-term liabilities!":

Interest payments on long-term debt obligations 258,665 39,502 76,287 63,787 79,089

Contributions to pension and postretirement plans® 340,400 20,500 61,400 81,500 177,000
Total $ 1,699,955 $ 267,846 $ 349,338 $ 373,658 $ 709,113

{1) Excluded from other long-erm liabilities is our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which totaled $4.7 million at May 31, 2009. Currently, we cannot predict
with reasonable reliability the timing of cash settlements to the respective taxing authorities.

{2) These amounts represent our estimated cash confributions to be made in the periods indicated for our pension and postretirement plans, assuming no actuarial gains
or losses, assumption changes or plan changes occur in any period. The projection results assume $10.8 million will be contributed to the U.S. plans in fiscal 2009;
all other plans and years assume the required minimum contribution will be contributed.
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The condition of the U.S. dollar fluctuated throughout the year, and
was moderately stronger against other major currencies where

we conduct operations at the fiscal year end versus the previous
year end, causing an unfavorable change in the accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) (refer to Note A) component of
stockholders’ equity of $99.5 million this year versus a favorable
change of $55.9 million last year. The change in fiscal 2009 was
in addition to net changes of ${16.6) million, ${4.6) million and
${12.1) million related to adjustments required for minimum pension
and other postretirement liabilities, unrealized gains on derivatives
and unrealized gains on securities, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet financings, other than the
minimum leasing commitments described in Note F, “Leases,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. We have no subsidiaries that are
not included in our financial statements, nor do we have any interests
in or relationships with any special purpose entities that are not
reflected in our financial statements.

QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates because we fund our operations
through long- and shortterm borrowings and denominate our
business fransactions in a variety of foreign currencies. We utilize a
sensitivity analysis to measure the potential loss in earnings based
on a hypothetical 1% increase in interest rates and a 10% change
in foreign currency rates. A summary of our primary market risk
exposures follows.

Interest Rate Risk

Our primary interest rate risk exposure results from our floating rafe
debt, including various revolving and other lines of credit [refer to
Note B, “Borrowings”). At May 31, 2009, approximately 35.7% of
our debt was subject to floating inferest rates.

I inferest rates were to increase 100 bps from May 31, 2008 and,
assuming no changes in debt from the May 31, 2009 levels, the
additional annual interest expense would amount to approximately
$3.3 million on a pre-tax basis. A similar increase in interest rates
in fiscal 2008 would have resulted in approximately $3.3 million in
additional interest expense.

Our hedged risks are associated with certain fixed-rate debt whereby
we have a $163.7 million notional amount interest rate swap contract
designated as a fair value hedge to pay floating rates of interest
based on six-month LIBOR that matures in fiscal 2010. Because
crifical terms of the debt and interest rate swap match, the hedge

is considered perfectly effective against changes in the fair value

of debt, and therefore, there is no need to periodically reassess the
effectiveness during the term of the hedge.

All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet and
measured at fair value. Changes in the fair values of derivative
instruments that do not qualify as hedges and/or any ineffective
portion of hedges are recognized as a gain or loss in our
Consolidated Statement of Income in the current period. Changes in
the fair value of derivative instruments used effectively as fair value
hedges are recognized in earnings {losses}, along with the change
in the value of the hedged item. Such derivative transactions are
accounted for under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended and interpreted. We
do not hold or issue derivative instruments for speculative purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our foreign sales and results of operations are subject to the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations (refer to Note A, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies”). As most of our foreign operations are in
countries with fairly stable currencies, such as Belgium, Canada,
France, Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, this
effect has not generally been material. In addition, foreign debt is
denominated in the respective foreign currency, thereby eliminating
any related translation impact on earnings.

If the U.S. dollar continues to weaken, our foreign results of operations
will be positively impacted, but the effect is not expected to be
material. A 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would not
have resulted in a material impact to net income for the years ended
May 31, 2009 and 2008. We do not currently hedge against the risk
of exchange rate fluctuations.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The foregoing discussion, Mr. Sullivan’s letter and certain other
sections of this report contain “forward-looking statements” relating

to our business. These forward-looking statements, or other statements
made by us, are made based on our expectations and beliefs
concerning future events impacting us, and are subject to uncertainties
and factors [including those specified below), which are difficult to
predict and, in many instances, are beyond our control. As a result,
our actual results could differ materially from those expressed in or
implied by any such forward-looking statements. These uncertainties
and factors include (a) global markets and general economic
conditions; (b} the price, supply and capacity of raw materials,
including assorted pigments, resins, solvents and other natural gas-
and oilbased materials; packaging, including plastic containers; and
transportation services, including fuel surcharges; (c) continued growth
in demand for our products; {d) legal, environmental and litigation
risks inherent in our construction and chemicals businesses and risks
related to the adequacy of our insurance coverage for such matters;
(e) the effect of changes in inferest rates; () the effect of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates upon our foreign operations; (g} the effect of
non-currency risks of investing in and conducting operations in foreign
countries, including those relating to domestic and infernational
political, social, economic and regulatory factors; {h) risks and
uncerfainties associated with our ongoing acquisition and divestiture
activities; (i) risks related to the adequacy of our contingent liabilities,
including for asbestos-related claims and warranty obligations; and

(i) other risks detailed in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, including the risk factors set forth in our Annual Report
on Form 10K for the year ended May 31, 2009, as the same may
be updated from time to time. We do not underiake any obligation

to publicly update or revise any forwardooking statements to reflect
future events, information or circumstances that arise after the date of
the filing of the report containing such statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{In thousands, except per share amounts)

May 31 2009 2008
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 253,387 $ 231,251
Trade accounts receivable (less allowances of $22,934 in 2009
and $24,554 in 2008) 638,659 817,241
Inventories 406,175 476,149
Deferred income taxes 44,540 37,644
wlirepoid expenses and other current assets 210,155 221,690
Total current assets ) 1,552,916_ 1,783,975
Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost
Land 33,836 33,299
Buildings and leasehold improvements 305,927 302,375
Machinery and equipment 716,792 719,045
1,056,555 1,054,719
Less allowance for depreciation and amortization 586,452 - 556,998
Property, plant and equipment, net 470,103 497,721
Other Assets
Goodwill 856,166 908,358
Other intangible assets, net of amortization 358,097 384,370
Deferred income taxes, non-current 92,500 88,754
Other 80,1 39 100,389
Total other assets 1,386,902 1,481,871
Total Assets $ 3,409,921 $ 3,763,567
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 294,814 $ 411,448
Current portion of long-term debt 168,547 6,934
Accrued compensation and benefits 124,138 151,493
Accrued loss reserves 77,393 71,981
Asbestos-related liabilities 65,000 65,000
Other accrued liabilities 119,270 139,505
Total current liabilities 849,162 ] 846,361
Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term debt, less current maturities 762,295 1,066,687
Asbestos-related liabilities 425,328 494,745
Other long-term liabilities 205,650 192,412
Deferred income taxes 23,815 26,806
Total long-term liabilities 7 1,471 71(288 1,780,650
Total liabilities 2,266,250 2,627,011
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.01; authorized 50,000 shares; none issued
Common stock, par value $0.01; authorized 300,000 shares;
issued and outstanding 128,501 as of May 2009;
issued and outstanding 122,189 as of May 2008; 1,285 1,222
Paid-in capital 780,967 612,441
Treasury stock, at cost (50,453} (6,057)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (31,557) 101,162
Retained earnings 443,429 427,788
Total stockholders’ equity 1,143,671 1,1 36,556___
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 3,409,921 $ 3,763,567

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

{Inthousanids, except per share amotnts)

Year Ended Moy 31 2009 2008 2007
Net Sales $3,368,167 $ 3,643,791 $3,338,764
Costof Sales 2,015,078 2,145,254 1,978,312
Gross Profit 1,353,089 1,498,537 1,360,452
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 1,096,505 V124,419 1,020,884
Asbestos Charges' [Setflement Income)] 288,100 {15,000)
Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset Impairments 15,462
Interest Expense 54,460 60,476 58,237
nvestment Expense {Income}, Net 5,794 (13,512} {11,204)
Income. Before fncome Taxes 180,868 39,054 307,535
Provision {Benefil] for lncome Taxes 61,252 (8,655) 99,246
Met Income $ 119,616 $. 47,709 $..208,289
Average Number of Shores of Common Stock Ouistanding

Basic 126,373 T20,151 118,179

Diluted 128,255 130,539 128,711
Earnings per Share of Common Stack

Basic $ 0.95 $ 040 $ 1.76

Diluted $ 0.93 $ 0.39 $ 1.64
Cash Dividends Declared per Share of Commaon Stock $ 0.790 $ 0. 745 $ 0.685

The secompanying Notes 1o Consoliduied Financial Staterents oreon infegrol partof fhese fincrcial stalements:

salineand Subsididnes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{in thousands)

Year Ended May 31 2009 2008 2007
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income $ 119,616 $ 47,709 $208,289
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 62,379 62,238 59,256
Amortization 22,765 23,128 22,351
Goodwill and other intongible asset impairments 15,462
Otherthantemporary impairments on marketable securities 15,062 1,409
Provision for asbestosvelated liabilities 288,100
Deferred income taxes 1,136 {73,888) 32,740
Other 6,692 11,753 ?,595
Changes in assets and liabiliies, net of effect
from purchases and sales of businesses:
[increase) decrease in receivables 181,617 [55,056) (75,185)
(Increase) decrease in inventory 75,014 (28,361} [23,864)
(increase} decrease in prepaid expenses and other
current and long-ferm assets 18,024 [5,858) (17,777)
Increase {decrease) in accounts payable (119,327) 10,654 37,656
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation and benefits (29,039) 15,810 (4,335)
Increase (decrease) in accrued loss reserves 5167 (5,382) 6,501
Increase [decrease) in other accrued liabilities (11,695) 14,426 54,879
Payments made for asbestos-related claims (69,417) (82,623) [67,017)
Other [26,461) 10,657 {40,784)
Cash From Operating Activities 266,995 234,714 202,305
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (54,986} [71,840) [70,393)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired [16,669) {123,130) {124,154)
Purchase of marketahle securities [75,410) {110,225) [96,695)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 65,862 92,383 78,530
Proceeds from sale of assets and businesses 852 46,544 1,516
Other (1,196) (2,946) 2,945
Cash {Used For} Investing Activities (81,547) (169,214 (208,251)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Additions to longterm and shortterm debt 56,816 251,765 153,516
Reductions of longerm and shortterm debt (51,412) (181,074) [53,560)
Cash dividends {101,836} (90,638) (82,106)
Repurchase of stock [45,360) (6,057}
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 131 3,792 1,549
Exercise of stock options 3,057 10,689 25,833
Cash From {Used For) Financing Activities {138,604} {11,523) 45,232
Effect of Exchange Rete Changes on Cash and
Cash Equivalents (24,708]) 18,258 11,114
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 22,136 72,235 50,400
Cash and Cash Equivalents af Beginning of Yeor 231,251 159,016 108,616
Cash and Cash Equivelents at End of Year $ 253,387 $ 231,251 $ 159,016
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flows Information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 51,316 $ 58,650 $ 57,929
Income faxes $ 62,930 $ 59,978 $ 51,971
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing
and Financing Activities:
Stock-based compensation activity $ 8,008 $ 13,396 $ 10,509
Debt from business combinations $ 20 $ 0 4,314 $ 7,828
Issuance of stock for convertible-bond redemption $ 150,612 $ $
The accompanying Note ted Financial Statements cre an mic:sgrft% it of these-financial siatements,




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

{In-thousands)
Common Stock Ac%ﬁ\ﬁ?md
Number Par/ Comprehensive
ofi ‘Steited] Pasichin Treasury Income Retained
: : Shares . Valie Capital Stock (Loss) Earnings Total
Balance at June 1, 2006 118,743 § 1,087 $ 545422 % S8 29,839 $ 349,493 $ 925941
Comprehensive iricome : 8
Net income 208,289 208,289
Translation gain and other 37,580 37,580
Comprehensive income 245,869
Impact of adoption of SFAS
No. 158, net of taxes of $22,468 (42,279 42,279)
Dividends paid (82,106} {82,108)
Stock option exercises, net 1,798 18 25815 25,833
Stock based compensation expense 5,862 5,862
Restricted stock awards; net 365 4 7,746 7,750
Balance at May 31, 2007 120,906 1,209 584,845 - 25,140 475,676 1,086,870

Impact of adoption of measurement

date provisions of SFAS No. 158:
Net periodic benefit cost for the period

March 1, 2007 - May 31, 2007,

net of faxes of $1,722 [3,270) (3,270
Change in fair value and benefit

obligation from March 1, 2007

May 31, 2007, net of taxes of $6,203 11,658 11658
Impact of adoption of FIN-No. 48 {1,689} (1,689
Beginning Bolance, as adjusted 120,906 1,209 584,845 - 36,798 470,717 1,093,569
Comprehensive income
Netincome 47,709 47,709
Translation gainand other 64,364 64,364
Comprehensive income 112,073
Dividends paid {90,638} (90,638)
Stock option exercises, net 750 8 10,665 10,673
Stock based compensation expense 5,239 5,239
Restricted stock awards, net 533 5 11,692 (6,057) 5,640
Balance at May 31,2008 122,189 1,222 612,441 (6,057) 101,162 - 427,788 1,136,556
Impact of adoption of EITF 06-4 {2,139) {2,139)
Beginning Bolance, as adjusted 122,189 1,222 612,441 (6,057} 101,162 425,649 1,134,417
Comprehensive income
Net income 119,616 119,616
Translation gain and other (132,719) {132,719
Comprehensive income (loss) (13,103)
Dividends paid {(101,836)  (101,836)

Issuance of stack for convertible bond
redemption, including deferred

tax benefit of $7,174 8,030 80 157,706 157,784
Shares repurchased [2,355) {24) (43,345} (43,369)
Stack option exercises, net 254 2 3,041 (82) 2,961
Stock based compensation expense 2,743 2,743
Restricted stock awards, net 383 5 5,036 (969) 4,072

Balance at May 31, 2009 128,501 $1,285 $780,967 $(50,453) $(31,557) $443,429 §$1,143,671

The accompanying Nofes io Corsolidaled Finarcial Statements are an infegral port of these financial sidtements.
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During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2009, we camp}eted ?csur

acquisitions, all of which report ?hmugh ourindustria

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
lation and Bosis m‘ Prosent mmm
Our financial statements cor&&mhdam all of our affiliates. We aceount
less ihcn-mmom’y .owned joint ventures under the
equity method. Effects of ransactions between re(ofed companies are
/ / segment. The acqmred product lines and assets includsd the
istori following: a distributor of flooring and joint sealants based in-
Switzerland: a contracior for insulation and air leckage control based
in Conada; an industrial and commercial flooring products company

based in South Africa; and various tangible and intangible assets
related to constructiondype metering equipment. During the fiscal
year ended May 31, 2008, we completed nine acquisitions, the
it i e se
Chile, a decorative
5 @ seclom?

1 Ganse
maijority of which répaff through our industrial repertable segment
The acquired product lines and assets included a specialty coatings

fér our investments in
Our busme&s is dependent on external weather factors. Historically,

ahmmdfad in consolidation.
we have experienced strong sales and net income in our first, second
and fourth fiscal quarters comprised of the three-month periods ending
August 31, November 30 and May 31, respectively, with weaker

cancrat& system manufactur

performance in our third fiscal quarter [December thmugh F‘ebmary}
© provider for industrial and marine applications in Scandinavia, o
supplier for window assembly | mar ’
The purchase price for each acquisition has been dllocoied fo the

manufacturer of concrete admixtur pr@d

and o manufacturer of high-perf mmnc:a f
preliminary, estimated fair values of the assefs acquired and. liabilities

Certain reclassifications have been made fo pnor«year amounts fo
assumed as of the date of acquisition. These dequisitions hm{e Eaan

conform fo this year’s presentation,
The preparation of fmam:ml afatemams in cmnfmm:ty wntb (zanemily
Accepted Accounting Principles (G}AAW) in the United States requires
us to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities ot
the date of the financial statements, and reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual resuifs could differ
i ihc;se astimetes. aggregated by year of purchase in the Fo%fawmg table:
. ~ Fiscal 2009 Acquisitions = i Fisenl 2008 Acqui stf fons
Weighted-Average We hteci Average :
Intangible Assef _ Intangible Asset /
: Amortization Life © - Amortization Life F
fin fhe)usandé:)' {In Years) Total [In Years) cha% -
Current assets $ 6,806 - $ 70921
Property, plant and equipment 870 pe 13,637
Goodwill N/A 8,487 e N/A 61,917
Tradenames — indefinite iivesg N/A 1,083 NJA 13,061
Other infangible assets 8 3,183 e .
Other longferm assets , 296 L o 10,088
Total Assets Acquired Lo $ 20,925 L
Liabilities assumed (4,659) (68, 985)
Net Ass’ets’ Acquired $ 16,266 5135 4@5
Duting fiscal 2008, we completed the sale of our Bondo subsidiary, 41 Crtency
formerly one of our consumer segment product lines, fo an outside The functional cutrancy for sach of our forsign subsidiaries is its local
| odad currency. Accordingly, for the periods presented, assets and Ii abilities
: T have been translated using exchange rates of yeor end, while income
and expense for the periods have been 'rram%a%ad using a weegﬁfecf
average exchange rate. e
The resulting franslation adjustments have been r@cardad o
accumulated other camprahenswe income. (leas) @ wmp@nentm‘
m‘::zckholders equity, and will be included in net earnings only upon
the sale or liguidation of the undertymg foreign investment, neither of

third parfy. Sale proceeds of $45.0 million generated o onetime,
predax net gain of $1.1 million, which was included in SG&A
expense for fiscal 2008, The reported amount of the gain is net of
approximately $4.2 million of ransactionselated costs, including
$1:5 million for inveluntary employee terminations and related costs,
approximately $1.6 million in adjustments for product refurns and
lion for closing
baem immaterial durmq the past #hma ftsccd years.

product liability accruals, cmd ag:e{amxtma?eiy $1.0 mil
Our Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the resuls of opemhcms which s com&mpluted ot this fime. Transaction QG%M e:md losses have

costs and other fees
of acquired businesses as of their respective dates of acquisition,
Proforma results of operations for the years ended May 31, 2009

and May 31, 2008 were not materially different frcum repor%ed results

and, c:csnsequenﬂy, are not presented.
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Accumuioted other comprehensive income {loss} consists of the Fol[@wxng components:

Pensian ,
. and Other Unreolized - Unrealized
Foreign Pastretirement Gain [loss) Gain floss)
Currency Benelit Liability on on
_ : Trc:nsiaﬁcm - Adjustments, Derivatives, Secutities, :
{In thousands) '  Adjustments  Netof Tax MetobTax - Netof Tax Total
: Qahhte atlune 12006 8§ 45,045 516,192 511,999 § 2985 $ 29839
Reclassification adjustments for [gains] !osses ' '
included in net income , o , ' (2,774} (2,774)
Other comprehensive income : 25954 1974 7,850 12,180 47,958
Defetrad taxes ' ' 11.317) 12540 (3,747) - {7604)
Impact of adopling SFAS Mo, 158, net of taxes of $22 468 42,279 o 42,279
Bolance ot May 31, 2007 o , 70,999 {57 814) 3,311 8644 25140
Impoct of ddc:p%%on of SEAS Mo, 158 for change in fair ' ' ' '
 value and benefit obligation from March 1, 2007 ~ ' ,
May 31, 2007, net of toxes of $6,203 , : 11,658 ’ 11,658
Balance af May 31, 2007, as odjusted . . 70,999 {46,156) 3811 8644 36,798
Reclassification ad;usfmems f@r (gams) Eosses includad ' o -
in netincome , : , ' , {882 [882)
Other comprehensive income (Eoss} ’ , 55857 {1.433) 7195 7.Baz 69,461
Deferred taxes o . D46 (2. 404) 2757 14215)
~ Balance ot MG\/ 31,2008 . : 126,856 {46,643] 8,102 12,847 101162
Reclassification adjustments for losses included
in net income, nef of tax of $3,989 9,682 9 682
Other comprehensive [foss) (99,458) (26,401 (6,871) (32,475) (165,205)
Deferred taxes 2,842 2,283 10,679 22,804
Balonce at May 31, 2009 $ 27,398 $(63,202) $3,514 $ 733 $(31,557)
%g Coreh o f»é ?&swiwﬁwz’ﬁv

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, we constder all highly liquid debt instruments purchased wn‘h o moturily of three manths of less fo be
 cash squivalents. We do not believe we are exposed fo any si gmfxc:cm? credit risk on cash and cush equivalents. The carrying amounts of cash

and cc:sh equivalents approximate fair value.

dbie Suduniting

The f@l!awmg tables summarize markelable securities held at Mcxy 31, 2009 and 2008 by assel fype:

Ayaxiab%e»?cr&mle Securities

Eshimated

- Gross Gmés - Fair Value
, o Amottized Unrealized Unrealized . [Met Carrying
I thovsands) Cost Gains Losses Amountl
May 31, 2009
Equity securities:
Stocks $ 36,475 $ 1,949 $ (2,686) $ 35738
Mutual funds 21,321 804 {963) 21,162
Total equity securities 57,796 2,753 [3,649) 56,900
Fixed maturity:
U.S. treasury and other government 2,164 258 {7) 2,415
Corporate 16,075 1,028 (117 16,986
Total fixed maturity securities 25,239 1,286 [124) 26,401
$ 4,039 $ {3,773

Total $ 83,035

$ 83,301




ie Securities

Estimated

_ , Gross " Gré#s Fait Value
’ ' Amartized Unrealized: Unrealized {Net Carrying
. (!n tﬁousands} ’ - Cés’f . Gains Losses -~ Amount]
May 31,2008 . '
Equity securifiss: o , '
 Stocks $ 40274 s es00 3 1084 $ 57740
iiiiii M mufgcx ﬁmds . ¥8,4OT : 2,020 - {41g) ’ 20 008
Total equity securities 58,675 20,520 {1,452} 77743
 Fixed moturity: , ' o o S
U5, heasury and other gcvemm@nt 19,934 394 o 95l 20,233
: Corp@rc:’re . : o , 12480 144 (200} 12424
Total f ﬁxed mafumy secur] ities 3241 ' 538" , 295} 32,657
Totel $ 9108 $ 21,058 o} (1, 74?)~ : $ncmoo;:

,Markembie securmes inc udecf in oﬁner current and iongmierm asse?s

are composed of availableforsale securifies and are reported at

foir value. Realized gains ond losses on sales of invesiments are
 recognized in net income on the specific identification basis. Changes
_ in the fair values of serurities that are considered femporary are
 recorded as unredlized gains and losses, nei of applicable taxes, in
_accumulated other comprehensive | ncome {oss) within s?ockhoiders
equity. Otherthanemporary declines in market value from original

. costare reflected in operating income in the period | itr which the

unrealized losses are deemed other than temporary. In orderto
 determine whether an thea’r%hanktempamry decline in market volue
has occurred. the duration of the decline in volue and our ability fo
 hol d the mvesfmem are con31dered in conjunction wi ith an evcz!uc:st:en

of fhe s’freregth of the vnder!ymg cc)%iatera “xd the} extent to which
the investment's amortized cost or cost, as appropr ate, exceeds its

'  related mcrkei value.

. Gross gains and fasses regli zed on sales of mvcesfmems were
~ $4.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively, for the yeof erded
 May 31,2009 Gross gains and losses realized on sales of
investments were $5.7 million and $2.5 million, respecti ively, for
 the year ended May 31, 2008. During the fiscal years ended
May 31,2009 and 2008, we recognized losses of $15.1 million
and $1.4 million, respectively, for s@cum jes deemed fo heve othar '
thander np@mry impoirments. ' '

- Summaﬂmd below are the securities we held at May 31, 2009 and 2008 ’thc:;% were in an unrealized loss posmoﬁ mciuderj in dcmmu!cﬁed

. othez comprehens ive income, aggregated by the engfh of tims the | nvestmen%s had been in that posifion:

Moy 31,2009 qu_m , 2008
Gross , , Gross
. Fair Unrealized Fair Unredlized
' {}n fheumnds} . Value Losses Valve  losses
 Tokl mves?men?s with unreal ved losses ’ , o $ 43624 $ (3,773) 2§25 785 ' $ 11,747
Unredlized losses with a loss position for less than 12 months 43,013 {3,721) 24,730 {1,635)
_ Unreolized '!osse’zs"with a loss posiﬁon'for more than 12 months 611 Hiy

(52) 1,055

Iricluded 1o the ﬁcmrfas abave is our nvesiment in K@mmck ndustrtss, .

o which has o fair value of $9 2 million ond an unrealized loss of

$2.0 million ot Moy 31, 2009, At May 31, 2008, our investment

in Kemeock Industries had o fatir value of $20:9 million, and was in

an unredlized gain position. We have reviewed all of the securities

o mc(udec} in the foble above and have conc luded fhm we hava the

ability and infent fa hold these investments until their cost con be

_ recovered, based upon the severity and duration of the decline.
 Iherefors, we did nof recognize any further otherthantemporary.
impoirment losses on these Invesiments. Unrealized losses ot May 31,

2009 were generally caused by the racent decline in valuations in the
financial markets and the volatlity in the global seonomy, spec:i?im oo

over the last six jo nine months. If genetal ecanomic conditions

. wers fo codlinue 1o deferiorate, including continued uncerfainties

surrounding the volatility in Financial morkets and the viability of
banks and ofher financial instifutions, and if we were 1o experience
continuing or significant additional unrealized iosses within our
potifolio of investments in markefable securifies, we may recognize

_ additional otherthartemporary impairment losses. Such pcﬂenm{
losses could have o material impact on our results of operations |
any gwen reporting period: As such, we continue 16 closely evcfuate ,
the staius of our investments and our ab: ity and intent to hold
these mvestmanfs

The net carrying value of debt securifies at May 31, 2009 by contiactual maturity, are shown below, Expected moturities will differ from

 confractual maturities bacause the issuers of ‘rhe securifies may have the ﬁght to prepay obligations wtﬁwui prepaymeni pendliies.

Fair Value

"Duéz

, fin thousands} Amortized Cost

less thar one yac:r , ’ $ 1595 ' - £ 1645

One year through five y&ars 18az22 , 13,699

_ Six years through ten years 4045 ' 4230
. 6,827

, -Aﬁer fery y&ms

- § 25239 § 26,401




. Effechve; June 1, 2008 we adop?ed Smmmem of Fmancmi Acz:euntmg
 Standord No, 157 {”SFAS No. 1577}, "Fair Value Measurements.”

 SFAS No. 157 clarifies the definition of fuir value, asinblishes
a meewark for measuring fair value based on the inputs used
, fa measure fair vcﬂue cmd @xpunds ?he dss::l fai

‘smtemems Our Qd@pft ! .
expenence and mdmdua{ accounf bciances tdenttfted as dbubtfnl our financial assets and fiabilities did o hcwe o material Ipact on
- bo;sed on spec&c fcxcts cmd ccmdmons Recewable osses are cha ed' oo fm‘?“c“ﬁ “smtemems '

 SFAS No. 157 valuation fechniques are based on observable and
i unobservable inputs. Observoble inputs reflect rendi ly obtainable
 measured at fg it valie Chc}nggs i tha fmg values of /{ data from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect ¢
instruments that do not qualify as hecfges qr;df or any i ive _management’s markef assumptions. The fair value hierarchy has thres
portion of hedges are remgmzed as a gain Sino levels based on the reliability of the i ﬁpufs used to defefmme fair
Ccmse tdcrfed Swt@m@m Qf Income in tb dive, as f‘»’>"‘2>W$ o

flevef 1 lnpvfs F Quofed prxcea& for zde rtical msfmmems in activ
/ markets , ,

level 2 inputs e C;}ucz‘fsd prcces for simi is:zr insfruments in active
 markets: quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets
that are not active; and model-derived voluations whose inputs are

The cczrrymg amounf of o our dsbf ms%mmexﬁs approxemutes fair valy ”observuble or whoss significant valve dr e e Qbsarvabie .

ased on quoted market pnces vcndb{e mta:est mres or borrowmg '

:  level 3 (npq(s

We culfed these notes for
or fo Note B, ”Borrowmgs,

The foﬂcwmg fcxbla pmsems our assets and imblhhes thcﬁ

e measured ot fair value on o recurring bosis and are categorized using the fair
velue h!erarchy - . o ,

Quoted Prices in Siéniﬁcén‘t’@hﬁ . Sy‘gn?ﬁcaﬂf o
\clive Markets for ~ Observable Unobservable
identn:t:: Assets ' ' '

Fair Valoe o

(in fh@uwnds) : Mt:sy 33 2009
o Marke\‘able equily securities ¢ 56 900
Marketable debt securities 26,401
Interest rote swap 2,300
Crosscurrency swap/inferest rc:?sa swap (21 733)

Total

$ <;‘>3 868

interest rcxte fssk bemg hedged whzc h is USD. UBOR BBA As this rate
s observcxbla, but is ot & quoted price, we consider our interest rate
swap to be o Levei 2 asset under tha fair value hierarchy.

Our merk@%ﬁbﬁe securities are composed of mcmfy avmldh e&}r»
 sale securities, and are valued using a market approach br}sed on
. quoted market prices for identical insruments. The availabil ity
inputs observable in the market varies from instrument o instrument
ariety of factors including the type of insirument,
and other characteristics ,

f our financial instruments,
ible in e' mcrket the vmluchon

Our cross currem swo

ﬁoatmg fo euro ﬁxed rate; cmd e xe

_ atinception. Therefore, RPM essertially exchanged fixed payments

_ denominated in USD for fixed payments denomi nated in fixed euros,
paying fixed euros at 5.31% and receiving fixed USD ot 6.70%. The

ultimate payments are based on the notional principal amounts of

'TS(} million USD cmd appmxrmafaiy 125 million euros, There will be

doss not requsre sngm&wm manmgamem dx
other financial instruments, pricing inpufs are less obse
- mc:rket and may rsquxre managemenf ;udgme




an exc:h{mg& 0? the notional amounts at mafurity. The mtes included in
this swap are based upon observable market data, but are nof quoted
market prices, and therefore, the cross: currency swap is constderrad a
tevel 2 liahility on the fcz ir value hierarchy.

arket, cost being
amg:determmed on the
alue. Inventory costs

were cempased of the following major classes:

include raw mc:termfs ldbor (:md d;‘m&‘xcfurmg Qverhead Invanforias G

Moy 31 2009 2008
fin ?hou’s;jg&g / L
Raw materials and supplies $133,708  $ 151,400
Finished goods 272,467 324,749
Tatal ihvé’rylfcﬁ?s

$406,175  § 476,149

' Asse:fs," and accou far bus

the entities acquured are
acquisition date. Goodwill rep § the
paid over the fair value of net assets acquired, inc ucimg the amount
assigned to identifiable infangible assets.

We perform the required annual impairment a&se&ssmems as of the
first day of our fourth fiscal quarter, using o fair- value apprwc*h at
the reporting unit fevel. Our reporting unifs have been identified ot
the component level, or one level below our opermmg segmams
The annual goodwill impairment assessment involyes estimating the
fair value of each reporting unit and comparing it with ifs carrying
amount. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, additional steps are followed to determine and recognize,

it appropridte, an impairment loss: Caleulating the fair value of

the reporting units requires our significant use of estimates and
assumptions. We esﬂmaf@ ﬂ'\a air ve df our reporting units by
applying a combination of third:
 observable market data was availabl%

iscounted future cash

flows to each of our reporting unii's proj jected EBITDA. In applying fhii o

mefhcsdofogy, we rely on a number of factors, mc%udmg ucmci and
?orecasfed aperm‘mg results cmd market data: :

For the f;sca year ancieci Moy 31, 2009, our fmr vaiﬁe &atermmm ions
indicated a potential goodwill impaitment for one of our reporting
units. Therefore, a fair value estimate of each tangible and infangible
asset was esmbkshed This process required our sstimation of the

with the provnstans of SFAﬁ No. ible

discounted cash flows expected fo be generated by such asset in
addition to independent asset appraisals, as deemed c:pproféricﬁé :
Our cash flow estimates were based on our historical experience

and our internal busmess plans, and appropriate discount rates
were applied. This ?estmg resulted in an impairment charge related
o a reduchcr\ of %he carrymg vcﬂue of gwdwri in the amount of

year ended May a1, ; .
oft domestic
owcashflow

' ’Addmonaify, we fest af mdeﬂm%e hved mtcqub%e assets for - .

impairment annua {y The results of our annual impairment fest for
the fiscal year ended May 31, 2009 resultad in o reduction in the
carrying value of certain indefinitelived tradenames of $0. 5 million.

The impairment resulied from confinued slow sales msowmed wﬁh

the ongoing dec‘tmes in resi idential housing construction,

Should the futura earmngs and cash Hows ot our r@pertmg umts -
decline and/or discount rates increase; future impairment c:hafges :
to goodwill and cher intangi ible assets may be required. :

The results of our annual impoirment tests for the fiscal years

aﬂded May 31, 2008 and 2007 did not result in any ad ustment

he carryl ing value of goodwai! or indefinitelived mmngxble .

ge Sdv ;'rrﬁyrirgpc;mable

wgmanf; for the yedrs erded Mmy 1, 2009 and 2008, are
as follows: o ‘ L ' =

: Industiial  Consymer
{t thousands/ Seqgment Segf‘nem’ - ?i?{tﬁ’f/: -

lue mdscamrs, wh«an i

Balance asof =
June l, 2007

$ 423,172 $407,005

. $ &3@ 17?
Acquisitions, net
of divestitures : SH0958 (7!37"8} 53 5?5
Purchase accounting , '
adjustments!! 1621} 547 11 - {7’4)
Tmnslahon Qd;usfmemrs 21,054 3,626 24,680
Balonceasof ; a
 May 31,2008 504,558 ”éz”aa 800 908,358
" Acquisitions 8,687 8,687
: Purchase accounting
adjustments(’! 816 816
. Goodwill impairment
charged to operations (14,942) (14,242}
Translation adjustments {34,131} {12,622) (46,753}
Balance as of
May 31, 2009 $ 464,988 $391,178  §856,166

{1} Relates pr:mcmiym other aecruals and finalization of certain pmperty, plant
and equi pm%ﬁf ané m{fang:bles valuations.




_ Other intangible assefs consist of the FQH,@;WE;Q ri}aié;giasé:és:;f :

 Cross

. / , Impairment Bet Other
-  Anmotfization  Carrying Accumulated Charged to Intangible
{In thousands] Period {in Years)  Amount Amortization Opetations Assets
As of May 31, 2009
0 Amortized intangible assets
Formulae 410 33 $ 206,466 $ 104,882 $ $ 101,584
Customer-related intangibles 510 33 117,932 43,266 74,666
Trademarks/names 310 40 27,235 8,766 18,469
Other 1 to 40 38,974 23,007 15,967
Total Amortized Intangibles 390,607 179,921 210,686
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
Tradenames 147,931 520 147 411 3
Total Other Intangible Assets $ 538,538 $ 179,921 $ 520 $ 358,097 X
 As of May 31, 2008 .
_ Amortized infangible assets .- , G
Formuloe , . 41033 $203,084 $ 94,980 $ 108,104
 Customersslated intangibles . B3z 115980 36,436 78814 0 o
Trademarks/names . 51040 95 493 7,198 18,295
Other o 40 55,454 21324 34130
 Totdl Amottized !nfm‘xglbles o 399,281 159,938 239,343
145,027
%

544,308

The aggregata mtcmg!ble asset umomzmson expense for el
years ended Mcy 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $22{5 rmilmn /

years, we eshmme cmnucd mmngfb e asset e{m
related to our existing intangible assets t‘o dpprox
2010 $20 mi hcm 20171 — $19 million, 2012
2013 — $18 million and 2014 — $1?’mihon

Gﬂexpaase o
te the ¥aﬁ wmg

1 to 25 years

al for each fiscal penod includes the charges
to income fhm resuif me the amortization of mssers recorded under
 capital leases. , :

t é~//fo’725y’y4éqrs
3 10 50 years

12 Revenue Bechurition

. Revenues are recognized when realized of redlizable ond when

- earned. In general, this is when fifle and risk of loss puss to the
customer. Further, revenues are realizable when we have persuasive
,ewdenc:e of u sales arrangement the product has been shi p@d or the
~ senvices have been provided fo the customer, the sales price is fixed .
or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We reduce
: ourrevenues for ashm(}ted cusmmer returng und allowances, centain
o rebates, sales incentives, and promotions in fhe sgme panod the
related sales are recorded,

We also record revenues gerzemfed under 3ang Jorm construction

G reicﬁed cosls as our centmcts progres
~ economic results of coniract performance on & hmafuer basis fhan
does the complatedccm?mc% method; however, applxcaﬁcm ot thig

 method requires reasonably dependable estimates of progress toward

~_completion, as well as other dependable estimates. When reasmably
_dependable estimales cannot be made, of it other factors make

~ estimates doubtful, the completed contract method is applied. Under

~ the completed contract method, billings and costs are accumulated
~ on the balance sheet os the confract progresses, but no revenue Is

- recogmzed until the contract is complete or substantially complete.

s Hfé;?‘%"{g Cosls

g
. $1]9 1 rm!hcon respectively,




Advemsmg (:esis are chorged fo et}pam? jons wheﬁ mcarrecf and are - Mel nvesment axpense {mt:omej consists c;f the foll meg mmpe ents:

included in SG&A expenses. For the years ended May 31, 2009, Vedr Endod M 5 2009 2{} 5

2008 and 2007, advertising costs were ‘iifié 2 mtﬁri; $3‘? 9 million e '7)' - i

and $38.6 million, respecti ve%y o o thousands) e , e
o ;  Interest (mmma} S $ (5935 § @411 § (52

securifies - (1577) N [4,189)

',operanom, wh

incurred and are included in selling g@me}mi ahd administrative \ent on securifies ’ 15,062

expenses. The amounts charged to expense for the years ended o Dlodeid lincome) (1,756) (2,3 zﬂ) 1812

May 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were $40.1 mi !scm $AO million L e : e
d$34 ?- “ fval nvaesimen expen.?e S . o 2

ind $947 me eeeel, neomelnet § 5794 §013,512) $011,204)

{ge%gs ;

During fiscal 2009, we undertook vatious c:xc%zms o lower ?he fixed
cost base of certain of our businesses in response fo the current
sconomic environment, Asa result of these Cost reduction measures,
which have included personnel reductions, we have mcurred

the tax eﬁect caf? fempomfy di fferences 'bfaiwaen the fmmcsa¥ sfmetﬁem

empiwy@a separation costs of $20.3 million in predax charges. '  camying amournt of assets and liabilities and the amounts used for
We do not anticipate any further expenses in relation fo these  lncome tax purposes and for certein changes in valuation Ql%awmces
pmhcuk}r cost reduction inifiatives, Of the $20.3 million ineorr ed, ,\/cﬂ yation cllawances are recorded e reciuce  certain deferred %

$14 6 mrﬁ‘mn was related fo our industrial reportable. segment
| related fo our consy

: msh éosfs are reﬂecm W
Statements of lncome. At M v
other (zccwed liabilities in our Cﬁmm zdmeci Bmicxnﬁe Sheefs for these
initiatives fmaiad Gpproxzmatefy $5.2 mili lon, .

' wﬁhh@ dmg taxes that would result hc}d such earmngs actht f
practically determi nc;b :

"Wa mwsme stoe:k bcsed cc}mpensczfimn cost at %he da%e iqrcxm‘
We recognize the

_ av«amge
garnings per share &ulcu!ahon is based on %he weaghted«ave:raga
number o shures af common sfouk ou%smndmg ad;usted far the

cost ds expensa on ¢ sta ghri ine basis [nef of esﬂ
. over the reictted veshng period.

recognition provisio
* Based Compensation,” ] , \ ;
il unv&ﬁfga wads Gt the time Qg c;doptmn were | g rec:og‘ni:‘:ieed . pursuaﬂ% to the csssumed conversion of our ccmvert:bfe ﬁo*es Since Yhe ,
. : pofen? aliy dsiuﬁwa shares reimed to %he ccmvembie rotes are incl uded

not ma{g{teﬁysmpgxct our mpercﬁ ng; mcmme edrn
cash flows for any of the periods presented here
“Stock-Based Compensation.” for lurther discussio

r fe Note E th@y were cc:;nv'
’ﬂﬂf of mx, isqdd




- Con&o adc:%ed chme: al Sm?@ments

'The &Dﬁowmg ?c:ble sefs forth the compufc\t!on of bqsm and dduta{:i emmmgs per shma of f:ommm smck:, -

' :Yaar end&d Mmy 3? 2009 TZOOQ '
{in rhausanafs “excepl per share amaun : '
Shares Oufsmndmg , .
_ For computation of basic earni ngs psal share of common smck ’
‘‘‘‘‘‘ Wi gh’reci*mwggg?fﬁores — used for basic &ammgs per share 126,373 120151 g 179
For compum? on of diluted eczrmngs per share o common stoc:k - " - '
~ Met issuabls common shore equsvafems 1,041 2.355 9 498 ,
,  Additional shares ssmbe assuming convgaf;!on of conygrﬂfﬁi??e &ecurmes . 841 . 8033 8 934
ata) shoires for diluted eammgs per shcma ' 128,255 130,539 ( ’28 71
Net Income ' ' . -
Net mmme,appi u}b!e 1o shares of o common stc:ck for bus ic earnings per share 119616 $ 47709 $ 208,289
ome effect of contingently ssuc:b!e shares , 280 3065 3,085
, mpplwaia to shares of commm stock for di !uted ee:zmmgs ver sham o $119,894 . § 50, 774 3 21 1374
' Basic Ecxmmgs Per Share o? Common Stock . $ 095 8 DVAQ, 8 : 1.76
iufed Eommgs Per Share of Common Smck ' $ $ 0!'39, 5 i ‘64 '

0,93 -

SFAS No 758 "Emp!oyers Accountmg for Defmecﬁ Benef‘rf Peﬁs ion

 dnd Other Pastretirement Plans, an amendment of EASE Stm‘emenfs

Mo 87 88 306 ond 132(R},” requires an employer fo recognize o

sfatus provisions in our Consolidated Bolance Sheets s of May 31,

2007, Separately, SEAS No. 158 also requires empioyers io measure
 plon asseis and obligations of their fiscal yearend balance sheet dd’fe o
. We earlyadopled the measurement date provisions of SFAS No. 158
 for defined benefit pians as of June 1

, 2007, with the excepfion of
certain newly-added plans csaocm%ed with acquisitions comple eefed
 during fiscal 2007, for which we had already elected to applya

May 31, 2007 ‘measurement dme Pfeﬁse r@?@r fo Ne:ﬁe G, ”Pens o

' P!{ms ?or further d@ta i

 In September 2006 e FASB o SFAS No, 157, Fair Velue

Measurements.” SEAS No. 157 cion?as he definition of fair value, o .
 establishes o framework for measuri ing fair value and expands the
di sda&uras on fair value measurements. We wdop?ad SEAS Mo 157

, asof June 1, 2008, See page 37 for the disclosures reqwred by
 this statement. The Gci@phon of this stondard had no zmpcjc% on our

:As of June 1 20()8 we czdophad SFAS No ?5‘? ”The Fair V(:x%ue
Option for Financial Assets and Fmane

value. The eiechon is mmde on an mstmmenf by mm‘rumen? bcms andis ,'
_ irevocable. The adapt ion of FASB Stafemem No ?59 wd no ampacr

 1n May 2008, the FAS o FASB Siaff Position (*‘FSP") APB 141,
o "Accauntmg for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Seftled in
 Cash Upon Conversion {Inc udmg Partied Cosh Seifernent] ” The BSP.

on our ki mnczai smfemems

' We czdop?ed Emafg ing issu@:s Task Forc:e ssue Oéd { TF Oé: 4)

*Accounting for Deferred Compensation and Postretirement Eseneﬁf
 Aspects of Endorsement SplitDollar Life Insurance Arrangemenfs

~ oflune 1, 2008, This Issue addresses the recognition of a. liability cmd’
 related campenst:mon costs for endorsement splitdollor fife insurance

o mraﬁgemenfs that pr@v ide o benef:f fo an employee thm‘ exfend% o

hcxbz‘mes « Ineliding an
_ Amendment of FASB Statement No. 1 15, ‘which provides companies
' -W'fh fhe C}pi‘ion to measure, ot fmr w:x%ve cerm in ﬁnancmi msimmems ,

o pas?m’nremen% perxoc:is We eieamd fo csdc;-pf the prows ons of this

. lssusas o change in acccmmmg brinciple fhrough o cumulative.
 effeet adjustment to beginning relai ned earnings. Our adoption of
 these provisions did not heive o ma?eﬂai xmpod on our Consohdc:ted

 net xctbahty or cs&e? and an offsetting ad;ustmem to mccumu ated cther - ,mencmi Smmmems "

, . We edc&pf&d EITF Oé 1 '} ”Acc:@um ing For nc&me Tax Beneﬁts of
- pemsuon cmd other p@sfremmment benefit picma !n acccrdcme ws?h the

' transition requzmment& of this pronouncement, we adopled the ?undedw'

Dividends on Share qued Paym&nt churds “ios of une 1. 2008,

Th%s Issue addresses recognition of income fax berafits racmved on
certain dividend payments aceounted for under FASB Statement No. ’
" 123(R} The Task Force reached o consensus that the rea tzed income

tax benefits associated with those. dividends should be recognized

~ in addifional paid-in cap:mi Our adc:spfmn of the provisions of this
 lssue was prospective and did not | 1ave o material | mpacf on our
, 'Canwi dcﬂad Fi nam:m? Statements. , o

- !n Decembar 200? ihe FASE% ts<u%d STAS No 141 (R)’y “Business
 Combinations,” and 5FAS No. 160, "Accounting dnd Rép@?ﬁng of
- Namon#raﬁmg Inferests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an .
amendment of ARB No. 517 SFAS Mo 143( jand SFAS No. 160
are requsred to be adopied simulianeously. Under SEAS Mo ?41{ 1

upon initially obm ining control of another entity or busmeass, an

 acquirer will recognize 100% of the fair values of assets acquired,
 including goodwill, and liabilities assumed, with lim
 even ifthe aequiter has not acqunred ?QO% of the target Also, under
' '_SFAS No. 141{R), transaction costs will no longer be considered part
ot the fair value of an acquisition, and will be expanssci as mcurred ,
- SFAS No. 160 requrras ‘entities fo report noncontiolling {mmanty}

’fed _exceptions,

intetests in subsidiaries as equity in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. We wil adopt the provisions of these statements for aur

 fiscal year endi ing May 31, 2010, The impact of the c:sdopﬁon will

depend on the nature cmd s:gmﬂccxm:e of any futuf‘e acqutslfr jons

subge{:’r fo ﬂm smtem&m

requires the issver of cerloin convertible debt instruments that may

 be seit led in cash upon conversion fo sepc:xrmeiy account for i ability

Und equity components of the instrument in o manner that reflects the
 issuer’s noncanvertible debt borrow ing rate. The FSP is effective for
our fiscal year endmg May 31, 2030 Subsaquent o the end 0§ Qur




fiscal year ended May 31, 2008, we called for redemption all of our
outstanding Senior Converlible Notes dus May 13, 2033, However,
the fransition guidance of the FSP reguires retrospective application
to all years presented. We dre currently evaluating the impact that
the adoption of this FSP may have on our financial statements upon
refrospective apphcahon

Pc:rfrc;pohng Securmas' The PSP mquxrt«es oll shares that quaincy as

NOTE B — Bonnowm@s

A descripﬁqrs e?ziangferm debt follows:

May3l

parlicipating securmes pf‘iOE to vasting fo be included in the eammgs:
allocation in computing earnings per share under the two-class .
method. Upon adoption, the provisions of this FSP are reqmred fobe
refrospectively applied to all sarnings per share data presented. The
FSP is effective beginning with our first interim period for fiscal 2010,

_ We are currently evaluating the smpact this pmmunaamem mcty have

- ‘\,,tm our Fmam.m? stafements.
S June 2008 the FASB assuad i*SP Em‘ 03 61, ”Defermmmg Whether, L

fgoo’s

2009
{In thousands} o
Unsecured 4. 45% senior notes due October 15, 2009‘” $ 163,715 $ TZC‘G QGU
Unseﬁ:wed 6.25% senior nofes due December 15, 2013 200,000 200, 000
Unsecured 6 50% senior notes dus February 14, 20189 246,785 2&&,4}6 :
Unsecured $297,000 face value at maturity 2.75% senior convertible notes due May 13, 2(}03 150214
Unsecured 6.70% senior notes due November 1, 2{}?5‘33 150,000 150,000
Revolving credit agreement for $400,000 with a synd(»::afe of banks, through December 29, 2011, Tt

Interest, which is tied fo LIBOR, wemgad 2.50% for U.S. dol mrdenmmmm%' d debt cmd 2.80% for o .

-~ Sterling Pound denommamd debt Mc:y 31, 2009 , ‘ : 158,904 10777
Accounts receivable securitization program for $1 50,000 with two 'kwnks ? 'g&;QOI 2 G i
Other obligations, mc{udmg cmpxmf hac:a-es, and unsecured notes pmyqblea q* ates of interest Gindaa

due in installments through 2011 = 11,438 16214

: ; 930,842 L0783, é2¥
Less current portion o 168,547 6 ‘?34
Total l.ong-‘ferm Debt, Less Current Meﬁurshes § 762,295 51 06& 687

(«

(1} We eh‘refed info i interast rife swap, whmh has the aﬁedr of converting this fixeds fate note o varmb}e rﬂfes bﬁs&d on the six- momh tondon | nferban& Gf'fered
Ratte (LIBOR}. The weighted-averags effective rale was | ? 4% as of May 31,2009, : .

12} The $250.0 million face amount of the notes due 2018 is cé;usied for the amortization of the or;gma Tssue dtscaum which dpproximated $2.2 million cmd
$3.6 million at May 21, 2009 énd 2008, respectively. The original issue discoint effectively redyced the ulfimate proceeds fmm the ?mancmg The d‘fedwe -
interest rate on the notes, including the amortization of the discount, is &.704% for both veors pr@sen?ed

{31 We fzniered into o crosscurtency swap, which fixad the m}eresf and principal payments in euros, re&v!hrxg in an effective fixed-rate borrowing of 531 Jo

The aggragqfe maturities of long-term debt for the ﬁver yams subsequent

o Mc:y 31 2009 are; as fa[ ws! 205®m$7685msf ion; QOH ~  Senio

May 31,2009, we had“’”’: ' m‘vdnf fomf:ng $367.3 mi Hm

On Sepfember 30, 2004, we xssued and sofd $200.0 million of
4.45% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2009, which we concurreritly
swapped back to flo mmg inferest rafe debt. As of May 31, 2009
arid 2008, the fair value of this inferesirate swap, which was inan
asset position for both veors presented, wos $2. 3 mzﬁ;cm g:md
$0.9 million, respec'rweiy

In December 2003, we issued and sold $?OQ 0 msi!icﬁ éf 6.25%
Senior Netes due 2013 as a means of rafmc:mcmg

revolvi ving credit Faczfﬂy

C)n February 20, 2008 we xssued and sr:;ld $2§O O million ofé 50%

. The net proceeds of the sale,
OQGmdhon S
50 million
securifization =
m botrowings under our.

ling pndéxpa! under our
gram: and $19.0 million in sh

The 2.75% Converﬂbie Notes dw Mcty 13, 2033 were cc:mvembie
inlo 8,034,355 shares of our common stock at g price of
$18.68 per share, sub ject to adjustment, during any fiscal quc:r?er /
in which the closing prtce of the common stock was greater than
$22.41 per share for ot least 20 trading days, within the 30
consecutive frading day period on the last rading day of the caiendm
quarter. The Notes were alse converfible during any panm:i o
which the credit m%mg of the Notes wos belc;w a specified eve¥ or. 1?




specified corporate fransactions had occurred. During the first quarter
 of fiscal 2009, the 2.75% Noles became eligible for conversion

- based upon the price of aur common sfock. On June 13, 2008, we
called for the redemption of all of our outstanding Convertible Notes
on the effective date of July 14, 2008 [ihe "Redemption Date’),

Prior fo the Redemption Dats, vitually oll of the holders had ¢ ready
converted thelr Converfible Notes into B 030,455 shares of our
common stock, or 27.0517 shares of common stock for sach $1,000
Face Value Convertible Note they held. Fractional shares ?rom the
conversian W@re paid in cash, '

On Q{:\‘ober ¢ 2005, RPM United Kingdom G P our md rect
wholly-owned finanee subsidiary, issued and sold $ 50.0 million
of 6.70% Senlor Unsecured Motes due 2015, which are Rilly and
uncondifionally guararteed by us. Conzurrent with the fssuance of the
6.70% Senior Unsecursd Motes, RPM United Kingdom G.P. enterad
into o crosscurrency swap, which fixed the interest and principal
-~ payments in euros for the life of the Senior Unsecured Notes and
resulted in an effective euro fixed-rate borrowing of 5.31%. As of |
May 31,2009 gnd 2008, the falr value of this crosscurrency swap
was §21.7 million and $32.5 million, respectively, which is reflected
in other lorgarm linbilifies on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Our $400.0 million fiveyear revolving credit agreement [the
“Credit Faciliy’} will be used for working capital needs and general
corporate purposes, including acquisitions. The Credit Facili ity
pmwdes for borrowings in U.S, dollars and several foreign currencies
and also provides sublimits for the issuance of lelters of credit in an
aggregote amount of up o $35.0 million and o swingline ofup
16 $20.0 million for shorkterm borrowings of less than 15 days. In
addition, the size of the Credit Farility may be expanded, subject
to lender approval, upon our request by up fo an additionl
 $175.0 million, ?hus potentic ﬂy expcmdmg fhea Credit Fa{:dﬂy fo
3575 .0 million.

On Mcty 29, 2009‘ we eniered info an amendmem to our Credit
Facility dgreement with our lenders, Under the amendment, we are
required o comply with various customary affirmative and negative

covenants. These include linancial covenants requiring us fo maintain

certain leverdge and interest coverage ratios. The definition of
EBITDA has been amended 1o add back the sum of all {i] non-cash
charges relating fo the writedown or impairment of goodwill and other
intangibles during the applicable period, [H] othier noncash charges
up to on aggregote of $25.0 million during such applicable period
and (i) onedime cash charges incurred during the period from June 1,
2008 through May 31, 2010, but only up to an oggregate of not
mare than $25.0 million during such opplicable period. The inferest
coverage ratio is calculated af the end of each fiscal quarter for the
four fiscal quarters then endad. The minimum required consolidated
~inferest coverage ratio, EBITDA to interest expense, remding 3.50
1o 1 under the amendment, but allowance of the addbacks referred
1o above has the effect of making this convenant less reshrictive.
Under the terms of the leverage covenant, we may not permit our
consolidated indebtedness at any date to exceed 55% of the sum
of such indebledness and our consclidated shareholders’ equity on
such date, and may not permit the indebledness of our domestic
_ subsidiaries (determined on o combined basis and excluding
indebtedness to us and indebledness incurred pursuant fo permitted

receivable securitization program, under which we had no =

receivables securifizations) to axceed 15% of our consolidated

 shareholders’ equity. This amendment also added o fixed charge

coverage covenant beginning with our fiscal quarter ending

August 31, 2009. Under the fixed charge coverage coveriant, the

rofio of our consolidated EBITDA for any ?our«fisc:a%quc:r?erﬂperiod to

the sum of our consolidated interest sxpense, income faxes paid in

cash {other than tdxes on nonrecurring gains, capital expendi tures,
scheduled principal payments o our amortizing indebledness
[other than indebfedness scheduled to be repaid af mattrityl and
dividends paid in cash (or, for festing periods ending on or before
May 31, 2010, 70% of dividends paid in cash), in each case for
such fourtiscalquarter period, may not be fess than 10010 1. This
amendment also ihcludes o temporary, oneyedr restriclion on ceridin
metgers, asset dispositions and acqmsmens, and contains ausiammy
represenfat ons and warranti les.

On April 7, 2009, we replaced our $125.0 million accounts

outstanding balance and which was set to expire on May 7, o
2009, with & new, threseyear, $150.0 million accounts receivable
securitization program {the “AR program). The AR program, which

- was esfablished with two banks for certain of our subsidiaries

[foriginating subsidiaries”], contemplates that the originating
subsidiories will sell certain of thel accounts récaivable fo REAM
Funding Corporation, a whollyowned SPE, which will then fransfer
undivided inferasts in such receivables o the participating banks,
Once fransferred to the SPE, such receivables are owned in their
enfirety by the SPE and are not available to sofisfy claims of
our creditors or credifors of the originafing subsidiaries unfil the
obligations owing to the participating banks have been paid in foll.

~ Transactions under the AR program dd not constitute o form of off

balance sheet financing. The AR program increases our fiquidity by
$25.0 million, but increases our financing costs due to higher market

rates. The amounts available fo borrow under the AR program are

subject o changes in the credit rotings of our customers, customer

~concentration levels or certain chuaracieristics of the underfymg

accounts recalvable, and therefors af certain fimes we moy not be
able to fully access the $150.0 million of funding under the AR
program. Al May 31, 2009, approxi mm‘e!y $147.9 million was.
available under this AR program. .

We are subject io the same ievemgel inferest covemg& and fixed
charge coverage covenants under the AR program as those confained
in our Credit Facx\:fy On May 29, 2009, we also entered info an

_ amendment to our AR program  Included in the amendment were the

same amendments to the definition of EBITDA, and identical reduction
in the maximum consolidated leverage ratio and the sarme fixed
charge coveruga covenants as were included in our Credﬁ Facility

, amendmem s Quﬂ ned cbcve

As of May. 31 2009 we Were in comphanw with all (:c;vemms .
comtained in eac?x of our credit agreements, including the leverage

~ and inferest coverage ratio covenants. Al that date, our leverage ratio

was 44.9% and our inferest coverage rofio was 5. 66: 1. Additionally,
in accordance with these covenants, al May 31, 2009, our domestic
subsidiaries indebtedness did not exceed 15% of consoli dc:fed

’ sharehoiders equ ity as of that date.




 NOTE 6 - !NCOME 'FAXES

The pravss;esn fot income foxes Is caleulated in acccxrdance wuth SFAS Mo 109, “Account mg,{
of deferred mwme faxes using ’fha liobility ma?hc)ci

come Taxes,” which requires the recog tion

Income {[oss} before income taxes as ahfzswn in khs& Ce&sahdcxfed Statements of Income consssfed af ihe Foilowmg ?or the pers@d indicoted:

?OO‘?
United States $ 90,425
Foreign Q0,443 133218
Income ﬁchre Income Tuxes ’ o $180,868 $ 39054
?roﬁsior’;/iﬁeﬁéﬁq'hr income taxes consiysﬁs,éf f%\e/ ?Qﬁéi&zi‘r{é}mr the periods indicated: -
Year Ended May 31 . ' ' 2009 2008 2007
fin thousands) - ' o ' - . -
Currente : ,
US federal . § 27743 $19793 § w276
State and local o v 3,764 8145 7007
foreign ... 27,277 37,295 31223
Toral Carrem | . 58,784 65233 66506
Deferred: "
o U.S: federal 3,347
 State and local (2,617)
Foreign : L : ,« 1,738
’ Total beferred ‘ , . o o : 2,468 .
Prowsm {B&neﬁf} for. lncome ‘!‘axas . § 8,655

$ 61,252

/ 2009 2008
i z‘hw/sémds/}/ .
Delerred income fax assets re%a?ead fo:
Inventories , : $ 7,237
Allowance for losses /’{f,/ : - ' 6,344
Accruad mmpensahc«n and benefits 49,011
: | 173,552
11,771
26,608
26,032
300,555 665
55 - (24,056) 23.222)
Net Beferred lnmme 'i‘(:x Assets : 276,499 269,448
Deferred income tax [liabilities] relc?ec% for e , o
Depreciation . = {53,888) {84 754)
_ Pension and ofher postrefirement benefits (5,190} 7,531}
Amf)rhzcxhon of intanglbles . (104,196} 107 566}
Total ﬁeferfed Income Tox (Lauhaimes) v (163,27 4) 16‘?,85 1

Deferred Income Tax Assets, Net ,

$ 99592

$ 113,225




' We have det@rm ned, bc:xsed on the ava b
, ) rfing  uncerlain whether future taxable income o
Z5millionof  subsidiaries, as well as anticipated fo

state rset,cpemrmgi arryforwards that expire ot various dates  significant encugh to recognize certain of

. beyi nnmg f 2‘(}}@ éxéii

5 ;/us éa’t@s’"béginniﬁg“

canyforward perio
carylorwards may
income and, thereby,
_ foreign income faxes.

’ " aduced go@dw i

The following table reconcil
floss) before‘ihcom’ ax§§’

the pravxsm ’benef 1 For mccme mxes '

2009

g loss carryforwards  As o result, valuation allowances of apr
2009 ofwhich . and 323 2 mi illion have been recorded
2008, respect vefy Valuation alfowa
foreign tax credit carryforwmds certc
 ond net foreign deferred tax assets. A P
allowance is associated with deferred tc
accounting, In accordance with SFAS
 valuation allowance that was reccrcﬁe

’ pense (beneﬂ%} compu’red by app!ymg the s sitz’{uiory federc: mceme %z;x e fezagcmsf in

Year Fnd@d May 3? ,
' (;‘n ihausands} o . - , ’
Income tox expense (ben&ﬁt} ﬂﬁh& US. statutory federal income tox rate $ 63,304
Impact of foreign operations o ' ' {11,285
~ Nondeducfible impairment of gca will 5,230
State and local income 746
 Tox benefits from the : {1,018)
Norndeductible business 1,490
' ;'\f’cﬂumron aﬁcawcnce 3,252
(467)
$ 61,252¢

Eﬂ;kxnce at May 33

3B9%




NOTE B e CGMM@N STOCK

On April 21, 2009, our board of directors Gdopfed anew
Stockholder Rights Plan 1o replace fhe rights plan ihatwas originally
adopted in 1999 and expired in May 2009, The new plan is
substantively similar fo its predecessor. Under the new plan, our board
declared o dividend distribution of
share of our common sfock, pay
initially frade together w ;
not be exercisable. The nqh ge :
and allow the holder fo ucqusra qh our commcm stockata
discounted price if a person or group acquires 15
outstanding shares. Rights held by persons who exaéed the applicable
threshold will be void. Under certain circumstances, the nghx‘s will
sntitle the holder to buy shares in an aaquirt ng em‘ﬁy at a discounted
price. Our board may, at its option, redeem all rights for $0.001 per
right, g;eneraﬁy at any fime prior to the rights bewmmg exarcisable,

The rights will expire May 11, 2019, unless garlier redeemed,
exchanged or amended by the board. The new plan sp@c:&mi
provides that our board will review the status of the new plan at the
snd of fwe yﬁars 1o determine if any such action shc;u d i:ie taken.

ay 11,2009, The r;ghts

NOTE E == STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Effective June 1, 2006, we adopmd the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R},
accounting. Stock based compensation represents the cost reidted fo's

mciude restricted stock, stock options and SARs. We measure stoc based co
value of the award, We mcogmm the cost as. expense ona strdigwm

right for each c:ufstandmg .

: ’ Qp

o meaiton ‘rradmg m?es dnd cibier sax:urmes !aw re

hareBased Payment ! uhhzmg the madified-pros,

sis (nm qf eshmmted forfesmres) ow:w thé maimad vasring penod

On Jonuary 8, 2008 ‘we announicad our authorization of o sicck
tepurchase program under which we may repurchase shares of

our common stock af our diseretion for general corporate purpcses
Our intention with regcm:} to this program is fo limif our repurchases
only to amounts required to offsef dilution created by stock issued
in connection with our equity -based compensation plans,or

proximately one fo two million shares

year. As a resuit of this
n, we may repurchmw foti

¢ fiming of our
purchases has depended upon, dnd wi I ccm*mue ?o depend upon,
prevailing market conditions, alternative uses of capital and other
Factors: We may limit or terminate the repurchase program of any
time. During the fiscal year ended May 31,2009, we repurchased
appr@x;mateiy 2 4 million shares of our common slock af o cost of
approsimately $43.4 million, or an average cost of $18. 41 per
share, under this ;:xrogram There was no activity under this progrcim

, durmg tiscal ?O@S

clive method of
s these awards

c;wwr;{ss granted to our employees and d

mpensation cost af the date of grant,

The foﬂowmg tc:b!e represen%s fotal stcck based compensation expense nc%udad in our Corxsohda’red Statements o? {nmme

Year e{sded ng 31 2009 2008 2007

{in !housr}na’s} :
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 8,008 $13.396 $ 10,509

Income tax [benefit) [2,622) 14,074 3,381}
Total siéck—‘pgsaé compensation expense = $ 5,386 § 9322 $ 7’,128
Total unrecognized compensation cost related fo non«vesfed c:chxrds ar o Yeor Ended qu‘?;l 2009 2008 QQC‘?'
1,2009 to b d , /, : : e

. we,;}iedv;cilfgf &ﬁﬁiﬁgiﬁfﬁ hesjan,  Tierempe .

 Expected life of c;vpheﬂ 7iboyrs 6.7 yrs

We grant stock- based maeuhve” wmra% o our employees c:nd/mr : \ted d'\”d@“d yield ', '3“3% 3%
aur directors under various share-based compensation plans. Plum *TY rote .

 that provide for stock option gr ebused payment awards
include the 1996 Key Employees Stock Option Plan (the 71996 Plan’
and the 2004 Omnibus Equity and km:enhve Plan {the “Onnibus
Plan”}, which includes provisions for grants of restricted stock,
restricted stock units, performance stock, performance stock units and
SARs: Other plans; which provide for resiticted stock granis only,
include the 2003 Restricted Stock Plan for Directors (the #2003 Plan’]
and the 2007 Restricted Stock Plan (the “2007 Plan"}. The 2007
Plan succeeded the 1997 Restricted Stock Plan (”19‘?7 Picm"} which
expired by ifs terms of May 31, 2007

Sock @;}%mﬁ ?%@ﬁ@

Stock aptions are awards which allow our employees to purchuse
shares of our comman sfock at a fixed price. We grant stock options
at an exercise price equal fo the stack price on the date of the gront.
The fair value of stock ophons and SARS granted is estimated as of

the date of grant using a Black- Scholes aphm»pncmg moda! wxfh the :

following wexghtadwve%g& assumpnons'

,; m es,nmmmg the fair value of traded aptxd A
restrictions and are fully transferable. The riskfree rate for periods

mva ne veshng

within the: contractual fife of the option is based on the U, S Trecsury
yleld curve in eﬁecf czt the time of gront.

The expac:iﬁd life of aphcns granted is derived from the mpm of ‘rhe
option-pricing model and represents thie period of fime that opfions
granted are expected to be outstanding. Expected volatilify rafes are
based on historical volatility of shares of our common afac:k

The 1996 Plan, whtﬁh expired by its terms on August 15 2006
provided for the granting of stock options for up te 9,000,000 shares
Stock options were granted to employees and directors of an exercise
price equal fo the fair market value of our common stock af the date of

'fg;m:ﬂt '{hase options are genﬂmﬁy exermmb & cumulatively in equci

?r

ha rant date, and




dnder the Qmmbus Plan,. any number of shares ?hm remain avcx?c&ble
after *hullvalue” awards are granted, o up to o maximum of ,
6,000,000 shares, may be in the form of SARs grants or other ?ypees ,
 of awards other than “lullvalue” awards such as restricted stock
awards, restricted stock unit ‘awards, perfarmcmce share awards or
performance um‘r awards &AR& are issved ot fair val ‘rhe date of

v 20(}4 and is mt@nded fo be} the pumcsry stock based exward progrc:m -
ed employees. A wide variety of stock and stockbased

denominated performance-based awcrds, S
an. A tofal of 6,000,000 , \
be subject to awards under the oufstandmg areto be Saﬂ;
the 0 0,000 shares cf common srock |ssuc:bia  were 2.000, oo@ SARs ou?stcmdmg

The foll owmg table summm zes opf on and shﬁre—based paymen% cxchw&y imc!udmg SARs] under ?hease« plans during the thres ?sm years ended

May?ﬂ : ’
2009 2008 2007 |
Weighted  Number Weighted  Number Weighfed Num’bef
Average  of Shares Average  of Shares Averoge - of Shares
’ - : . Exercise Under Exercise  Under Exercise ~ Under
_ Share-Based Payments ' o Price Option Price Option

. Price thécm

fin thousands, except per share amounts|
Balance cxt Juna 1

$15.71 4,742

$14.05 520
$18.16 (55)
$12.04 (261)

$15.70 4,946
$14.90 3,719

Ex :*éi\sﬁable,anny:H $1409 3548 $1373 3,&3@

,emd werghted
average remaining contractual life of aph@ns Quismm:%mg was
$6.2 million and 4.9 years respectively, while the aggregd, i irmsac :

 value and wei ighted-average remaini ing. mntmcfuaf life of ¢ aphens
exercisable was $5.6 million and 3.7 years, re sectively. Stock

options gronted during the years ended May 31, 20
- 2007 were gronted o exercise prices equwa!en o the stock ¢ pi‘ft:e
the date of grant and had weightedaverage gmnt»da}ef Ve

8240, %561 and $4 34, respeciively.

A May 31 20@9 ?he aggregwe mmnsgc vcs{ o c . $1 8 million and $3 7 million redlized for the tax deductions from ,

_ option exercises of the sharebased payment for the vear ended
,//::Mczy 31 }2009 2008 cmd 2007 respechvely

 The fair values of all nonvested sharebased payment awords have
 been calculated using the market value of the shares on the date of
issuance. We anficipate that approximately 1.2 million shares ata
j:f’*wexghfedquemga exercise price of $18.11 and a weighted-average
_ remaining contrdctual ferm of 846 years w;fi ulhmcteiy vest under
these plcms , .

The fotal m‘rmslc value oF cp’nons exercised during fhe year5 ended
1 2007 was $1.6 million, $6.6 million and
as a tax benefit of $0.3 million,

A summary of the stmus of our nonvested share baseé payment cxwards as of May 31 2009, cmd the changes during the yea
is incorporated as follows: , , .

Nonvested Share»Bc;sed Payment Awurds -

- Wéigh?@d . Nugberof Weighted Avemga -

{Shares in tfzf)usands}
- Average , ~ Shures . Remaining
Gre:m? Date o Under Contractual
v o ?m’\‘ e e Opmﬁ _ L Term
June 1,2008 - '$4 o4 1,194
_ Granted o ... $2.37 . o
Vested 5469 L 464

Forfeited/expired $5.71 ' , 2

339y




Kol miﬁé 3?&552 ﬁéﬁm

and perfcrm&nce sfock units, These c:wr:xrds are gramés *t&ehgsbiez
emp!ayees or dtrecfors and enfi ﬂeaﬁfiwa holder fo shm@& of our common

; ‘Under fhe Omnibus Plan, J
6,000,000 shares of our common w#ot:k may be sub;ecf to awcrds
Of the 6,000,000 shares of common stock issuable under the
Omnibus Plan, up to 3,000,000 shares may be sublject fo “Hullvolue
awards such as restricted sfock, restricted stock unit, performance
stock and performance stock unit awards. During t the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2009, we granted 445,250 shares of performance
earned restricted siock under the Omnibus Plan a
grant price of $14.05 The restricted stock cliff vests after thres years.
Nonvested restricted shares of common stock under the Omnibus
Plan are eligible for dividend payments. In July 2007, performance-
contingent resiricted stock [“PCRS") awards were appro%ed PCRS
awards were made pursuant to the Omni bus Plan and are contingent
upon the level of attainment of perf c:rme goals for the three-year

ipenc;oi from June 1, 2007 andi i 1, 20'10 During the fiscal

Cof $18 80 per share. Up 7’5,, cres of ¢ our. common ﬁ’roc:k
may be sub;ecf fo awards unde the Omnibus Pl an.

The 2003 Plcm was approved on Outober 10, 20@3 hy our
stockhol éers, and was establ ;shed primarily for the purpose of
recruiting and refaining directors, and to align the inte:
with the inferests of our stockholders. Only directors who are not our
employees are eligible to parficipate. Under he 2003 Plan, up to
500,000 shmas of out common stock may be awarded, with awards

cliff vesting over a three-year period. For the year ended May 31,
2009, 36,000 shares were granted at a we;ght&dﬂvemge price of
$14.05 per shore, with 353,400 shares available for future gront.
For the year ended May 31, 2008, 22, 000 shares were granfed af
a waxgh?edﬂverage price of $22. 88 per share. For the year ended
~ May 31,2007, 27,000 shares w nted at o weighted- averd @
price of $18.80 per sha

expense reiohng 0 re
_at May 31, 2009, is bei

“iperiod. Nonvested restricted shares of common stock under the‘EOOLS -

Plan are eisgrb e for dividend payments.

Under the i??? Plan, o total of 38149 shares were qwmded ata
weighted average price of §1 8,52 for the fiscal year ended May 31,
2007, The 1997 Plan expired by its terms of May 31, 2007, and was
'succe@&eé by the 2007 Plan. Under the 2007 Plan, up to. 1,000,000
shares may be awarded to certain employees, generally subject fo
forfeiture. The shares vest upon the latier of attainment of age 55 and
the fifth anniversary of the May 31st immediately preceding the date

:C ,'Nonvesfed Resmcte& Shmes

: sharas were Qwafeied uﬁdw the 2(}@?’ Pkm m a wethtedﬂvéf, ge

price of $20.26 Dwmg the year ended May 31, 2008, o total of
,48 009 bhcsres were Qwarded mder %he 2007 Plan ata wenghfaé

} 2 mﬂhon
r@mommg

The f@liewmg mble summanms the activity for oll nonvested resmc?ed
’nded N\@y 31 20(}9 .

weighteds Javerage

. Vested

fs of di rectars

(Shares in rhousmd - Weighted
’ Average
GrantDate
Eair Value
June 1,2008 $2023
Gronted o bl468

 restricted shares ot May 31, 2009 is fi’xe same as the period over
which the remaining cost of the awards will be recognized, ‘which | is
approximately 1.4 years. The fair volue of the nonvested resmdsd .
,shma C}WGt‘dB hﬁ\fe bé&i‘i ccx!cu med usmg the mc::rkei value ra% o

Qppmx:mafely 1 ?i m;!ﬁtc‘n shqres ata wa;gh?@d cwamge gtani—éﬁf& ,
 faiir value of $79 G‘% and a wenghf&dmver&ge temaining contractual

unique ferms

od shares converted durm . d May 3} 2009 ‘.
and 2007 was $O 09 million, $8.5 million and §1.1 mxilac}n, :
mspeachvety 5

Tami unrecmgmzed i:ompensatmn et related fo n@nvasfe:ex:{ ctwards,
of restricted shares of common stack was $11.2 million os of
May 31, 2009, That cost is expected fo be recognized over o

welghtedaverage perif;ti of 1.4 years. We did not receive any

cash from employses as a result of employee vesting and refease of

_ tesiricted shcsres %czr fhe year ended May 31, 20{)9




MOTE £ LEASES

We lsase ceriain properly, plant and equipment under longserm
operating lease agreements, some of which provide for increased
renfal payments based upon increases in the costofliving index. The
following table fllustrates our future minimum lease commitments under

all non-cancelable lsase agreements, for each of the next five years
and inthe oggregate; as of May 31, 2009

May 31

{in thousands) .
2010 § 39207
2001 29998
2012 20,765
2013 15,241
2004 V1,622
Thereatter 53,125
Total Minimum Lease Commitments

$170,048

Total rental expense for al operating leases amounted to $40.4 million

in fiscal 2009, $38.5 million in fiscal 2008 and $28.8 million in
fiscal 2007

Net periodic pension cost consisted of the following for the year ended May 31

NOTE ﬁ e PE&S!ON PLANS

We sponsor several pension plons for our employees, including our
principal plan [the “Retirement Plan’), which is o nonconidbutory
defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all domestic
_non-union employees. Pension berefits are provided for certain
domestic union employees through separate plans. Employees of our
foreign subsidiaries receive pension coverage, fo the exient deemed
appropricte, through plans that are governed by local statutory
requirements, '

The Retirement Plan provides benefits that are based upon years of
service and average compensation with accrued benefits vesting

after five years. Benefits for union employees are generally based
upon yedrs.of service, or a combination of years of servics dad
average compensation. Our pension funding policy is o contribute an
amount onan annual basis that can be deducted for federal income
fox purposes, using o different actuarial cost method and differant
assumptions from those used for financial reporting. For the fiscal year
ending May 31, 2010, we expect to confribute approximately ©
$10.8 million to the refirement plans in the U.5. and approximately -
$8.7 million to our foreign plans. , 5

Monlh§, Plans

, U.5. Plans
{in thousands) 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 -
Service cost $14,721 $14,240 $18.224 ’ $3,033 $3.287 $3.135 ’
Interest cost 11,907 10,296 9.063 7,655 6,545 5095
Expected return on plan assets (12,893)  [13,319] (11,428 (7,387 (6725)  [5,047)
Amortization of: ,

Prior service tost 342 - 240 193 4 16 22
Net ccfucriai losses recognized 2,652 1,415 2.397 1,243 1,609 1803
Curtailment/seiflement [gains) losses o 65 o (119) 1699} :

Net Pension Cost $16,729  $12,872 §13514 $4,429  $3928  $5008




The changes in benefit obligations and plas t::sseffs aa well as the funded status of our pensmn picms cf May 31, 200‘;’ and 2008 weie as / /f?ff*

follows: , .

/ us Plaﬁs; . Nonl s Plan
fis thousands). 2009 2008 2009 4
Benefit obligation at beg $185569  $177920 § 130,571 812, 580
Service cost 14,721 14240 3,033 382
Inferest cost o 1,97 10,296 7.655 6545
Service and interest cost durmg gup perswd” £ 6,100 298
Benefis paid (10,463) (14,985) 6.072)  (4937)
Parficipant contributions S 815 . 883
Acquisitions and new plans - 5,646 2,084
Plan amendments - 1,208 62 o
Actuarial gains) (9,095 9,210] 20,608 [14,887)
Setflements/Curtailments e e 3177 - (888]
Premiums paid o [67) 158
G urrency excﬁcnge rate cimnges . ; - (14,344 12
Benefit Obligation at End of Year - $ 192,639 *:$ 135 69 $ 106,374  $130571
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 147,884 $ 3&3 798 $ 115424  § 94359
Actual return on plon assefs i (34,976} 8 ,§§8 {12,153) 1,291
Employer contributions 10,233 }(3,5483 8,027 H 22‘? -
Participant contributions 815 883
Acquisitions : Lo 5,029 ’ eel
Benefits paid {10,463) (14,98,5} ‘ (6,072} 4937 -
Premiums paid G e @
Currency exchange rafe. Ghanges , o : (12,704) = 11,296
Fair Value of Plan Assets at End of Year $112,678 $ 147,884 $ 98,299 $ 115,424
[Deticif) of p}cm assels versus bensfit obligations af eﬁd cf yedr 35 79,961) $ (S?ﬁ,gSSS) $ (8,075 § 118, M?}
Met Amnum Recognired . K {79,961) ;$'/{3? 685 $ (8,075 § (15, }47}
Accumulated Benefit Obltgutwn ' $ 156,423 :$ 142 A08 § 97,257 :$ 114, 5?6

¥ Adi us?menfs r&ssui ting from the prioryear mdopﬂoa m‘ SFA‘% Mo 158 meosurement date ¢ ymwsxens

The fair vchue of the assets held by our pension pians hus declined cx% May 31, 2009 since our prevmus measurement date ot May 3 1// 2908
due pnmcmiy to the recent significant declines in the sfock markets. As such, we have mcrmsed our recorded liability for the net undedunded
status of our pension plans, and we expect pension expense in fiscal 2010 fo increase from fiscal 2009 Any further declines in the valve of our
pension plan assets could require us to further increase our recorded liability for the net underfunéed status of our pension plans and coufd cfso
require accelerated and higher cash confribuhons fo our pension plans. /

Amotunts recogmzed in tha Consoli dw@d quance Shests for the yems anded May 31, 200‘? cmd 2008 are g Fmﬁaws

| s | Newt
{In thousands) ’ 2009 : /200’3\‘!\ " 2009 )
Noricurrent asseis $ $ 334 $ 4245 & ’3,:3'9/4
Current liabilities 97y 104 [416) - (442)
Noncurrent liobilities (79.864) {37,915 (11,904) [18,099)
Net Amwnfkecagmzed $ (79,961} § (37,685 $ (8,075  § {15147)




The foiit;w%ng:?tjble summarizes the relationship between our plans’ benefit oﬁbfigcﬁons and asses:

U.S Plans

2009 2008
. - ’ Benefit Plan Benefit . Plan
fn thousands) o ' Obligation Assets  Obligation Assefs ’
; Plans with pro(ecied benefif obligation in excess of plan assets : $192,639 $112,678 %i182142 0§ 144 122
Plans with accumulated benefit obli igation in excess of plan assels 156,423 112,678 1,864 1,305
Flans with assets in excess of projecied benefit obligations ' 3427 3,762
Plans with assets in excess of 'accumgiamd benefit obligations 140,644 146,579
, NondJ.5. Plans
2009 2008 . N
' , Benefit Plon Benefit  Plan :
A fhousands} . . , i Obligation Assets , Obligotion Assels
Plcms with pm]ecfed benefﬁ Dbhgahon in excess o§ pian assets : $ 50,052 $ 37,731 $110230 % 91689 ©
Plans with accumy af@d benef:t obhgtmon in excess of plan assets ’ 43,878 37,731 47,080 - 40290
Plans with assels in excess of projected benelit obligations. 56,322 60,568 20,341 SRR T35
Pfcms with assets in excess of accumulatad baneﬂf obhgahons 53,37‘? 60,568 L7496 75,132
The following ?c:\b & presents the prefax net ccfuana% loss, prior service {costs) and fmnsmmn assefs/(obligations) rewgn ized in accumulated ofher «
comprehens ive | ncome {ioss) not mf'fecf ing refained ec:rmngs ,
. . . o , ' U P!dns ' 0 Monls Plais
In fhausana’s} ... - 2009 2008 2009 2008
Net actuarial ;w' . . $ 79,291 § [43,169) $ (20,675) $ (26,343)
»F}’mor service {cosfs} o o = o ' [2,725) - (3067 (82} - e
Total recogmzed in accumulated other comprehensive income - ' ,
not affecti '39@‘@@9‘3 earpings _  $(82,016)  § [46,236) $ (20757)  § (26,375
The foiylowing table includes the changes recognized in other éomps‘ehensive income:. , -
... , . o ' . . U.S. Plans “Nonl5. Plans
{in rhousancis) . . . ' - 2009 2008 2009 2008
Changes in plqn assefs cmd beneﬁt ob sgc:f ans recogmzed ' :
other comprehens ive income: , ’
 Prior service cost L = ] § 1208 $ 4z §
Met loss (goin] aris ing durmg fhe yescw , . 38774 s {1,267) [3,825)
E%‘?ec? of exchange rates on amounis included in AQCE . ' , ' ’ [3,166) 672
Amounts recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost: ,, , , L
. Amortization or curtailment recognition of prior service credit [cost) ' (342) (240 , 4y [204)
Amorhzat;on of s settlement recognition of net gain floss). - ' {2,652} {1,415 {1,243) (1,510}
Toldl recogn ied in ohher comprehenswe loss (mcome} . .~ $35780 §$10710 % (5618 % (4887

nciudes cu{fq:fmen! gams not recagmzed ds a campmem of net permdic pénsion cost

The fcl owing kzble presenfs the amounts in accumulated other comprehanswe inceme {ioss} as ‘f May 3 2009 that hcw& not yet been recognized
in net periadic pension cosf, buf wcli be recogmzec{ in our Conso adafed Sfatamen?s of Incorme duri ng the fscc:i year aﬂdmg May 31, 2010

, o , S Plans NonCUS Plans
Nediandlles : - $ (5708 § (o4

Prior servxce lcosts) ’ - . - ' o . $ 1851 o ©

In measuring the progec?e}d benefit obhgmhon ancf net periodic. pens ion cost for our pkms we ulilize c:ctuar al valuations. These valudtions inchide

.~ specific information pertaining to individual plan participants, such as salary, oge and years of service, along with certain assumptions. The most
 significant assumptions dpplied include discount rates, expected refurn on plan assets and rate of compensation increases. We evaluate these

assumptions, of a minimum, on an annual basis, and make required changes, as applicable. In developing our expected longterm rate of return

~ on pension plan assets, we consider the current and expected fqrgef asset allocat ions of the pens ion port&;l io, as waﬂ as historical reiums and
. fumre axpecmm)ns for re?ums on varicus categanes of pfcm ossefs. '




The following weighted-average assumptions were used fo determine our yearend benefit obligations and net periodic pension cost under the plans:

U5, Plons Montl S, Plans
Year-End Benefit Obligations 2009 12008 2009 2008
Discount rate : 6.90% 6.50% 6.96% 5.88%
Rate c:»f ccmpensanoﬂ increase L B378% 397%

3.28%

3.76% .

Non U S, F’fﬁ:ms

US|

Net Periodic Pension Cost 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Discount rafe 6.50%  600% 575%  588%  523%  489%
Expecied return on plan assets 8.75% B75% 875% 6.28% 6.38% b6.68%
Rate c}?;compens:qﬁan ihcrecse 3.78% 3.79% 3.97% 3.88% 339%

The fol iz:xwmg fables illustrafe fhe welghted-averoge acfual and target
alf mmﬁm of plan assets:

' ,pmhxbns short aaiimg, sec:unhes !endmg, fmam:m Futuras, options

" in\msrmemrs
; flnvesfmem

U5 Plans
Actual Asset
 Allocation
Target Allogation : .
- as of May 31, 21369 2009 2008
Equity securities 70% 68% 70%
Fixed income securities 256% 22% 21%
Cash e 4% 4%
Other 5% 6% 5%
Totc:i ossels: 100% 100% 100%
Non-U.5; Plans :
: A;t;mi Asset
Allocation
Target Allacation .
o as of May 31,2009 2009 2008
Equity $e};uﬁﬁes 42% 43% 46%
Fixed income securities 51% 50% 48%
Cash 1% 2% 2%
Property and other , vo6% 5% A%
Total assets ‘ . 100% 1 OO%

- 100%

The primary objsctive for the investments of the Retirement Plan is fo
provide for longterm growth of capital without undue exposure o
risk. This objective is accomplished by utilizing o ﬁffategy of equities;
fixed income securities and cash equivalents in a mix that is conducive

NO’TE R s FOQTRN‘RR&MEN‘E amsms

: 200? respechve}y

373%

1o participation in o rising market, while allowing for adequate
profection in o &:zf ing market. Our lnvestment Commitice oversess

the investment allocation process, which includes the seiachéri/ nd
svaluation of investment managers, the determination of investment
objectives and risk gu:delmes and the monitoring of actual investment
performance In order to manage investment risk properly, Plan § policy

 Plan investment performonce prmsdﬁ k:»y independent third parties, in
addition to ifs review of the Plan investment pahcy on an onnual basis.
The investment objactives dre similar for our plans outside of the Uus,
subject fo local regulations. In general, investments for all plans are
managed by private investment managers, reporting fo our tnvaﬁmenf
Commiltes on.a fegukzr basis, e

In addition o the de?meé beneit pension plans diie cxbnv& o
we also sponsor smpiayee savings plans under Section 401(k of
the Internal Revenue Code, which cover most of our employees in
the U.8. We record expense for delined contribdtion plans for any
employer maiching contributions made in conjunction with services
rendered by employees. The majority of our plans proyide for -
malching contributions made in conjunction with services rendefed
by amp{eye&s Mutchmg contr:buhoms are invested in tha same

' i stions. Mctchmg ,

"Qnd‘;' 9. 5 mdfmn for the yems,en ing

We expect fo pay i the following astmw?ed pension benefit paymems
in the next five years (in millions}: $15.6 in 2010; $17.9in 2011;
$19.81n 2012 $21.81n 2013, and $23.1 in 2014 In the ﬁv& yeors

’ theremﬂ@r {20)5«2@’19} we expect fo pay $139.1 miihon

We sponsor ssveral, unfunded-healthcare- benefit ptcms faf certain of our refi red employees as weﬁ as postretirement life insurance f@r f:effc:m, -
key employees. Eligibility for these benetils Is baseé upon v various requirements. The foll owmg table illustrates the effect on operations 0% fhesef’

plans for the three years ended May 31, 2009:

Nondh s ?ian&v /

1.8, Plans ; /
{in thousands] | 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Service cost——B\emmﬁfs;am’rmed"c’fiu‘ri’hg'?,H\\i& period % 3 s 5 . $ 358 %5 5 468
Interest cost on the accumulated ebligation 576 542 688 725 . 626
Amortization of prior service cost (123) (28] L i
Amortization of unrecognized losses G S8 296
Net Periodic Postretirement Expense $ 456 $494 ¢ $514 $1,046  $1,352  $1190




, Tf’ze changes in the benefw obhgaz‘ ions of the plans ot May 31, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

NonlU.S. Plans

U Plans
{in thousands) 2009 2008 2009 2008
Accumulated postret] rame}nf benefit obligation of begmn ing 05 vear $ 6,952 39,072 $11,772 $12.872
Service cost , 3 o 358 531
Interest cost 576 5272 688 e
Benefit poyments {700) {736) (264) [262)
- Medicare subsidy received 104 107 , .

Actuarial gains) (490) (2,013) (3,365)  [2.542)
Impact of new accounting standard® 2,139 . o
Currency exchange rate changes {1,056} 948
Accumulated ond sccrved posfrememenf beneﬁt , '

obligation at end of year $ 8,584 $6952 $ 8,1 e

¥ Represents the impact of our adoption of Ef TE 064, 'Piease refor to Note Al21), “Other Recent Accounting Pranouncements,” for &Jrfhar information.

In determining the postreti remenf benefit amounts ou? lined qbove measuremem dcxte-‘:s as of May 31 for each period were appi ed,

The following table presents the armaunts tecognized in the -
Consolidated Balance Sheets for the years ended Mc:y 31, 2009
“and 2008 .

us Pimﬁs Nan*U.S‘ Plans

The foilawmg fatle presem‘s the prefox nef actuarial gain (loss) and
prior service credits recognized in accumy lated afh@r comprehensive
_income {loss) not affecting remmed aarnings:

: MNomld s, Pions’

U,Sf Plons
Ui thousands) , 2009 2008 2009 2008 {in thousonds] 2009 2008 2009 2008
Current ligbilities $ (653) % (6261 % 273V % (291 Nt actuarial goin floss) $ 2,201 1,806 3 3,055 % (340)
Noncurrent liabilifies ~ (7,931)  [6,326)  (7,860) (11,481} Priot service credifs 210 0 239 .
Net Amount ' - Tolal recognized in '
Recognized = $(8,584) §(6,952] $(8,133) $[11,772) accumulated other
; : : ; comprebisnsive ircome
not affecting retained
earnings $2,411 § 2045 $3,055 $  [340)
The following able includes the changes we recognized in other compréhensive income:
U8 Plans ’ NonU 5 Picms
{in hovsands] 2009 2008 2009 2008
. 'Chmges In plon assels ond beneﬁf obli gcmons recogmzed in
other comprehensive income: ,

Net loss [gain) arising during the year* ' $  (490) spoia $ (3,694) ,$ {2 361)

 Effect of exchange rates on amounts included in AOC o 301 24
Amounts recognized s o component of net periodic benefit cost: o '

Amortization or cufailment recognition of prior service credit fcosf) 28 28 S

Amortization or seftlement recognition of net gain (loss) ) 96 ’ . 89

Totdl recogni ized in other comprehensive loss [income] $ (366) $11,984) $43,395) . $ [2408)

*Includes cun‘mlmem gams not recagmzed a5 o compcsnem of net periodic pension cost

The following weeghted verage cssumphons were used o defermine our yearend beneﬂ obi;gamns dnd et péyriadiqypcstrmirame’m benefit

costs under the pians

U5, Plans " NQ%U.S. Plons

Yem{:’nd B@neﬁf Qb qm;cms 2009 '2008 - 2009 2008 ,

Discount rate - 6.90%  650% 8.00% 6.50%
- Current healiicars cost rend rate 8:60% 8.50% 10.00% 6.50%

Ultimate healtheare cost trend rate 4.50% 500% 5.00% 4.50%

Year vltimate healthcare cost frend rate o ,

 will be realized 2029 2015 2024 2012

| , U5, Plans  NondUs Plans | |

. Net Per:od i Pos?rehremen? Benefit Cos? 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Divovtrle 6.50%  600%  6.00% 6.50% 50% B0y

Heglthcare cost frend rate , , 8.50% 9.00%  9.50% 6.50% 00% 2.00%

Ultimate healthcare cost trend rafe 5.00% 5.00%  500% 4.50% 4. 50% 5.00%

Year ullimate healthcare cost

trend rate will be reclized 2015 2015 2015 2012 2012 2008
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Increasing or decreasing current healthcare cost frémc! rates by 1% would offect our accumuim!eé pasfrehmmem benefit obligation (:md tfet
pasfrehremem expense by the Fc: owing amounts éor the yecxrs ended May 31, 2@0‘9 cmd 20&3 :

Nonll 5.

: 1.5, Plans. Plana

{In thousands) 2009 2008 2009 2008 :
1% Increase in frend rate L

Accumubted Benefit Qbhgmion $ 488 $ 1,430

P@stramemem Cost 35 135

1% Decrease in trend rate o :

Accumulated Benefit Obligation L $ (432) § $(1,138)

Postretirement Cost : (31 [260) (MC)} _

S

We expect o pay approximately $1.0 million in esttmczied
postretirement benefits in edch of the next five years. I the five yedrs
thereafter (20152019} we exp@ci o payg cumvfah\re h)’rcxf QF

$6 .5 million: -

The Madrcafe Prestraphcn Drug, Improvement and Mcéermmmn

Act of 2003 (the "Act'}, was signed inte law on ‘December 8, 2003,
The Act provides for prescription drug benefits under Medicare Pert
D and contains a subsidy to plan sponsors who provide “actuarially
equivalent” prescription drug plans. Our actuary has determined that

the prescription drug benefit provided by our postrefirement planis =

considered fo be c:ctuqma!iy’ quivalent fo the benefits provided d
the Act for all yeqrs since mcapﬂon. G

MNOTE § = CON‘!‘!NGSN&!Wﬁ Aﬂb LOSS RESERVES

Accrued ioss reserves and asbestosrelated i»abe!mes consist of the Fc«l?ow

I secordonce wéh ms pmvamen (}? FASB Sfaff Pesx% on Fb? FAS 1062,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requitements Related fo fhe Mecimﬂr
Prescription Drug, imjamvemem and Modernization Act of 2003,"

we have included the impact of our portion of the subsidy in ihe .
determination of Gccmnulatad pos&raﬂrament bensfit obligotion for

U.$. nonpension postretirement benefit plan for the periods ended
May 31, 2009 and 2008, The impact of the subsidy resulted in o
reduchon in our benefit ohligation of approximately $1.7 million s:md
$1.5 million at May 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and a

$0.2 million and $0.1 million decredse in net periodic cost for the years

ended May 31, 2009 and 2008 respectively. For the fiscal years ended

2009 and 2008 i \ b mants from Medxccre ;,'”

May 31 2009 2008
{in thousands) S
Acerved product liability reserves $ 51,453 $ 56,500
Acerued warranty reserves 18,993 8,055
Acerued environmental reserves 6,947 ; 5
Accrued loss reserves — current 77,393

Asbestos-related liobilities — current . 65,000

Toral Reé#yyés - Current : $142,393

Accrued product liability reserves — noncurrent . $ 7,067

Accrued environmental reserves — noncurrent 3,846 ABS
Accrued loss reserves < noncurrent 10,913 13,973
Asbestos-related liabilities = noncurrent 425,328

* Total Reserves — Noncurrent

Cerfain of our wholly-ewned subsidiaries, principally Bondex
International, Inc. [collectively referred to as the subsidiaries}, are
defendants in various asbestoselated bodily in njury lawsuits filed in
various state courts with the vast majority of current ::lﬁms pending in
six states —Texas, Florida, Mississippi, Maryland, Hllinois and Ohio
These cases gevemﬂy seek unspecified damages for asbestosrela @d
diseases based on alleged exposures o ashestoscontaining producfs
previously manufactured by our subsidiaries or o%hers

As oF May 31, 2009, our subsidiaries had o fotal of 10 ?73 active
ashestos cases, compared to dtotal of 11,202 cases as of May 31,
2008 For the fourth quarter ended May 31, 2009, our subsidiariss
secureci dtsmtssa!s cmd/ or seﬂriemems of ?5? cases, campared to

May 31 2008. For the year end&d May 31 2009, our subsxdm"ef» 0
gy m&ilmn For the year ended May

secured dismissals and/or setilements of 3,004 cases, compwed §
o total of 1,546 cases dismissed qnd/or s@fried for the year ended
May 31, 2008. / -

'O?'fhe'S,ééA cases that were chsfmssa” i o

- $436,241

May 31, 2009, 1,420 were non-malignancies or unknown. disease
cases that had been maintained on an inactive docket in Ohio and
were adminisiratively dismissed by the Cuyahoga County Court of
Common Pleas durmg our second fiscal quarter ended November 30,
2008, These claims were dismissed without prejudice and may be
rafiled should the claimants involved be able fo demonstrate disease in
accordance w;%h me&:cg criteria !cwa estobl shed in the Sraie a? Ghm

For the foutth quarter eﬂded May 31, 2009, out subs:ci iaries mnde
toll payments of $17.2 million relating to asbestos cases, wh&ch
included defense-related payments poid duting the qumier of

$6.5 million, compared fo fotal payments of $15.0 million rek:stmg

_ fo asbestos cases during fhe quarter ended May 31, 2008, which

he quqrt&r of

included defenserelated payme Ut o
009 ur wbmdmnea 0

made fotal payments of $69.4
which included defense- related paym
$26.2 million, compared fo fotal payments of 5’82 6 million relating fo
ashestos cases during the year ended May 31, 2008, which included
defense-related payments paid during the year of $39.7 m@! ion.




Durmg fhe second quarter of ftsca 2009, one payment f(}?almg .
$3.6 million was made fo safisfy an adverse judg: nap
trial that aceurred in calendar 2006 in California. This pa" ent,
which included o srgmf;cam amount of acerued prejudgment | m%ere
as required by California law, was made on December 8, 200
agpmxsm@fely two and a half years after the adverse verdict and
et all postirial and o ellate remssd;es had been exhausted. Such
not included in incurred costs
ted and the final payment amount is
ult, the fiming and amount of any such paymenfs
. 'could hmze o sagmﬁcunf impact on quarterly seﬁlemem casts

During fiscal 2008, our subsidiaries incurred h;gber yaar-mer year

defenserelated payments as o result of implementing various ahmxges
fo our management and defense of ashestos claims, includinga
ransition to o new claims intake and database. service provider.
To facilitate that ransition and other related chﬁﬂges‘ we incurred

duplicate defenserelated payments Qpproxma?mg $3:€} million durmg/:

the second quarter of fiscal 2008 The transition was ccmpieted‘
during the third quarter of i sccﬂ 2008, / =

Exdud ing defense- re'med paymenfs fhe average pﬁymem mﬁde fo

settle or dismiss o case approximated $14,000 and $11,000 for
each of fhe quarters ended May 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively;
00 and $28,000 for amch of the years ended May 31,

imount and timing of dismissals

ly from period to period,
rage cost o resolve a case in any given
quarrer or y@m Ih cddmon insome gur:sdtcnons, cases mcty lnvolve
more than one individual claimant, As a result, settlem
payments on a per case basis are not necessarily reflective tzf the
payment amounts on a per claimant basis. For exa
amount paid to setfle or dismiss a case can vary widely dependmg
on a variety of fac?ors, including the mix of malignancy and non-
_ malignaney claimants and the amount of da?ense expendﬁures

Jincurred durmg ?he pereod -

' Es‘nmcmng the future cos? of stesfoa raiafed contingent liabilities
was and continues fo be subject to many uncertainties that may
change over fime, including ( ) the ultimate number of claims filed:
{ii) the amounts required to resolve both currently known and future

laims; {m) the amount of insurance, if any, available

ms, including the outcome of coverage litigation

ers; [iv) future edrnings

v) the impact of bankrupteies of

are of liability may be imposed orour

, sub&idmr ies under certain state liability laws; [vi] the unpredlctabf :
aspecis of the litigation process including a changing trial docket

and the jurisdictions in which trials are scheduled; {vii] the ﬁu?came o
of any such iriols i ncludmg ;udgments o jury verdicts, as a result of
- ,;?fcsng term liability. The material components of the accruals are: (i) the
~ gross number of open malignancy claims {principally mesothelioma
~ claims) as these claims have the most significant impact on our

~ ashesios sefilement costs; (ii} historical and current setflement costs and

our more aggressive defense posture, which includes mkmg sgiet:twe .
cases to verdict; (viii) the lack of specific information in many cases

_ goncerning exposure to products for which one of our subsidiaries.
s responsible and the claimants’ diseases; [ix) potential changes
 applicable federal and/or state law; and [x) the potenti pdct
of various proposed siruciured seftlement fransactio Qf’subsvd;csry
bankruptcies by other companies, some of which are the subject of
fedeml appeilaia cour% review, fha outmme QF whxﬂh cculd

o mathoda}agy used by C&W o pro;acr our hqbshfy for v
potential fumrewcxsbesfos e med c:imms mciuded C&
 andlysis of. (o] w )

During Fsenl 2006, we recorded

, Dunng the F’sc ye r@'d’d\

ple, the a e[vemge

: tht ’rwenty yem period.

: habdmes fcyr unasserted patenhai future clai

have been exposed o asbestos; (b] epidam;@§mg ol siudies estimating

he number of people likely ly to develop ashestosrelated diseases:

g historical rate af which mesothelioma incidences resulied in the

payment of claims by us; {d) historical settlement averages 1o value
the projected number of future compensable mesofhe:e ioma ckzem\;) ,
{e) historical ratio of mesothehomq«rélaf dinde
non-mesothelioma indemnity |

costs and the

the amaunt of $380.0 million, while paying out $59.9
for dismissals and/or setilements which resulted in our becrued -
liability balance moving from $101.2 million ot May 31, 2005 1o o

~ $421.3 million at May 31, 2006 This increase was based largely
~ upon C&W's analysis of our fotal estimated liability for Unasserteck
_ potentiahfuture-asbestos-related claims through May 31, 2016
~ This amount was also calculated on @ pre-%ox basis and was not
discounted for the time value of money. |
~ inherent in making longderm projections, we dstermiried at that fime =
i . that o ten-year period was the most reasonable time period over o
~ which reasonably dccurate estimates mi ight still be made for projecting

n light of the unceriointies =

asbestos liabilities and defense costs and, accordingly, our decrual
did not include asbestos i:abshtxes for cmy per!ad bﬁzyond ten years.

to manaqement by C&W some fwwnd one-half years ag@, wars
validated. At the core of our svaluation process, and the basis of
CE&W's getuarial work on behalf of Bondex, is the Nicholson Study

_ The Nicholson Study is the most widel v recognized reference in

_ bankruptey trust valuations, global settlement negofiations and the

~ Congressional Budget Offices’ work done on the proposed FAIR Act
_in 2006. Based on our ongoing comparison of the Nicholson Study
 projections and Bordex's specific actual experience, which of that
 time continued to bear an extremely close correlation to the studyls

/ //ffprmec:t ions, we decided to extend our asbestos liabil ity projection out
o the year 2028, C&W assisted us in calevlating on eshimale of our

ligbility for unasserted: pmenhol fu!uremasbasfas»re c:tad cia ims outio

Q \ 3
$288.1 million, Therefore, we added $288 1 million to our existing

~ asbestos liability, which brought our total asbestos-related balance

sheet liabilities ot May 31, 2008 to $559.7 million, Of that total,

- $65.0 million was estimated to be the shortterm liabil ity due in fiscal

2009, with the remalining $494.7 million balance reflected as o

smissal rates by various categories; [iiil analysis of the ;unsdtct ion

_and governing laws of the states in which thess claims are pending:
[iv) outside defense counsel’s opinions and recommendations with

respect fo the merifs of such claims; and fv] analysis of projected

than fhose rec:c:rded if assumphons used in our caleulations vary:

' segmﬁcanﬂy from actual results. Key variables in these assumptions

include the period of exposure fo asbesios \:fcnmsf the number
and type of new claims to be filed each year, the rate at which




masothialioma incidences result in compensable claims against s,
the average cost of disposing of each such new claim; the dismissol
rates each year and the related annual defense costs. Furthermore,
predictions with respect 1o these variables are subject fo greafer
uncertainty as the projection period lengthens. A significant upward

of downward trend in the number of claims filed, depending on the

nature of the alleged injury, the jurisdiction where filed, the average.
cost of resolving each such claim and the gquality of the product
identification, could change our estimated liability, as could any
substantial adverse verdict at frial. A fede i
further state tort reform of o structured-setilement fransaction could also
change the estimated liability. A

Subject to the foregoing variables, and based on currently available
data, we believe that our current asbestos liahility 1s sufficient fo cover
ashestosrelated expenses for our known pending and unasserted-
potentialfuture-asbestosrelated claims through 2028 However, glven
the Uncertainties associated with projecting matters info the fulure

and numerous other factors outside of our control, we believe that

it is reasonably possible we may incur additional material asbestos
liabilities in periods before 2028, Due fo the uncertainty inherent in
the process undertaken fo estimate our losses, we are unable af the
present time fo estimate an additional range of loss in excess of our
existing accruals. While it is reasonably possible that such excess
liabilities could be material to operating results in any given quarter or
year, we do not believe that it is rea y possible that such excess
ligbilies would have o materlal adverse effect on our long-term results
of aperations, liquidity or consolidated financial position. o

During fiscal 2004, certain of our subsidiaries’ third-party insurers
claimed exhaustion of covernge. On July 3, 2008, cerain of

out subsidiaries filed the case of Bondex Internafional, fnc. et dl.
v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company et al., Case No.
1:03:v:1322, in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio, for declaratory judgment, breach of confract and
bad faith against these third-party insurers, challenging theit assertion
that their policies covering ashestosrelated claims have been
exhausted. The coverage litigation involves, among other matters;
insurance coverage for claims arising out of alleged exposure to
ashestos containing products manufactured by the previous owner of
the Bondex tradename befors March 1, 1966, On March 1, 19686,
Republic Powdered Metals Inc. (as it was known then), purchased
the assets and assumed the liabiliies of the previous owner ofthe

Bondex tradename. That "p\revioi:’s"dwh‘éf&#ﬁbaéquently disié&}‘véd and o

. ﬁqprﬁq’t’”émly'khm\fn by the insurance in

foderal legislative solution,  Two of the defendant insurers have filed counferc

. mofions for summary judgment against plai

was never o subsidiary of Republic Powdered Metals, Bondex, RPM,
Inc. or the Company. Because of the earlier assumption of liahilities,
however, Bondex has historically responded, and must confinue fo
respond, to lawsuits alleging exposure to these ashestoscontaining
products. We discovered that the defendant insurance companies in

- the coverage litigation had wrongfully used cases alleging exposure o
 these pre-1966 products o erode their ag

ted to date, was in breach o 5

cond

recoup certain monies should the plaintiffs prevai

During the second fiscal quarter ended November 30, 2006,
plaintiffs and one of the defendant insurers reached a seftlement of

$15.0 million, the terms of which are confidential by agreement of
the parties. The;;;etﬂingd,efeﬂdam was dismissed from the case.

2007, piqinﬁf&:,ﬂ#d fﬁgé motions for partial summary iudgmem / .
against the defendants and defendants had filed motions for

summary judgment against plaintiffs. In addition, plaintiffs had filed
o motion to dismiss the counterclaim filed by one of the defendants,
On December 1, 2008, the court decided the pending mations for
summary judgment and dismissal, The court denied the plaintiffs’
motions for partial summary judgment and granted ihe defendants’

\ nst plaintiffs on o narrow ground.
) dismiss one defendant's

8 ju ﬁ:tﬁf\r:miings, the

it entered judgment as a matter of law on all remaining claims and
counterclaims, including the counterclaim filed by another defendant,
aid dismissed the action. The court alse dismissed certain remaining
motions as moot. Plaintiffs have filed a notice of appealto the United
States Sixth Cireuit Court of Appedls and will continue to aggressively
pursue their claims on appeal. At present, the appellate court has not
yet entered a scheduling order in connection with the oppeal.

The coutt also granted the plaintiffs’ m
amended counterclaim. In light of ifs s

We are uriable ot the present fime fo predict the fiming or ltimate.
outcome of this insurance coverage litigation or whether there will -
be any further setlements. Consequently, we are unable fo predict
whether or fo what extent, any addifiondl insurance may be available
o caver d portion of our subsidiaries’ ashesios liabilities. We have:
not included any potential benefits from fhis litigation in coleulating
our current asbestos liability. Our wholly-owned capfive insurance
companies have not provided any insurance or reinsurance coverage
for any of our subsidiaries’ asbestosrelated claims.

The following table illustrates the movement of current and iahg:té;’r'rﬁ' c{g’kﬁég?os’réiﬁé&' hbilities through May 31, 2009

Asbestos Liability Movement (Current and *i;&ng-Term)

Additions to .

‘ Ba§dr1:e at = Ba@qucé’:qt
{in thousands]  Beginning of Period Asbestos Charge  Deductions” End of Period
Year Ended May 31, 2009 $559,745 $69,417 $490,328
Year Ehdsd May 31,2008 . 354268 $288,100 82,623 559745
Year Ended May 31, 2007 421285 ' 67,017 354,268

* Deductions include payments for defenserelated ccss%%lfé({nd/%imburwks'pmi& fo seitle claims.

%

As of May 31, 2009, Dryvit, one of our wholly-owned subsididgries,

was a defendant or co-defendant in various single family residential -
exterior insulation and finish systems (‘EIFS”) cases, the majority of
which are pending in the southeastern region of the country. Dryvi
is also defending EIFS lawsuits involving commercial structures,

fownhouses and condominiums, The vast majority of Dryvit's EFS

lawsuits seek monetary relief for water infrusion related property
damages, although some claims in cerfain lawsuits allege personal
injuries from exposure fo mold. =

o
~ and cle / ssec
_ appeals. As of June 30, 2009, a fotal o

Dryvitis a defeﬁdéétiin & elass achion lawsylt filed on Ngszregf}bérz/}'d,
2000 in Jefferson County, Tennesses styled Bobhby R. Fosey, et of.

v, Dryvit Systems, Inc. Hformerly styled William J. Humphrey, etal.

“Posey’), which was

. 2005 The deadline
' 52004

deney of the various o

705 claims have been

paid for o total of approximately $14. 1 million. Although additional

payments have E;r{d,’wiﬂ continue 1o be mads under the terms of the

v. Dryvit Systems, Inc | (Case No. 17,715 V)

firally certified by court order on Sey ser |
ms in the Posey cla

ms have been processed during the p




setilement agreement, which include inspection costs, third party
warranfles and class counsel altorneys’ fees. we do ot expect thése
payments fo be material in future periods. '

Thirdparty excess insurers have historically paid varying shares of , '

Deyvit's defense and seifement eosts in the individual commereial

and residential EIFS lawsuits under various costsharing agreements.
Dryvit has ussumed o grevter share of the costs associated with its
EIFS litigation as it seeks funding commitments from our third party
excess insurers and will likely continue to do so pending the outcome
of coverage litigation involving these same third party insurers,
This coverage litigation, styled RPM, Inc., et ol v Chubb Custom
Insurance Company, et al, [Case No V05 578004, 1s pending in
the Cuyahoga County Court of Common Pleas. In accordance with

a Court order, the parties filed dispositive motions on certain of the
coverage issues. Oral argument on these motions was completed

on September 2, 2008. The parties currently awaif o ruling on their
respective summary judgment motions, after which they will participate
in a Courtordered and agreed mediation. Discovery is stayed in the
medntime. A frial date has not vet been scheduled. If mediation is not
successful, the parfies will resume discovery and a trial date will be
scheduled. As of May 31, 2009, the receivable bolance related fo
these insurance claims totaled approximately $26.0 million. -

We provide, through our whollyownad insarance subsidiaries cartain
insurance coverdge, primarily product liability, 16 our other subsidiaries.
Excess coverage is provided by third-parly insurers. Our reserves
provide for these potential losses as well as other uninsured claims.

. We dlso offer warranty programs of several of our industrial
businesses and have estoblished o product warranty liobility. We
review this liability for adequacy on a quarterly basis and adjust it
as necessary. The primary factors that could affect this liability may
include changes in the historical system performance rate as well as
the cosis of replacement. Provision for estimated warranty costs is
recorded at the time of sale and periodically adjusted, as required, to
reflect actual experience. It is probable that we will incur future losses
related to warranty claims we have received, but that have nof besn
fully investigated, and claims not yet received, which are not currently
estimable due to the significant number of voriables contributing fo
the extent of any necessary remediation. While our warranty ligbility
represents our best estimate af May 31, 2009, we can provide no
assurarices that we will not experience material claims in the future o
that we will not incur significant costs to defend or settle such claims
beyond the amounts accrued or beyond what we may recover from
gur suppliers,

The changes in our accrued warranty balances are included in the
following table:

Yeor Ended May 31 2009 2008 2007

{In thousands) ’

Bedinning Bofance $ 8055 $ 8676 § 8087

Deductions!l] {12,702 (2,275} {2,355)
Provision charged fo

- BGAA expense 23,640 1,208 2,044
Acquisitions o 446

Ending Balance

$18,993 § 8055 8676
a Primcyriiy claims paid during the year.
I addition, like ofher ccmpcﬁnies pcs:ﬁﬁipming}n similar fines of business,

some of our subsidiariss are involved in several proceedings relating fo
environmental matfers. It is our policy to accrue remediation costs when it

is probable that such efforts will be required and the related costs can be

reasonably estimated. These liabilities are undiscounted.

NOTYE J — SEGMENT INFORMATION

We operate o 'pqﬁfblfc: of businesses and product lines that
manufacture and sell a variety of specialty paints, protective ¢outings

~and roofing systems, sealants and adhesives. We manage our

portfolio by organizing our businesses and product lines into two
reportable segments: the consumer reportoble segment and the
industrial reaporiable seqment. Within edch reportable seament,
we aggragats three operafing segments that consist of individual
groups of companiss and product linss, which generally address
common markets, share similar sconomic characteristics, vtilize
similar fechnologies and can share manufacturing or distribution

capabilities. Our six operating segments reprasent components of Z
our business for which separate Fnancial information is available @
that is utilized on a regular basis by our chief executive officer in T
defermining how to dllocate the assets of the company and svaluate O
performance. These six operating segments are sach managed by %
~ 9n operaling segment manager, who is responsible for the daystoday = 2
operating decisions and performance evaluation of the operating &
segment’s underlying businesses. " &
Our industrial reportable segment products are sold throughout 3

North America and also account for the majority of our international
sales. Our industrial product lines are sold directly fo contractors,
distributors and endusers. such as industrial munufacturing focilities,
public insfitutions and ather commercial customers. This reportable
segment comprises three separate operating segmenis — our @
Tremco Group [now RPM Building Solutions Group), StonCor Group &
{now RPM Performance Coatings Groupl, and RPM Il/Industrial

Group. Products and services within this reportable segment include
construction chemicals, roofing systems, weatherproofing and other
ssalants, flooring, and specially chemicals.

Our eonsumer reportable segment manufactures and markels
professional use and derityourselt (“DIY”) products for & variely

of mainly consumer applications, including home improvement

and personal laisure delivities. Our consumer segment’s major
manufacturing and distribution operations are located primarily in
North America. Consumer segment products are sold throughout North
Ametica fdirecﬁy to mass merchandisers, home improvement cerlers,
hardware stores, paint siores, craft shops and to other smaller cusiomers
through distributors. This reportable segment comprises three operating
segments — our DAP Group, RustOleum/Zinsser Group, and REM 11/

Consumer Group. Products within this reportable segment include :

specialty, hobby and professiona paints; caulks; adhesives; silicone
sealonts; wood stains and specialy confectionary coatings ond films.

In addition 1o our two reportable segments, there is o category of
gertain business aetivities and expenses, rafe,rted to a5 corporate/

ofher, that does not constitute an operating segment, This cotegory

includes our corporate headquarters and related administrative
expenses, results of our captive insurarice companies, gains or
losses oni the sales of certain assets and other expenses not directly
associated with sither reporfable segment. Assets related to the
corporate/other category consist primarily of investments, prepaid
expenses, deferred pension assels; and headquarters’ praperty
and equipment. These corporots and other assets and experses
reconcile reportable ssgment data o total consolidated income lloss)
before income taxes, identifiable assets, capital expenditures, and
depreciation and amertization. o '

We reflect income from our joint ventures on the equity method, and
receive royalties from our licensees. Total income from royalties and
joint ventures amounted to approximately $3.1 million, $3.3 million
and $2.5 million for the years ended May 31, 2009 2008 and

2007, respectively, and are therefore included as an offset o sefling,

general and adminisiralive expenses.




The fol |owmg fable reflects the resuls of our repaﬁabié Qmﬁm‘r& consistent with our management phﬁasap hy, and represents the nf@rmfmisn we
(md other fi m:mczci p&rfermanm ct"fteﬂﬁ in evalucﬁ ing fhe perf&rmmnce of our parifﬂke

utilize, in conjunction with various sfmf&gacz caperaf‘ O
of busmesses

2009

2008 2007

Year endga@;mqy‘ai f
‘{ntbouschds)/ o
Segment Informat
',Nef Sales -
. Industrial - $2,265,957
“Consumer: 1,102,210
Total $3,368,167
Gross Profit ’ ,
industrial $ 942,820 $ 999 98
Ccmg:még “ 410,269 498 548
Tdfei - $1,353,089 $1 :198 37
Incame {!.055} Be&)r@ Income Tcx@a‘“ - : ,
indusfﬂaﬁ‘ ' $ 176,116 $ 259630 $ 333 E?é
Consumer o : ; 102,311 ' 155600 7
Corporate/Other - o o o (97,559 876,176}
Total ’ : $ 180,868 39,054
Identifiable Assets .
ndusfrml $1,778,526
{ 1,187,633
443,762
L $3,409,921
CopﬁaE Expenditures S i
Industrial % 33,310 & ar593 - %
Consumer 21,121 23,247
Ccrporcfefther 555 1070
Tcru! . S § 54,986 71,840
Deprec;cﬁcn cmd Amommhon ; o '
§n:§asﬂ'g§ $ 52,714 48,739
Ct)}‘xwmﬂe,/rw } 30,095 31,923
chrpérd{*g{{}ther 2,335 o 4,704 ;
Total $ 85144 $ 85,!._;536,.
Geogm{:’ﬁii Infor
Net Sales (based .
United State $2,161,494 :908, -
- Foreign L
Canada . . . 260,928 308,339 255246
Europe f . .. 734,853 775,651 596,613
 Other Foreign - 210,892 77448 145897
Tofal Fereign 1,206,673 1,259,434 997 7!
Total $3,368,167  $3,64379]
Longlived Assets? i '
Umféd States $1,171,288 51,206,399
 Foreign S .
~ Coanada 128,888 144027 132,052
Europe 424,119 501,828 385,066
Other Foreign 40,210 3564 31357
Total Foreign - 593,217 e

_ Total  $1,764,505
’reﬂaded in Cmrp

’(’2) Ine udes the imp
during the fiscal year ende

(3] Lcmg wed assets include oll noncirrent assels, excludmg' cmucurrem d@f@rra(ﬁ income faxes




'NOTE K — QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) ..
o c}pemﬁonsEor the years ended May 31, 2009 and 2008:

The following is @ summary of the quaﬁ&ff?ééu}

- - : For Quarter Ended ’
{In thousands, except per share amounts) / Aug;; 31 November"f}() ’ o Fébruq,ry 28 . May 31
2009
Net Sales $ 985,465 $ 889,945 $ 635,396 $ 857341
Gross Profit $ 403,589 $ 356,726 $ 234,658 $ 358,116
Net Income [Loss) $§ 69517 $ 41,726 $ (30,933) $ 39,3066
Basic Earnings {Loss) Per Share $ 0.56 $ 0.33 $ (0.24) $ 0.31
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ 054 $ 033 $0.24) $ 0.31
Dividends Per Share $ 0.19 $ 0.20 $ 0.20 $ 0.20
. - For Quarter Ended
{In !%usandé, except pér share oméénf&} - Augusff? 1 \Jovén‘ybezf 30 . Feb U@;‘y 29 : ,Mﬁ::y',m .
2008 , / . , ,
Nt Sales | | . so3as0 $ 905,708 $731773  $1,07597]
Gross Profit  $383002 $ 367,738 §291,245  § 455,652
Nt Income Loss| 3 ¢6B268  § 54855 $ 12150  § (87,564)
asic Earnings (Loss) Per Share % 057 8 048 $ 010 {0
nings (Loss) Per Share ' o8 053 $ 043 8

o8 078 $ 019

uarter ended May 31, 2008, we increased out liability for asbesfos-related
 tepiesenting our estimation of our liability for pending and unasserted clg

ayments, which

«c ;ny\erfib?e securifies for the three month period andé&,qu 3'4/ 200

’ réf%lpgjﬁgn of the carrying value of goodw,,ilyi 'dnd ,in'c%ﬁf
5.5 million and $0.12 per share, respectively, during the

Iy | ochfaHo the yearly earnings per share due mrh > wei

Quarterly Stock Price and Dividend Information

Shares of our common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol RPM. The high and low sales prices for the shares

of common stock, and the cash dividends paid on the common stock, for each quarter of the two most recent fiscal years are set forth ir the
table below.

Range of Sales Prices and Dividends Paid

Dividends paid Dividends paid
Fiscal 2009 High Low per share Fiscal 2008 High Low per shore
First Quarter $2519  $19.31 $ 0.190 First Quarter $: 2574 7% 2019 $0175
Second Quarter $2200 $1005 $ 0.200 Second Quarter $24.44 0 $17.25 $0.190
Third Quarter $1432  $1058 $ 0.200 Third Quarter $ 2250 $1877 $0.190
Fourth Quarter $1570  § 909 $ 0.200 Fourth Quarter $2474  $19.30 $-0.190

Sourcer New York Stock Exchange

Cash dividends are payable quarterly, upon authorization of the Board of Directors. Regular payment dates are approximately the last day of
July, October, January and April.

The number of holders of record of our common stock as of July 17, 2009 was approximately 29,794 in addition to 53,848 bensficial holders.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The managenment of RPM lnternétional lnc. is responsible for establishing dnd maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for
the Company, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, RPM's internal confrol system was designed
fo provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, infernal control over financiol reparting may not prevent or detect misstatements and even when determined
to be effective, can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may be inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of RPM's internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2009. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Controlntegrated
Framework. Based on this assessment; management concluded that, as of May 31, 2009, RPM's internal conirol aver financial reporting is effective.

The independent registered public accounting firm Ernst & Young LLP, has also audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of May 31, 2009 and their report thereon is included on page 62 of this report.

Frank C. Sullivan P. Kelly Tompkins
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President - Administration and Chief Financial Officer
July 24,2009

il e ong Subsicianes



Report of In dependent Registered Public Accou nting Firm

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS

y I
ot e, ool §

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries ("RPM” or “the Company”} as of
May 31, 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of income; stockholders’ equity and cash Hows for each of the three years
in the period ended May 31, 2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is fo

express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits:

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those

standards require that we plon and perform the audit fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement. An auditincludes examining, on o test basis; evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial stafements: An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as svaluating the overall financial
statement presenfation. We believe that our audits provide o reasonable busis for our opinion.

In-our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred fo above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of RPM ot May 31, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated results of its operations and ifs cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2009, in confarmity with U.S: generdlly. accepted: accounting principles.

As discussed in Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements, effective on May 31, 2007 and June 1, 2007, the Company adopted the
recognition and measurement date provisions, respectively, of SFAS No. 158, “Employers” Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Post Retirement Plans, an amendment to FAS 87, 88, 106 and 132(R).”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness
of RPM's internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Conirol- Infegrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated July 24, 2009 expressed an
unqualified opinion therean.

é/th

Cleveland, Ohio
July 24; 2009
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Report of Indep endent Registere d Public Accounting Firm

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS

PR Indernational e, and Subsidiovies
Meding; Ohic

We have audited RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries’ (“RPM* or “the Company"] intetnal control over financial reporting as of May 31,
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Controlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). RPM's management is responsible for maintaining effective infernal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of infernal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying, “Management’s Reporton
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting bused on our oudit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit fo obfain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control-over financial reporting

was maintained in all material respects, Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting; evaluating
management's assessment, festing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal contral, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion:

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is o process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliakility of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally aecepted accounting principles. A
company's infernal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
fhat transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted aecounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of mandgement and
directors of the company; and {3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial sfatements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also; projectionsof any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject fo the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, RPM maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2009, based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States), the consolidated
balance sheet of RPM s of May 31, 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidafed statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2009 and our report dated July 24, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Sanet +

Cleveland, Ohio

July 24, 2009




Stockholder Info rmation

RPM International Inc,

2628 Pearl Road

PO Box ?’77, o

Meding, OH 44258 o

Telephone: 330-273.5090 or 8007764488

Fox 3302256743 ,

Web site: www rpmine com

Emal: info@rpminc.com

Stockholders are invited to attend RPM's Annual Mesting, which wil
be held at the Holiday Inn Select, 15471 Royalton Rood. Strongsville,
Ohio, at 2 p.m. Thursday, October 8, 2009, Directions can be found
onthe REM wab sitle. .

Cand O i o 5

Faorm

Investors may obtain, ot no charge, o copy of the RPM Annual Report

fo the Securities ond Exchange Commission on Form 10K, @ corporate
video and oihier investor information by writing to Kathie M. Rogers,

Manager of lnvestor Relations, at RPM Internasional Inc.

Farm 10K, other public fnancial reparis,'t:md néwa raiéas’és moy also

be obiained electronically through our web site, Www.rpminc.com,

- undler Yinvestor Information ©

Bmnun Lo £ : ' -
RPM has filed the certifications required by Section 302 of the
SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 os Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to the 10 for
the fiscal year ended May 31, 2009, In oddition, on November 10,

2008, RPM filed the Chief Exscutive Officer cettification with the

Mew York Stock Exchange (NYSE], pursuant fo the NYSE Listed
Company Manual 303A.12, certifying that the Chief Executive Officer
is ot aware of any viclation by the company of NYSE corporale

“governance lisling standards.

emoroie Dovern

Copies of the RPM Bosrd of Direclors Corgaaraté" Governtnce

 Guidelines. as well s ?he',Chartegs of the committess of the Board
and RPM's Code of Conduct, are available on the company’s web

sife aof www rpmine com, Under nvestor 'infdrmcxtion/(lorpordm
A

Governance. ' | :
charge, upon wiltlen request 1o the Secretory of REM

Slebione la B S

o,

Sex:;u'ri"fy analysts and investment professionals with quasiiéhs regarding
REM should contact P Kelly Tompkins, Exscutive Vice President -
Administration and Chief Financial Officer, ot 330.273.5000,

Common  stock cash’ dividehéﬁs dre. pqyabié qudrfér#y, up’cm'

authorization of the Board of Direciors. Regular payment dates are

typically the 31st of July, October and January and the 301 of April,

RPM has increased the cash dividend payments fo ifs stockholders for
- 35 consecuiive years. o o o

National City Bank me
.~ tesponsible for disbursing dividend checks. Questions concerning your

contact Neational

Copies of thess materials ore also available, without

mainiaing REMs stockholder records and s

account, change of address, transfer of ownership, lost cerfificates
safekeeping of stock certificates, dividend payments and other related
items should be directed to: ' '
National City Bank, now @ part of PNC

Shareholder Services Operations

Department 5352 '

P.O. Box 92301 .

Cleveland, O 441014301

 Telephone: 800.988-5238 or 8006226757

Fax: 216257.8508 :
Email: shareholder.inquiries@nationaleity. com
www.NationalCity com/ShareholderServices

Stockholders of record may have their dividends deposited directly &

intotheir checking or savings account through the Direct Deposit 3

Program ot no charge For information regarding fhis service, please =
' City Bank at the address shown gbove. '

Stockholders of record may access their tocounts vig the Infernet o

review account holdings and fransaction Ristory through Mational
City Bank's StackActess™ qf www nestockaccess com. For login

~ ossistance, stockholders should confact Mational City Bank
8006226757 or 8009885238 - o

.

~ RPMinnfc:«ins a Dividend Reinvestment Pléh whereby 'cqshdividénds,

and up fo an additional $5,000 per month, may be invested in RPM
shares af no commission cost. You must be a stockholder of record

and own ot least one share of REM common stock to enroll in the Plan.

Approximately 87 percent of the stockholders of recerd participate in
the RPM Dividend Reinvesiment Plan, Details of the Plan are available
by contacting RPM, Shareholder Services, ot 8007764488
Questions concerning existing Dividend Reinvestment accounts should

be directed fo. :

National City anyk”,, How é patt of PNC
sharehelder Services Operations

Department 5352
PO Box 94946 :
_ Clevelond, OH 441014946 -
Telephone: 800.988.5238 or 800-620.6757
- Fax 23,6»257«836? . - -
Email: shareholder. inquiries@nationalcity.com

 Ernst & Young LIP, Cleveland. Ohio

Caifée, Hc:;!te;j&Gﬁsx&éid”ﬂ?};Cle»'«efund,;'{I}fwyié o

i

RPA }nig;rfc;ﬁono | stod.
Exchange (ficker symbol “RPM!)..

l'iinc, is listed on ,the"":!\lew York Stock




'&ubqsdmnob and Plant LO( ations

lNDBﬁTRlAL SEGMENT

A/D Fire Protechion Systems Inc.
Searboreugh, Qdlaiio, Canada
wew adlite com

/:Agpm (N,Z.} Limited
© Aucklond, Mew Zedland
WWWLOgDIo Co Nz

Alteco Technik GrnbH
Twistiingen, Germany
wwwpebelgium be
Carboline Company

St touts, Missour

Wi catholing com
Carboline ltalic S.p.A
Milan, faly

Chemical Specialfies Mlg. Corp.
Baltimore: Maryland
iy chemspecworld com

_ Compact Techriology GmbH
Traunteut, Germany
wwiv compoctisch com

Dane Color UK Limited
Stalybridge, United Kingdom
wiw danetolor.com

Day-Gle Color Corp,
Cleveland. Ohio
wvwv\doyglc,wm

Dryvit Systems, Inc:

- Wast Wanwick: Rlode Jsland
oL it com

“Eealos NV

~Brecht Belgium:

- wiwleckiile com

Euclid Admixturs Canada Ine.
Montreal, Quebee, Conada
v suclidehemical com

The Euclid Chemical Company
Cleveland, Ohio
WikAR Bl hdchem col corn

Eucomex S8 de CV,

Mexico C ity Mexico

WA BUCOMEX COM

Fibergrate Composite -

Structures Incorporated
Dollas Tewas

v fibergrate.com

Flowcrete Group Limited

Sendbach, United Kingdom
~wwwiflolerete com

Increte Systems

Div. of The Euclid Chemical Company

Odessey Horida

WhNINCTBE com

Argenting Ciermany
Belgiom : Indier -
Conada iy
Chile NMatloysia
Ching : Mexico
Colombia The Methetlands
The Créch Republic New Zedland
Freince Nonway.

Aumsnohon’“) Lmbome‘“ Bay

ENSWEL

“Kop-Coat, Inc.

Piishurgh. Pennsylvania
Wivw kopreoat.com
Mullifire Limited
Covenry United Kingdom
Hiecom

Paramount Technical Products Ine;
Spearish, South Dakola

Wi tremoosaalants com
Producios Cave SA.
Sanflage, Chile

winws productoscave com
Radiant Color NV

Houthalen Belgium.
wwwiradianicolorbe
Republic Powdered Metals, Inc.
Medine: Ohio
www,rpmreapub i com
RPM/Belgium NV

Tielr Belgiom

Swwwaprrbelgium. be

Star Maling og Lakkiabrikk AS

et Nonway

WwWwLstaE R

“Slonhard

Div. ot StonCor Gioup, Ine.
Maple Shade, New Jersey
s storhiand com’

TCHRe:
Ellaville, Gaorgio
wivw teipovidier com

- Toxement S A

Bogota. Colombia
wawioRement com

Tremico Barier Solutions; Ine:
Reynoldsburg, Ohio
W e ol FQIQO[U? ions com:

T:emm ilbruck International GmbH
M,Qt()gr‘a U(“'MG”}y,
wawwilbrick de

Tremco Incorporated

Bevichwood Ohip'
WAL TIEMCOInE om

Vanidex International AG
Solothum, Switzerland
WA VANEEX Com

Weatherproofing Technologies, Inc. ,
Beachwood Ohio

W remcoreating.corm

Poland
South Alrica

Swedlen .
United Arab Emirales
United Kingdom
United Sfotes

KopCoal® Culsulaion® Sion
“haderarks ofihe subsidiary corporations of RP'\/\

v*er.mhoz i

Epoplex™ Busilation 20007 EloilastT™ Elswifast Terdssso™. Lw‘ G dsowarm ™

Kerrrock™ P cnd Stonrez RTZM ar radsmatks of he subsid
 RPM International e

Gy corporations ok

CONSUMER SEGMENT

Chamica Coutings, Inc:
Hickory, MNorth Caroling

DAP Canoda

Div. o RPM Calnada
Scarberough. Ontare, Candda
Wb com

DAP Products Inc.
Baliimore. Manvland
s dap com

Guardian Profection Praducts; ne.
Hickory, Morth Cardling

v guardianproducts et
Mantrose-Hosuser Co. lng.
Waestport Connacticut
wiewmbzgroupicom

Martin Mathys NV
Zelem, Belgium
W T som

Modsrn Masters Inc.
Sun Valley, California
v modermmaslersing com

New Parks

v of RustOleum Cazmmnon
Sam@rset, Mew Jersey
wWww hewparks.com

RPM Wood Finishes Group, In

Hickory Noith (,Czrc; ina

v mohawkdinishing .com

wwiw hbehlen com

www startinishing com

Rushk-Olsum Argentina 5.4

Buerios Aires, Argenting
wwiwitusioleum comZntemational nip
RustOleum Consumer Brands Canoda
Div. of REWV  Canada

Torento, Ontardo, Candda

Belgium
Canoda

The bletherlands
United Kingdom
United Slates

DAP® Modam Maste

Zinssei®dre ,\'.;Lr)qeii trademiaks of the subsi

RustOleum®; ShimmierSio
diary comarations of REM Infarnafionaline:

RuskOleum Corporation
Vemorn Hills Mo
G ot olaum com

Rust-Oleum Japan Corporation
Yokohama, Joan

WIS 0P

RustOleum Netherlands BV,
Rotsendlanl eatherlands
AR, fERT CoT

The Testor Corporation
Reickiord Mlinois
Wswitestons com

Tor Coatings Limited

Bitley, United Kingdom

Wi forcoafings com
Waiteo UK Limited
Godalming, Uniled Kingdom
W WO a0k

Westield Coafings Carpordtion
Waesilield Massachusets

Wolman Wood Care Products
Div. of RustOlsum Corporation
Somerset, MNew Jeisey

wway wolmon com

Zinsser ;
D ol RustOleum Cormporation
Somersel, MNew Jersey
WWWLZINSsercom

: Clnversal®, \/alm‘mue dnd

DAR O™, Swian Prre ™, Tor™ aid WetsiTiie ™ e hidemanks obihe subsidiany

comporations of REN Interationad Ine:




Board of Directors

Gen. John P, Abizaid (Retired) (3)
Appointed 2008; senior pariner i
UC {a Nevadarbased strategic and analytic
(.():‘»suitmg tirm) and a retired foursiar General

inthe U.S. Army and for
the U.S. Central Co

mer commander of
mmand

James A, Karman (2
Elected 1963; retired Vice Chairman,
RPM Infernational Inc.

Williom A. Papenbrack [2)

Elected 1972; refired Pariner and past

Vice Chaumm of the Executive Commit
lfee, Haller & Griswold 1P C

nxEl I
3T 4)

i

Cleveland,

o {attor i law)

Thomas €. Sullivan (1)
Elected 1963; Chairman Fmeri't
and retired Chief Executive Officer,
RPM Infernational Inc.

Joseph P. Viviano (4%

Elected 2001 retired Vice Chairman,
Hershey Foods Corporation,

Hershey, Pennsylvania

Bruce A, Carbonari (4)
Flected 2002: Chairman
\)Hme;, Fortune B:’ondg, Inc.
fe! ?;sadif’»g consumer £

Donald K. Miller {2)
Elected 1972;

investors LLC (vmm/wc% ,

Kﬂmnef equity asset management firm)

Charles A, Ratner |
Flected 2005 Pre

E

Executive Offic
Cleveland, Ohio la diversifie
development

,WpO”J ?C‘t’t]

William B, Summers, Jr. (1],

od 2004 refired

Cleveland, Ohio,
AMorr

and Chiel Executive
. Deerfield, Hinois
rands company)

N, Axior
Connecticut {an

Chairman and Chief
shive Officer, McDonald Investments Inc.
now part of KeyBanc

David A. Daberko (3]

,L,(l\/ﬁ\ Offic

ation, C

Elect f>G /OO/ refired bhirmm’a and
National City
weland, Ohio, 1

now part

_ Financial Services Group, Inc.

((1 financial holding company)

Fredrick R. Nance (4]
v Infernational
winer; Scuit

- ;\/@[QH/

()KHO {”

Frank €. Sullivan |17}

E ﬁ(‘t@’% 2007; Regional Managing
Smwderx & Dempsey L.LP,
oreys at law]

Flected 1995: Chairman and Chief

orises, Inc,  Executive C

G eslate

{2%) Dr. Jerry Sue Thornton (1)

Capital Markets Inc. {an investment bankis ng

and securities firm)

cer, RPM International tnc.

(3), (4%

Elected 19099; President of C uyuhmqo
Community College, Cleveland, Ohio

,()lh{ er

Frank C. Sullivan
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Poul G. P. Hoogenboom
Senior Vice President -
Manufacturing and Operations
and Chief Information Officer

Russell L. Gordon
Vice President -
Corporate Planning

Randell McShepcjr'.d‘v
Vice President -
Public Affairs

Barry M, Slifstein
Vice President
and Contraller

Ronald A. Rice
President and
Chief Operating Officer

Stephen J. Knoop
Senior Vice President -
Corporate Development

Janeen B. Kastner
Vice President - Corporate
Benefits and Risk Management

Edward W. Moore
Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

Keith R. Smiley
Vice President
and Treasurer

P. Kelly Tompkins
Executive Vice Pr
Administration and
Chief Financial

sident -

Officer

Lonny R. DiRusso
Vice President -
Information Technology

John F. Kramer
Vice President -
 Corporate Development

Matthew 1. Ratajczak
Vice President -
Global Taxes

Themas €. Sullivan, Jr,
Vice President -
Corporate Developm




U.S. huildings consume

S$400 billion

per year in energy.

A reduction of un to 40
is possible with building

sl s el s e

RPM, through its family of companies,
is an integrated source for products,
ign, installation, comprthemtv-
preventative mai
\ the building envelope of
Cool Roof ‘ structures. This inc ludes the roof, wall
Systems Renewable Energy - windows fo mddtion and transitions
Systems = ~ between these components where air
_and mioistute can pa .

Systems for the Control
of Interior Air Movement \

Vegetated Roofin 9 An xmpraved bmldm/ m*dope can
Systems

\

many t;mes over (at curr ,m cosrs) Pluq,' ,
investment m a pl()gram to renovate

These benefits are parcicularly
powerful for orgammt 10n$ seckmg 0

. envuonmentai unpact

then buil dmgs

Glazing and
Transition Systems

Insulated Exterior
Claddings

Weterproofing and
Drainage Systems

Sealant Systems
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